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PART –III
AS 1 : Disclosure of Accounting Policies ∗
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of the Preface to the Statements of
Accounting Standards 1and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’.]

Introduction
1. This Standard deals with the disclosure of significant accounting policies followed in
preparing and presenting financial statements.
2. The view presented in the financial statements of an enterprise of its state of affairs
and of the profit or loss can be significantly affected by the accounting policies followed
in the preparation and presentation of the financial statements. The accounting policies
followed vary from enterprise to enterprise. Disclosure of significant accounting policies
followed, is necessary if the view presented is to be properly appreciated.
3. The disclosure of some of the accounting policies followed in the preparation and
presentation of the financial statements is required by law in some cases.
4. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has, in Standards issued by it,
recommended the disclosure of certain accounting policies, e.g., translation policies in
respect of foreign currency items.
5. In recent years, a few enterprises in India have adopted the practice of including in
their annual reports to shareholders a separate statement of accounting policies followed
in preparing and presenting the financial statements.
6. In general, however, accounting policies are not at present regularly and fully
disclosed in all financial statements. Many enterprises include in the Notes on the
Accounts, descriptions of some of the significant accounting policies. But the nature and
degree of disclosure vary considerably between the corporate and the non-corporate
sectors and between units in the same sector.
7. Even among the few enterprises that presently include in their annual reports a
separate statement of accounting policies, considerable variation exists. The statement of
accounting policies forms part of accounts in some cases while in others it is given as
supplementary information.
8. The purpose of this Standard is to promote better understanding of financial
statements by establishing through an accounting standard the disclosure of significant
accounting policies and the manner in which accounting policies are disclosed in the
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Attentionisspecificallydrawntoparagraph4.3ofthePreface,accordingtowhich AccountingStandardsare
intendedto applyonlyto itemswhichare material.
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financial statements. Such disclosure would also facilitate a more meaningful comparison
between financial statements of different enterprises.

Explanation
Fundamental Accounting Assumptions
9. Certain fundamental accounting assumptions underlie the preparation and
presentation of financial statements. They are usually not specifically stated because their
acceptance and use are assumed. Disclosure is necessary if they are not followed.
10. The following have been generally accepted as fundamental accounting assumptions:
a.

Going Concern
The enterprise is normally viewed as a going concern, that is, as continuing in
operation for the foreseeable future. It is assumed that the enterprise has
neither the intention nor the necessity of liquidation or of curtailing materially
the scale of the operations.

b.

Consistency

It is assumed that accounting policies are consistent from one period to
another.
c.

Accrual
Revenues and costs are accrued, that is, recognised as they are earned or
incurred (and not as money is received or paid) and recorded in the financial
statements of the periods to which they relate. (The considerations affecting the
process of matching costs with revenues under the accrual assumption are not
dealt with in this standard.)

Nature of Accounting Policies
11. The accounting policies refer to the specific accounting principles and the methods
of applying those principles adopted by the enterprise in the preparation and
presentation of financial statements.
12. There is no single list of accounting policies which are applicable to all
circumstances. The differing circumstances in which enterprises operate in a situation of
diverse and complex economic activity make alternative accounting principles and
methods of applying those principles acceptable. The choice of the appropriate
accounting principles and the methods of applying those principles in the specific
circumstances of each enterprise calls for considerable judgement by the management of
the enterprise.
13. The various standards of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India combined
with the efforts of government and other regulatory agencies and progressive
managements have reduced in recent years the number of acceptable alternatives
particularly in the case of corporate enterprises. While continuing efforts in this regard in
future are likely to reduce the number still further, the availability of alternative
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accounting principles and methods of applying those principles is not likely to be
eliminated altogether in view of the differing circumstances faced by the enterprises.

Areas in which Differing Accounting Policies are Encountered
14. The following are examples of the areas in which different accounting policies may
be adopted by different enterprises.
(a)

Methods of depreciation, depletion and amortisation

(b) Treatment of expenditure during construction
(c)

Conversion or translation of foreign currency items

(d) Valuation of inventories
(e)

Treatment of goodwill

(f)

Valuation of investments

(g) Treatment of retirement benefits
(h) Recognition of profit on long-term contracts
(i)

Valuation of fixed assets

(j)

Treatment of contingent liabilities.

15. The above list of examples is not intended to be exhaustive.

Considerations in the Selection of Accounting Policies
16. The primary consideration in the selection of accounting policies by an enterprise is
that the financial statements prepared and presented on the basis of such accounting
policies should represent a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the enterprise as at
the balance sheet date and of the profit or loss for the period ended on that date.
17. For this purpose, the major considerations governing the selection and application of
accounting policies are:
a.

Prudence
In view of the uncertainty attached to future events, profits are not anticipated
but recognised only when realised though not necessarily in cash. Provision is
made for all known liabilities and losses even though the amount cannot be
determined with certainty and represents only a best estimate in the light of
available information.

b.

Substance over Form
The accounting treatment and presentation in financial statements of
transactions and events should be governed by their substance and not merely
by the legal form.
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Materiality
Financial statements should disclose all “material” items, i.e. items the
knowledge of which might influence the decisions of the user of the financial
statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
18. To ensure proper understanding of financial statements, it is necessary that all
significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation and presentation of financial
statements should be disclosed.
19. Such disclosure should form part of the financial statements.
20 It would be helpful to the reader of financial statements if they are all disclosed as
such in one place instead of being scattered over several statements, schedules and
notes.
21. Examples of matters in respect of which disclosure of accounting policies adopted
will be required are contained in paragraph 14. This list of examples is not, however,
intended to be exhaustive.
22. Any change in an accounting policy which has a material effect should be disclosed.
The amount by which any item in the financial statements is affected by such change
should also be disclosed to the extent ascertainable. Where such amount is not
ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact should be indicated. If a change is made in the
accounting policies which has no material effect on the financial statements for the
current period but which is reasonably expected to have a material effect in later periods,
the fact of such change should be appropriately disclosed in the period in which the
change is adopted.
23. Disclosure of accounting policies or of changes therein cannot remedy a wrong or
inappropriate treatment of the item in the accounts.

Main Principles
24. All significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation and presentation
of financial statements should be disclosed.
25. The disclosure of the significant accounting policies as such should form part of
the financial statements and the significant accounting policies should normally be
disclosed in one place.
26. Any change in the accounting policies which has a material effect in the current
period or which is reasonably expected to have a material effect in later periods
should be disclosed. In the case of a change in accounting policies which has a
material effect in the current period, the amount by which any item in the financial
statements is affected by such change should also be disclosed to the extent
ascertainable. Where such amount is not ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact
should be indicated.
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27. If the fundamental accounting assumptions, viz. Going Concern, Consistency
and Accrual are followed in financial statements, specific disclosure is not required.
If a fundamental accounting assumption is not followed, the fact should be
disclosed.

AS 2 : Valuation of Inventories∗
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to the
Statements of Accounting Standards 1and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Various Entities’.]

Objective
A primary issue in accounting for inventories is the determination of the value at which
inventories are carried in the financial statements until the related revenues are
recognised. This Standard deals with the determination of such value, including the
ascertainment of cost of inventories and any write-down thereof to net realisable value.

Scope
1.

This Standard should be applied in accounting for inventories other than:
(a) work in progress arising under construction contracts, including directly
related service contracts (see Accounting Standard (AS) 7, Construction
Contracts);
(b) work in progress arising in the ordinary course of business of service
providers;
(c) shares, debentures and other financial instruments held as stock-in-trade;
and
(d) producers’ inventories of livestock, agricultural and forest products, and
mineral oils, ores and gases to the extent that they are measured at net
realisable value in accordance with well established practices in those
industries.

2. The inventories referred to in paragraph 1 (d) are measured at net realisable value at
certain stages of production. This occurs, for example, when agricultural crops have been
harvested or mineral oils, ores and gases have been extracted and sale is assured under a
forward contract or a government guarantee, or when a homogenous market exists and
there is a negligible risk of failure to sell. These inventories are excluded from the scope
of this Standard.
.Revised in 1999.

∗

1

Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting

Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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Definitions
3.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

3.1. Inventories are assets:
(a) held for sale in the ordinary course of business;
(b) in the process of production for such sale; or
(c) in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production
process or in the rendering of services.
3.2. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.
4. Inventories encompass goods purchased and held for resale, for example,
merchandise purchased by a retailer and held for resale, computer software held for
resale, or land and other property held for resale. Inventories also encompass finished
goods produced, or work in progress being produced, by the enterprise and include
materials, maintenance supplies, consumables and loose tools awaiting use in the
production process. Inventories do not include spare parts, servicing equipment and
standby equipment which meet the definition of property, plant and equipment as per AS
10, Property, Plant and Equipment. Such items are accounted for in accordance with
Accounting Standard (AS) 10, Property, Plant and Equipment.

Measurement of Inventories
5.

Inventories should be valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost of Inventories
6. The cost of inventories should comprise all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.
Costs of Purchase
7. The costs of purchase consist of the purchase price including duties and taxes (other
than those subsequently recoverable by the enterprise from the taxing authorities),
freight inwards and other expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition. Trade
discounts, rebates, duty drawbacks and other similar items are deducted in determining
the costs of purchase.
Costs of Conversion
8. The costs of conversion of inventories include costs directly related to the units of
production, such as direct labour. They also include a systematic allocation of fixed and
variable production overheads that are incurred in converting materials into finished
goods. Fixed production overheads are those indirect costs of production that remain
relatively constant regardless of the volume of production, such as depreciation and
maintenance of factory buildings and the cost of factory management and administration.
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Variable production overheads are those indirect costs of production that vary directly, or
nearly directly, with the volume of production, such as indirect materials and indirect
labour.
9. The allocation of fixed production overheads for the purpose of their inclusion in the
costs of conversion is based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. Normal
capacity is the production expected to be achieved on an average over a number of
periods or seasons under normal circumstances, taking into account the loss of capacity
resulting from planned maintenance. The actual level of production may be used if it
approximates normal capacity. The amount of fixed production overheads allocated to
each unit of production is not increased as a consequence of low production or idle plant.
Unallocated overheads are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred. In periods of abnormally high production, the amount of fixed production
overheads allocated to each unit of production is decreased so that inventories are not
measured above cost. Variable production overheads are assigned to each unit of
production on the basis of the actual use of the production facilities.
10. A production process may result in more than one product being produced
simultaneously. This is the case, for example, when joint products are produced or when
there is a main product and a by-product. When the costs of conversion of each product
are not separately identifiable, they are allocated between the products on a rational and
consistent basis. The allocation may be based, for example, on the relative sales value of
each product either at the stage in the production process when the products become
separately identifiable, or at the completion of production. Most by-products as well as
scrap or waste materials, by their nature, are immaterial. When this is the case, they are
often measured at net realisable value and this value is deducted from the cost of the
main product. As a result, the carrying amount of the main product is not materially
different from its cost.
Other Costs
11. Other costs are included in the cost of inventories only to the extent that they are
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. For example,
it may be appropriate to include overheads other than production overheads or the costs
of designing products for specific customers in the cost of inventories.
12. Interest and other borrowing costs are usually considered as not relating to bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition and are, therefore, usually not
included in the cost of inventories.
Exclusions from the Cost of Inventories
13. In determining the cost of inventories in accordance with paragraph 6, it is
appropriate to exclude certain costs and recognise them as expenses in the period in
which they are incurred. Examples of such costs are:
(a)

abnormal amounts of wasted materials, labour, or other production costs;

(b) storage costs, unless those cost are necessary in the production process prior to
a further production stage;
© The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
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administrative overheads that do not contribute to bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition; and

(d) selling and distribution costs.

Cost Formulas
14. The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and
goods or services produced and segregated for specific projects should be assigned
by specific identification of their individual costs.
15. Specific identification of cost means that specific costs are attributed to identified
items of inventory. This is an appropriate treatment for items that are segregated for a
specific project, regardless of whether they have been purchased or produced. However,
when there are large numbers of items of inventory which are ordinarily interchangeable,
specific identification of costs is inappropriate since, in such circumstances, an enterprise
could obtain predetermined effects on the net profit or loss for the period by selecting a
particular method of ascertaining the items that remain in inventories.
16. The cost of inventories, other than those dealt with in paragraph 14, should be
assigned by using the first-in, first-out (FIFO), or weighted average cost formula.
The formula used should reflect the fairest possible approximation to the cost
incurred in bringing the items of inventory to their present location and condition.
17. A variety of cost formulas is used to determine the cost of inventories other than
those for which specific identification of individual costs is appropriate. The formula used
in determining the cost of an item of inventory needs to be selected with a view to
providing the fairest possible approximation to the cost incurred in bringing the item to
its present location and condition. The FIFO formula assumes that the items of inventory
which were purchased or produced first are consumed or sold first, and consequently the
items remaining in inventory at the end of the period are those most recently purchased
or produced. Under the weighted average cost formula, the cost of each item is
determined from the weighted average of the cost of similar items at the beginning of a
period and the cost of similar items purchased or produced during the period. The
average may be calculated on a periodic basis, or as each additional shipment is received,
depending upon the circumstances of the enterprise.

Techniques for the Measurement of Cost
18. Techniques for the measurement of the cost of inventories, such as the standard cost
method or the retail method, may be used for convenience if the results approximate the
actual cost. Standard costs take into account normal levels of consumption of materials and
supplies, labour, efficiency and capacity utilisation. They are regularly reviewed and, if
necessary, revised in the light of current conditions.
19. The retail method is often used in the retail trade for measuring inventories of large
numbers of rapidly changing items that have similar margins and for which it is
impracticable to use other costing methods. The cost of the inventory is determined by
reducing from the sales value of the inventory the appropriate percentage gross margin.
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The percentage used takes into consideration inventory which has been marked down to
below its original selling price. An average percentage for each retail department is often
used.

Net Realisable Value
20. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable if those inventories are damaged, if
they have become wholly or partially obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined. The
cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if the estimated costs of completion or
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale have increased. The practice of writing
down inventories below cost to net realisable value is consistent with the view that assets
should not be carried in excess of amounts expected to be realised from their sale or use.
21. Inventories are usually written down to net realisable value on an item- by-item
basis. In some circumstances, however, it may be appropriate to group similar or related
items. This may be the case with items of inventory relating to the same product line that
have similar purposes or end uses and are produced and marketed in the same
geographical area and cannot be practicably evaluated separately from other items in
that product line. It is not appropriate to write down inventories based on a classification
of inventory, for example, finished goods, or all the inventories in a particular business
segment.
22. Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at
the time the estimates are made as to the amount the inventories are expected to realise.
These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost directly relating to
events occurring after the balance sheet date to the extent that such events confirm the
conditions existing at the balance sheet date.
23. Estimates of net realisable value also take into consideration the purpose for which
the inventory is held. For example, the net realisable value of the quantity of inventory
held to satisfy firm sales or service contracts is based on the contract price. If the sales
contracts are for less than the inventory quantities held, the net realisable value of the
excess inventory is based on general selling prices. Contingent losses on firm sales
contracts in excess of inventory quantities held and contingent losses on firm purchase
contracts are dealt with in accordance with the principles enunciated in Accounting
Standard (AS) 4, Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date.
24. Materials and other supplies held for use in the production of inventories are not
written down below cost if the finished products in which they will be incorporated are
expected to be sold at or above cost. However, when there has been a decline in the price
of materials and it is estimated that the cost of the finished products will exceed net
realisable value, the materials are written down to net realisable value. In such
circumstances, the replacement cost of the materials may be the best available measure
of their net realisable value.
25. An assessment is made of net realisable value as at each balance sheet date.
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Disclosure
26. The financial statements should disclose:
(a) the accounting policies adopted in measuring inventories, including the
cost formula used; and
(b) the total carrying amount of inventories and its classification appropriate
to the enterprise.
27. Information about the carrying amounts held in different classifications of inventories
and the extent of the changes in these assets is useful to financial statement users. Common
classifications of inventories are:
(a)

Raw materials and components

(b) Work-in-progress
(c)

Finished goods

(d) Stock-in-trade (in respect of goods acquired for trading)
(e)

Stores and spares

(f)

Loose tools

(g) Others (specify nature)”.

AS 3 : Cash Flow Statements ∗
Cash Flow Statements
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to the
Statements of Accounting Standards 1and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Various Entities’.]
This Accounting Standard is not mandatory for Small and Medium Sized Companies and
non-corporate entities falling in Level II and Level III as defined in ‘Applicability of
Accounting Standards to Various Entities.’ Such entities are however encouraged to
comply with this standard.

Objective
Information about the cash flows of an enterprise is useful in providing users of financial
statements with a basis to assess the ability of the enterprise to generate cash and cash
equivalents and the needs of the enterprise to utilise those cash flows. The economic

∗Revised

in 1997

1Attention

is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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decisions that are taken by users require an evaluation of the ability of an enterprise to
generate cash and cash equivalents and the timing and certainty of their generation.
The Standard deals with the provision of information about the historical changes in cash
and cash equivalents of an enterprise by means of a cash flow statement which classifies
cash flows during the period from operating, investing and financing activities.

Scope
1. An enterprise should prepare a cash flow statement and should present it for
each period for which financial statements are presented.
2. Users of an enterprise’s financial statements are interested in how the enterprise
generates and uses cash and cash equivalents. This is the case regardless of the nature of
the enterprise’s activities and irrespective of whether cash can be viewed as the product
of the enterprise, as may be the case with a financial enterprise. Enterprises need cash for
essentially the same reasons, however different their principal revenue-producing
activities might be. They need cash to conduct their operations, to pay their obligations,
and to provide returns to their investors.

Benefits of Cash Flow Information
3. A cash flow statement, when used in conjunction with the other financial statements,
provides information that enables users to evaluate the changes in net assets of an
enterprise, its financial structure (including its liquidity and solvency) and its ability to
affect the amounts and timing of cash flows in order to adapt to changing circumstances
and opportunities. Cash flow information is useful in assessing the ability of the
enterprise to generate cash and cash equivalents and enables users to develop models to
assess and compare the present value of the future cash flows of different enterprises. It
also enhances the comparability of the reporting of operating performance by different
enterprises because it eliminates the effects of using different accounting treatments for
the same transactions and events.
4. Historical cash flow information is often used as an indicator of the amount, timing
and certainty of future cash flows. It is also useful in checking the accuracy of past
assessments of future cash flows and in examining the relationship between profitability
and net cash flow and the impact of changing prices.

Definitions
5.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

5.1. Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits with banks
5.2 Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.
5.3. Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.
5.4. Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing activities of the
enterprise and other activities that are not investing or financing activities.
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5.5. Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and
other investments not included in cash equivalents.
5.6. Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and
composition of the owners’ capital (including preference share capital in the case of
a company) and borrowings of the enterprise.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
6. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes. For an investment to qualify as a cash
equivalent, it must be readily convertible to a known amount of cash and be subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Therefore, an investment normally qualifies as a
cash equivalent only when it has a short maturity of, say, three months or less from the
date of acquisition. Investments in shares are excluded from cash equivalents unless they
are, in substance, cash equivalents; for example, preference shares of a company acquired
shortly before their specified redemption date (provided there is only an insignificant risk
of failure of the company to repay the amount at maturity).
7. Cash flows exclude movements between items that constitute cash or cash
equivalents because these components are part of the cash management of an enterprise
rather than part of its operating, investing and financing activities. Cash management
includes the investment of excess cash in cash equivalents.

Presentation of a Cash Flow Statement
8. The cash flow statement should report cash flows during the period classified
by operating, investing and financing activities.
9. An enterprise presents its cash flows from operating, investing and financing
activities in a manner which is most appropriate to its business. Classification by activity
provides information that allows users to assess the impact of those activities on the
financial position of the enterprise and the amount of its cash and cash equivalents. This
information may also be used to evaluate the relationships among those activities.
10. A single transaction may include cash flows that are classified differently. For
example, when the instalment paid in respect of a fixed asset acquired on deferred
payment basis includes both interest and loan, the interest element is classified under
financing activities and the loan element is classified under investing activities.

Operating Activities
11. The amount of cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the
extent to which the operations of the enterprise have generated sufficient cash flows to
maintain the operating capability of the enterprise, pay dividends, repay loans and make
new investments without recourse to external sources of financing. Information about the
specific components of historical operating cash flows is useful, in conjunction with other
information, in forecasting future operating cash flows.
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12. Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the principal revenueproducing activities of the enterprise. Therefore, they generally result from the
transactions and other events that enter into the determination of net profit or loss.
Examples of cash flows from operating activities are:
(a)

cash receipts from the sale of goods and the rendering of services;

(b) cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions and other revenue;
(c)

cash payments to suppliers for goods and services;

(d) cash payments to and on behalf of employees;
(e)

cash receipts and cash payments of an insurance enterprise for premiums and
claims, annuities and other policy benefits;

(f)

cash payments or refunds of income taxes unless they can be specifically
identified with financing and investing activities; and

(g) cash receipts and payments relating to futures contracts, forward contracts,
option contracts and swap contracts when the contracts are held for dealing or
trading purposes.
13. Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant, may give rise to a gain or
loss which is included in the determination of net profit or loss. However, the cash flows
relating to such transactions are cash flows from investing activities.
14. An enterprise may hold securities and loans for dealing or trading purposes, in which
case they are similar to inventory acquired specifically for resale. Therefore, cash flows
arising from the purchase and sale of dealing or trading securities are classified as
operating activities. Similarly, cash advances and loans made by financial enterprises are
usually classified as operating activities since they relate to the main revenue-producing
activity of that enterprise.

Investing Activities
15. The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from investing activities is important
because the cash flows represent the extent to which expenditures have been made for
resources intended to generate future income and cash flows. Examples of cash flows
arising from investing activities are:
(a)

cash payments to acquire fixed assets (including intangibles).
These payments include those relating to capitalised research and development
costs and self-constructed fixed assets;

(b)
(c)

cash receipts from disposal of fixed assets (including intangibles);
cash payments to acquire shares, warrants or debt instruments of other
enterprises and interests in joint ventures (other than payments for those
instruments considered to be cash equivalents and those held for dealing or
trading purposes);
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(d) cash receipts from disposal of shares, warrants or debt instruments of other
enterprises and interests in joint ventures (other than receipts from those
instruments considered to be cash equivalents and those held for dealing or
trading purposes);
(e)

cash advances and loans made to third parties (other than advances and loans
made by a financial enterprise);

(f)

cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans made to third parties
(other than advances and loans of a financial enterprise);

(g) cash payments for futures contracts, forward contracts, option contracts and
swap contracts except when the contracts are held for dealing or trading
purposes, or the payments are classified as financing activities; and
(h) cash receipts from futures contracts, forward contracts, option contracts and
swap contracts except when the contracts are held for dealing or trading
purposes, or the receipts are classified as financing activities.
16. When a contract is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position, the cash
flows of the contract are classified in the same manner as the cash flows of the position
being hedged.

Financing Activities
17. The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from financing activities is important
because it is useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of funds (both
capital and borrowings) to the enterprise. Examples of cash flows arising from financing
activities are:
(a)

cash proceeds from issuing shares or other similar instruments;

(b) cash proceeds from issuing debentures, loans, notes, bonds, and other short or
long-term borrowings; and
(c)

cash repayments of amounts borrowed.

Reporting Cash Flows from Operating Activities
18. An enterprise should report cash flows from operating activities using either:
(a) the direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts and gross
cash payments are disclosed; or
(b) the indirect method, whereby net profit or loss is adjusted for the effects of
transactions of a non-cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or
future operating cash receipts or payments, and items of income or expense
associated with investing or financing cash flows.
19. The direct method provides information which may be useful in estimating future
cash flows and which is not available under the indirect method and is, therefore,
considered more appropriate than the indirect method. Under the direct method,
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information about major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments may be
obtained either:
(a)

from the accounting records of the enterprise; or

(b) by adjusting sales, cost of sales (interest and similar income and interest
expense and similar charges for a financial enterprise) and other items in the
statement of profit and loss for:
i)

changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and
payables;

ii)

other non-cash items; and

iii)

other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows.

20. Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities is determined
by adjusting net profit or loss for the effects of:
(a)

changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and
payables;

(b) non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes, and unrealised
foreign exchange gains and losses; and
(c)

all other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows.

Alternatively, the net cash flow from operating activities may be presented under the
indirect method by showing the operating revenues and expenses excluding non-cash
items disclosed in the statement of profit and loss and the changes during the period in
inventories and operating receivables and payables.

Reporting Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities
21. An enterprise should report separately major classes of gross cash receipts and
gross cash payments arising from investing and financing activities, except to the
extent that cash flows described in paragraphs 22 and 24 are reported on a net
basis.

Reporting Cash Flows on a Net Basis
22. Cash flows arising from the following operating, investing or financing
activities may be reported on a net basis:
(a) cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers when the cash flows
reflect the activities of the customer rather than those of the enterprise;
and
(b) cash receipts and payments for items in which the turnover is quick, the
amounts are large, and the maturities are short.
23. Examples of cash receipts and payments referred to in paragraph 22(a) are:
(a)

the acceptance and repayment of demand deposits by a bank;

(b) funds held for customers by an investment enterprise; and
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rents collected on behalf of, and paid over to, the owners of properties.

Examples of cash receipts and payments referred to in paragraph 22(b) are advances
made for, and the repayments of:
(a)

principal amounts relating to credit card customers;

(b) the purchase and sale of investments; and
(c)

other short-term borrowings, for example, those which have a maturity period
of three months or less.

24. Cash flows arising from each of the following activities of a financial enterprise
may be reported on a net basis:
(a) cash receipts and payments for the acceptance and repayment of deposits
with a fixed maturity date;
(b) the placement of deposits with and withdrawal of deposits from other
financial enterprises; and
(c) cash advances and loans made to customers and the repayment of those
advances and loans.

Foreign Currency Cash Flows
25. Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency should be recorded in
an enterprise’s reporting currency by applying to the foreign currency amount the
exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date
of the cash flow. A rate that approximates the actual rate may be used if the result
is substantially the same as would arise if the rates at the dates of the cash flows
were used. The effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
held in a foreign currency should be reported as a separate part of the reconciliation
of the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the period.
26. Cash flows denominated in foreign currency are reported in a manner consistent with
Accounting Standard (AS) 11, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. This
permits the use of an exchange rate that approximates the actual rate. For example, a
weighted average exchange rate for a period may be used for recording foreign currency
transactions.
27. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in foreign exchange rates are not
cash flows. However, the effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
held or due in a foreign currency is reported in the cash flow statement in order to
reconcile cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period. This
amount is presented separately from cash flows from operating, investing and financing
activities and includes the differences, if any, had those cash flows been reported at the
end-of-period exchange rates.
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Extraordinary Items
28. The cash flows associated with extraordinary items should be classified as
arising from operating, investing or financing activities as appropriate and
separately disclosed.
29. The cash flows associated with extraordinary items are disclosed separately as arising
from operating, investing or financing activities in the cash flow statement, to enable
users to understand their nature and effect on the present and future cash flows of the
enterprise. These disclosures are in addition to the separate disclosures of the nature and
amount of extraordinary items required by Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss
for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies.

Interest and Dividends
30. Cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid should each be
disclosed separately. Cash flows arising from interest paid and interest and
dividends received in the case of a financial enterprise should be classified as cash
flows arising from operating activities. In the case of other enterprises, cash flows
arising from interest paid should be classified as cash flows from financing activities
while interest and dividends received should be classified as cash flows from
investing activities. Dividends paid should be classified as cash flows from financing
activities.
31. The total amount of interest paid during the period is disclosed in the cash flow
statement whether it has been recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and
loss or capitalised in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 10, Accounting for Fixed
Assets.
32. Interest paid and interest and dividends received are usually classified as operating
cash flows for a financial enterprise. However, there is no consensus on the classification
of these cash flows for other enterprises. Some argue that interest paid and interest and
dividends received may be classified as operating cash flows because they enter into the
determination of net profit or loss. However, it is more appropriate that interest paid and
interest and dividends received are classified as financing cash flows and investing cash
flows respectively, because they are cost of obtaining financial resources or returns on
investments.
33. Some argue that dividends paid may be classified as a component of cash flows from
operating activities in order to assist users to determine the ability of an enterprise to pay
dividends out of operating cash flows. However, it is considered more appropriate that
dividends paid should be classified as cash flows from financing activities because they
are cost of obtaining financial resources.

Taxes on Income
34. Cash flows arising from taxes on income should be separately disclosed and
should be classified as cash flows from operating activities unless they can be
specifically identified with financing and investing activities.
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35. Taxes on income arise on transactions that give rise to cash flows that are classified
as operating, investing or financing activities in a cash flow statement. While tax expense
may be readily identifiable with investing or financing activities, the related tax cash flows
are often impracticable to identify and may arise in a different period from the cash flows
of the underlying transactions. Therefore, taxes paid are usually classified as cash flows
from operating activities. However, when it is practicable to identify the tax cash flow with
an individual transaction that gives rise to cash flows that are classified as investing or
financing activities, the tax cash flow is classified as an investing or financing activity as
appropriate. When tax cash flow are allocated over more than one class of activity, the
total amount of taxes paid is disclosed.

Investments in Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures
36. When accounting for an investment in an associate or a subsidiary or a joint
venture, an investor restricts its reporting in the cash flow statement to the cash
flows between itself and the investee/joint venture, for example, cash flows relating
to dividends and advances.

Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Other Business Units
37. The aggregate cash flows arising from acquisitions and from disposals of
subsidiaries or other business units should be presented separately and classified as
investing activities.
38. An enterprise should disclose, in aggregate, in respect of both acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries or other business units during the period each of the
following:
(a) the total purchase or disposal consideration; and
(b) the portion of the purchase or disposal consideration discharged by means
of cash and cash equivalents.
39. The separate presentation of the cash flow effects of acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and other business units as single line items helps to distinguish those cash
flows from other cash flows. The cash flow effects of disposals are not deducted from
those of acquisitions.

Non-cash Transactions
40. Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of cash or cash
equivalents should be excluded from a cash flow statement. Such transactions
should be disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements in a way that provides all
the relevant information about these investing and financing activities.
41. Many investing and financing activities do not have a direct impact on current cash
flows although they do affect the capital and asset structure of an enterprise. The
exclusion of non-cash transactions from the cash flow statement is consistent with the
objective of a cash flow statement as these items do not involve cash flows in the current
period. Examples of non-cash transactions are:
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(a)

the acquisition of assets by assuming directly related liabilities;

(b) the acquisition of an enterprise by means of issue of shares; and
(c)

the conversion of debt to equity.

Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents
42. An enterprise should disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents and
should present a reconciliation of the amounts in its cash flow statement with the
equivalent items reported in the balance sheet.
43. In view of the variety of cash management practices, an enterprise discloses the
policy which it adopts in determining the composition of cash and cash equivalents.
44. The effect of any change in the policy for determining components of cash and cash
equivalents is reported in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss
for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies.

Other Disclosures
45. An enterprise should disclose, together with a commentary by management, the
amount of significant cash and cash equivalent balances held by the enterprise that
are not available for use by it.
46. There are various circumstances in which cash and cash equivalent balances held by
an enterprise are not available for use by it. Examples include cash and cash equivalent
balances held by a branch of the enterprise that operates in a country where exchange
controls or other legal restrictions apply as a result of which the balances are not
available for use by the enterprise.
47. Additional information may be relevant to users in understanding the financial
position and liquidity of an enterprise. Disclosure of this information, together with a
commentary by management, is encouraged and may include:
(a)

the amount of undrawn borrowing facilities that may be available for future
operating activities and to settle capital commitments, indicating any
restrictions on the use of these facilities; and

(b) the aggregate amount of cash flows that represent increases in operating
capacity separately from those cash flows that are required to maintain
operating capacity.
48. The separate disclosure of cash flows that represent increases in operating capacity
and cash flows that are required to maintain operating capacity is useful in enabling the
user to determine whether the enterprise is investing adequately in the maintenance of
its operating capacity. An enterprise that does not invest adequately in the maintenance
of its operating capacity may be prejudicing future profitability for the sake of current
liquidity and distributions to owners.
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Illustration I
Cash Flow Statement for an Enterprise other than a Financial
Enterprise
This illustration does not form part of the accounting standard. Its purpose is to illustrate
the application of the accounting standard.
1.

The illustration shows only current period amounts.

2. Information from the statement of profit and loss and balance sheet is provided to
show how the statements of cash flows under the direct method and the indirect method
have been derived. Neither the statement of profit and loss nor the balance sheet is
presented in conformity with the disclosure and presentation requirements of applicable
laws and accounting standards. The working notes given towards the end of this
illustration are intended to assist in understanding the manner in which the various
figures appearing in the cash flow statement have been derived. These working notes do
not form part of the cash flow statement and, accordingly, need not be published.
3. The following additional information is also relevant for the preparation of the
statement of cash flows (figures are in `’000).
(a)

An amount of 250 was raised from the issue of share capital and a further 250
was raised from long term borrowings.

(b) Interest expense was 400 of which 170 was paid during the period. 100 relating
to interest expense of the prior period was also paid during the period.
(c)

Dividends paid were 1,200.

(d) Tax deducted at source on dividends received (included in the tax expense of
300 for the year) amounted to 40.
(e)

During the period, the enterprise acquired fixed assets for 350. The payment
was made in cash.

(f)

Plant with original cost of 80 and accumulated depreciation of 60 was sold for
20.

(g) Foreign exchange loss of 40 represents the reduction in the carrying amount of
a short-term investment in foreign-currency designated bonds arising out of a
change in exchange rate between the date of acquisition of the investment and
the balance sheet date.
(h) Sundry debtors and sundry creditors include amounts relating to credit sales
and credit purchases only.
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Balance Sheet as at 31.12.1996
(` ’000)
1996

1995

Cash on hand and balances with banks

200

25

Short-term investments

670

135

1,700

1,200

Interest receivable

100

–

Inventories

900

1,950

2,500

2,500

Assets

Sundry debtors

Long-term investments
Fixed assets at cost

Accumulated depreciation

2,180

1,910

(1,450)

Fixed assets (net)

(1,060)
730

850

6,800

6,660

Sundry creditors

150

1,890

Interest payable

230

100

Income taxes payable

400

1,000

Long-term debt

1,110

1,040

Total liabilities

1,890

4,030

Share capital

1,500

1,250

Reserves

3,410

1,380

Total shareholders’ funds

4,910

2,630

Total liabilities and shareholders’ funds

6,800

6,660

Total assets
Liabilities

Shareholders’ Funds

Statement of Profit and Loss for the period ended 31.12.1996
(` ’000)
Sales
Cost of sales

30,650
(26,000)

Gross profit

4,650

Depreciation

(450)

Administrative and selling expenses

(910)

Interest expense

(400)
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Interest income

300

Dividend income

200

Foreign exchange loss

(40)

Net profit before taxation and extraordinary item

3,350

Extraordinary item – Insurance proceeds from
earthquake disaster settlement

180

Net profit after extraordinary item

3,530

Income-tax

(300)

Net profit

3,230
Direct Method Cash Flow Statement [Paragraph 18(a)]
(`’000)
1996

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees

30,150
(27,600)

Cash generated from operations

2,550

Income taxes paid

(860)

Cash flow before extraordinary item

1,690

Proceeds from earthquake disaster settlement

180
1,870

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of equipment

(350)
20

Interest received

200

Dividends received

160
30

Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of share capital

250

Proceeds from long-term borrowings

250

Repayment of long-term borrowings

(180)

Interest paid

(270)

Dividends paid
Net cash used in financing activities
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Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

750

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (see
Note 1)

160

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (see Note 1)

910

Indirect Method Cash Flow Statement [Paragraph 18(b)]
(`’000)
1996
Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit before taxation, and extraordinary item
Adjustments for:

Depreciation

Foreign exchange loss

3,350
450
40

Interest income

(300)

Dividend income

(200)

Interest expense

400

Operating profit before working capital changes

3,740

Increase in sundry debtors

(500)

Decrease in inventories

1,050

Decrease in sundry creditors

(1,740)

Cash generated from operations

2,550

Income taxes paid

(860)

Cash flow before extraordinary item

1,690

Proceeds from earthquake disaster settlement

180
1,870

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets

Proceeds from sale of equipment

(350)
20

Interest received

200

Dividends received

160
30

Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of share capital

250

Proceeds from long-term borrowings

250
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Repayment of long-term borrowings

(180)

Interest paid

(270)

Dividends paid

(1,200)
(1,150)

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

750

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (see
Note 1)

160

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (see Note
1)

910

Notes to the cash flow statement (direct method and indirect method)
1.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks, and
investments in money-market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents included in the
cash flow statement comprise the following balance sheet amounts.
Cash on hand and balances with banks

1996

1995

670

135

40

–

Short-term investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Effect of exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents as restated

200
870

910

25

160
160

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period include deposits with banks of 100
held by a branch which are not freely remissible to the company because of currency
exchange restrictions.
The company has undrawn borrowing facilities of 2,000 of which 700 may be used only
for future expansion.
2. Total tax paid during the year (including tax deducted at source on dividends received)
amounted to 900.
Alternative Presentation (indirect method)
As an alternative, in an indirect method cash flow statement, operating profit before
working capital changes is sometimes presented as follows:
Revenues excluding investment income
Operating expense excluding depreciation
Operating profit before working capital changes

30,650
(26,910)
3,740

Working Notes
The working notes given below do not form part of the cash flow statement and,
accordingly, need not be published. The purpose of these working notes is merely to assist
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in understanding the manner in which various figures in the cash flow statement have
been derived. (Figures are in ` ’000)
1.

Cash receipts from customers
Sales

30,650

Add: Sundry debtors at the beginning of the year

1,200
31,850

Less : Sundry debtors at the end of the year

1,700
30,150

2.

Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cost of sales

26,000

Administrative and selling expenses
Add: Sundry creditors at the beginning of the year
Inventories at the end of the year

Less: Sundry creditors at the end of the year

Inventories at the beginning of the year

3.

910

1,890

900

150

1,950

26,910

2,790

29,700

2,100

27,600

Income taxes paid (including tax deducted at source from dividends received)
Income tax expense for the year (including tax deducted at source
from dividends received)
Add : Income tax liability at the beginning of the year

300
1,000
1,300

Less: Income tax liability at the end of the year

400

900
Out of 900, tax deducted at source on dividends received (amounting to 40) is
included in cash flows from investing activities and the balance of 860 is included in
cash flows from operating activities (see paragraph 34).
4.

Repayment of long-term borrowings
Long-term debt at the beginning of the year
Add : Long-term borrowings made during the year

1,040
250
1,290

Less : Long-term borrowings at the end of the year

1,110
180
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Interest paid
Interest expense for the year

400

Add: Interest payable at the beginning of the year

100
500

Less: Interest payable at the end of the year

230
270

Illustration II
Cash Flow Statement for a Financial Enterprise
This illustration does not form part of the accounting standard. Its purpose is to illustrate
the application of the accounting standard.
1.

The illustration shows only current period amounts.

2.

The illustration is presented using the direct method.
(` ’000)
1996
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest and commission receipts
Interest payments

Recoveries on loans previously written off

Cash payments to employees and suppliers

Operating profit before changes in operating assets

28,447

(23,463)
237

(997)

4,224

(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
Short-term funds

(650)

Funds advanced to customers

(288)

Other short-term securities

(120)

Deposits held for regulatory or monetary control
purposes
Net increase in credit card receivables

234

(360)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Deposits from customers
Certificates of deposit

Net cash from operating activities before income tax
Income taxes paid

600

(200)

3,440

(100)

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends received

Interest received
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Proceeds from sales of permanent investments

1,200

Purchase of fixed assets

(500)

Purchase of permanent investments

(600)

Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of shares

Repayment of long-term borrowings
Net decrease in other borrowings
Dividends paid

650

1,800

(200)

(1,000)

(400)

Net cash from financing activities

200

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

4,190

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

8,840

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

4,650

AS 4 ∗ : Contingencies 1 and Events Occurring After the
Balance Sheet Date
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of the Preface to the Statements of
2

Accounting Standards and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’.]

Introduction
1.

This Standard deals with the treatment in financial statements of
(a)

contingencies, and

(b) events occurring after the balance sheet date.
2. The following subjects, which may result in contingencies, are excluded from the
scope of this Standard in view of special considerations applicable to them:
(a)

liabilities of life assurance and general insurance enterprises arising from
policies issued;

(b) obligations under retirement benefit plans; and

∗

Revised in 1995.

1

All paragraphs of this Standard that deal with contingencies are applicable only to the extent not
covered by other Accounting Standards prescribed by the Central Government. For example, the
impairment of financial assets such as impairment of receivables (commonly known as provision for bad
and doubtful debts) is governed by this Standard.
2Attention

is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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commitments arising from long-term lease contracts.

Definitions
3.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

3.1 A contingency is a condition or situation, the ultimate outcome of which, gain
or loss, will be known or determined only on the occurrence, or non-occurrence, of
one or more uncertain future events.
3.2 Events occurring after the balance sheet date are those significant events, both
favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the balance sheet date and the
date on which the financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors in the
case of a company, and, by the corresponding approving authority in the case of any
other entity.
Two types of events can be identified:
(a) those which provide further evidence of conditions that existed at the
balance sheet date; and
(b) those which are indicative of conditions that arose subsequent to the
balance sheet date.

Explanation
4. Contingencies
4.1 The term “contingencies” used in this Standard is restricted to conditions or
situations at the balance sheet date, the financial effect of which is to be determined by
future events which may or may not occur.
4.2 Estimates are required for determining the amounts to be stated in the financial
statements for many on-going and recurring activities of an enterprise. One must,
however, distinguish between an event which is certain and one which is uncertain. The
fact that an estimate is involved does not, of itself, create the type of uncertainty which
characterises a contingency. For example, the fact that estimates of useful life are used to
determine depreciation, does not make depreciation a contingency; the eventual expiry of
the useful life of the asset is not uncertain. Also, amounts owed for services received are
not contingencies as defined in paragraph 3.1, even though the amounts may have been
estimated, as there is nothing uncertain about the fact that these obligations have been
incurred.
4.3 The uncertainty relating to future events can be expressed by a range of outcomes.
This range may be presented as quantified probabilities, but in most circumstances, this
suggests a level of precision that is not supported by the available information. The
possible outcomes can, therefore, usually be generally described except where reasonable
quantification is practicable.
4.4 The estimates of the outcome and of the financial effect of contingencies are
determined by the judgement of the management of the enterprise. This judgement is
based on consideration of information available up to the date on which the financial
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statements are approved and will include a review of events occurring after the balance
sheet date, supplemented by experience of similar transactions and, in some cases,
reports from independent experts.
5.

Accounting Treatment of Contingent Losses

5.1 The accounting treatment of a contingent loss is determined by the expected
outcome of the contingency. If it is likely that a contingency will result in a loss to the
enterprise, then it is prudent to provide for that loss in the financial statements.
5.2 The estimation of the amount of a contingent loss to be provided for in the financial
statements may be based on information referred to in paragraph 4.4.
5.3 If there is conflicting or insufficient evidence for estimating the amount of a
contingent loss, then disclosure is made of the existence and nature of the contingency.
5.4 A potential loss to an enterprise may be reduced or avoided because a contingent
liability is matched by a related counter-claim or claim against a third party. In such cases,
the amount of the provision is determined after taking into account the probable
recovery under the claim if no significant uncertainty as to its measurability or
collectability exists. Suitable disclosure regarding the nature and gross amount of the
contingent liability is also made.
5.5 The existence and amount of guarantees, obligations arising from discounted bills of
exchange and similar obligations undertaken by an enterprise are generally disclosed in
financial statements by way of note, even though the possibility that a loss to the
enterprise will occur, is remote.
5.6 Provisions for contingencies are not made in respect of general or unspecified
business risks since they do not relate to conditions or situations existing at the balance
sheet date.
6.

Accounting Treatment of Contingent Gains

Contingent gains are not recognised in financial statements since their recognition may
result in the recognition of revenue which may never be realised. However, when the
realisation of a gain is virtually certain, then such gain is not a contingency and
accounting for the gain is appropriate.
7.
Determination of the Amounts at which Contingencies are included in Financial
Statements
7.1 The amount at which a contingency is stated in the financial statements is based on
the information which is available at the date on which the financial statements are
approved. Events occurring after the balance sheet date that indicate that an asset may
have been impaired, or that a liability may have existed, at the balance sheet date are,
therefore, taken into account in identifying contingencies and in determining the
amounts at which such contingencies are included in financial statements.
7.2 In some cases, each contingency can be separately identified, and the special
circumstances of each situation considered in the determination of the amount of the
contingency. A substantial legal claim against the enterprise may represent such a
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contingency. Among the factors taken into account by management in evaluating such a
contingency are the progress of the claim at the date on which the financial statements
are approved, the opinions, wherever necessary, of legal experts or other advisers, the
experience of the enterprise in similar cases and the experience of other enterprises in
similar situations.
7.3 If the uncertainties which created a contingency in respect of an individual
transaction are common to a large number of similar transactions, then the amount of the
contingency need not be individually determined, but may be based on the group of
similar transactions. An example of such contingencies may be the estimated
uncollectable portion of accounts receivable. Another example of such contingencies may
be the warranties for products sold. These costs are usually incurred frequently and
experience provides a means by which the amount of the liability or loss can be estimated
with reasonable precision although the particular transactions that may result in a liability
or a loss are not identified. Provision for these costs results in their recognition in the
same accounting period in which the related transactions took place.

8. Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
8.1 Events which occur between the balance sheet date and the date on which the
financial statements are approved, may indicate the need for adjustments to assets and
liabilities as at the balance sheet date or may require disclosure.
8.2 Adjustments to assets and liabilities are required for events occurring after the
balance sheet date that provide additional information materially affecting the
determination of the amounts relating to conditions existing at the balance sheet date.
For example, an adjustment may be made for a loss on a trade receivable account which
is confirmed by the insolvency of a customer which occurs after the balance sheet date.
8.3 Adjustments to assets and liabilities are not appropriate for events occurring after
the balance sheet date, if such events do not relate to conditions existing at the balance
sheet date. An example is the decline in market value of investments between the balance
sheet date and the date on which the financial statements are approved. Ordinary
fluctuations in market values do not normally relate to the condition of the investments
at the balance sheet date, but reflect circumstances which have occurred in the following
period.
8.4 Events occurring after the balance sheet date which do not affect the figures stated
in the financial statements would not normally require disclosure in the financial
statements although they may be of such significance that they may require a disclosure
in the report of the approving authority to enable users of financial statements to make
proper evaluations and decisions.
8.5 There are events which, although they take place after the balance sheet date, are
sometimes reflected in the financial statements because of statutory requirements or
because of their special nature. For example, if dividends are declared after the balance
sheet date but before the financial statements are approved for issue, the dividends are
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not recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date because no obligation exists at that
time unless a statute requires otherwise. Such dividends are disclosed in the notes.
8.6 Events occurring after the balance sheet date may indicate that the enterprise ceases
to be a going concern. A deterioration in operating results and financial position, or
unusual changes affecting the existence or substratum of the enterprise after the balance
sheet date (e.g., destruction of a major production plant by a fire after the balance sheet
date) may indicate a need to consider whether it is proper to use the fundamental
accounting assumption of going concern in the preparation of the financial statements.

9. Disclosure
9.1 The disclosure requirements herein referred to apply only in respect of those
contingencies or events which affect the financial position to a material extent.
9.2 If a contingent loss is not provided for, its nature and an estimate of its financial
effect are generally disclosed by way of note unless the possibility of a loss is remote
(other than the circumstances mentioned in paragraph 5.5). If a reliable estimate of the
financial effect cannot be made, this fact is disclosed.
9.3 When the events occurring after the balance sheet date are disclosed in the report of
the approving authority, the information given comprises the nature of the events and an
estimate of their financial effects or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made.

Main Principles
Contingencies 4
10. The amount of a contingent loss should be provided for by a charge in the
statement of profit and loss if:
(a) it is probable that future events will confirm that, after taking into account
any related probable recovery, an asset has been impaired or a liability has
been incurred as at the balance sheet date, and
(b) a reasonable estimate of the amount of the resulting loss can be made.
11. The existence of a contingent loss should be disclosed in the financial
statements if either of the conditions in paragraph 10 is not met, unless the
possibility of a loss is remote.
12. Contingent gains should not be recognised in the financial statements.

Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
13. Assets and liabilities should be adjusted for events occurring after the balance
sheet date that provide additional evidence to assist the estimation of amounts relating
to conditions existing at the balance sheet date or that indicate that the fundamental

See also footnote 1

4
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accounting assumption of going concern (i.e., the continuance of existence or
substratum of the enterprise) is not appropriate.
14. If an enterprise declares dividends to shareholders after the balance sheet date,
the enterprise should not recognise those dividends as a liability at the balance
sheet date unless a statute requires otherwise. Such dividends should be disclosed in
notes.
15. Disclosure should be made in the report of the approving authority of those
events occurring after the balance sheet date that represent material changes and
commitments affecting the financial position of the enterprise.

Disclosure
16. If disclosure of contingencies is required by paragraph 11 of this Standard, the
following information should be provided:
(a) the nature of the contingency;
(b) the uncertainties which may affect the future outcome;
(c) an estimate of the financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot
be made.
17. If disclosure of events occurring after the balance sheet date in the report of the
approving authority is required by paragraph 15 of this Standard, the following
information should be provided:
(a) the nature of the event;
(b) an estimate of the financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot
be made.

AS 5 ∗ : Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items
and Changes in Accounting Policies
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to the
1

Statements of Accounting Standards and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Various Entities’]

Revised in 1997. A limited revision was made in 2001, pursuant to which paragraph 33 has been
added in this standard (see footnote 2).
∗

1Attention

is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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Objective
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the classification and disclosure of certain
items in the statement of profit and loss so that all enterprises prepare and present such
a statement on a uniform basis. This enhances the comparability of the financial
statements of an enterprise over time and with the financial statements of other
enterprises. Accordingly, this Standard requires the classification and disclosure of
extraordinary and prior period items, and the disclosure of certain items within profit or
loss from ordinary activities. It also specifies the accounting treatment for changes in
accounting estimates and the disclosures to be made in the financial statements
regarding changes in accounting policies.

Scope
1. This Standard should be applied by an enterprise in presenting profit or loss
from ordinary activities, extraordinary items and prior period items in the statement
of profit and loss, in accounting for changes in accounting estimates, and in
disclosure of changes in accounting policies.
2. This Standard deals with, among other matters, the disclosure of certain items of net
profit or loss for the period. These disclosures are made in addition to any other
disclosures required by other Accounting Standards.
3. This Standard does not deal with the tax implications of extraordinary items, prior
period items, changes in accounting estimates, and changes in accounting policies for
which appropriate adjustments will have to be made depending on the circumstances.

Definitions
4.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

4.1. Ordinary activities are any activities which are undertaken by an enterprise as
part of its business and such related activities in which the enterprise engages in
furtherance of, incidental to, or arising from, these activities.
4.2. Extraordinary items are income or expenses that arise from events or
transactions that are clearly distinct from the ordinary activities of the enterprise
and, therefore, are not expected to recur frequently or regularly.
4.3. Prior period items are income or expenses which arise in the current period as a
result of errors or omissions in the preparation of the financial statements of one or
more prior periods.
4.4. Accounting policies are the specific accounting principles and the methods of
applying those principles adopted by an enterprise in the preparation and
presentation of financial statements.

Net Profit or Loss for the Period
5. All items of income and expense which are recognised in a period should be
included in the determination of net profit or loss for the period unless an
Accounting Standard requires or permits otherwise.
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6. Normally, all items of income and expense which are recognised in a period are
included in the determination of the net profit or loss for the period. This includes
extraordinary items and the effects of changes in accounting estimates.
7. The net profit or loss for the period comprises the following components, each
of which should be disclosed on the face of the statement of profit and loss:
(a) profit or loss from ordinary activities; and
(b) extraordinary items.

Extraordinary Items
8. Extraordinary items should be disclosed in the statement of profit and loss as a
part of net profit or loss for the period. The nature and the amount of each
extraordinary item should be separately disclosed in the statement of profit and loss
in a manner that its impact on current profit or loss can be perceived.
9. Virtually all items of income and expense included in the determination of net profit
or loss for the period arise in the course of the ordinary activities of the enterprise.
Therefore, only on rare occasions does an event or transaction give rise to an
extraordinary item.
10. Whether an event or transaction is clearly distinct from the ordinary activities of the
enterprise is determined by the nature of the event or transaction in relation to the
business ordinarily carried on by the enterprise rather than by the frequency with which
such events are expected to occur. Therefore, an event or transaction may be
extraordinary for one enterprise but not so for another enterprise because of the
differences between their respective ordinary activities. For example, losses sustained as a
result of an earthquake may qualify as an extraordinary item for many enterprises.
However, claims from policyholders arising from an earthquake do not qualify as an
extraordinary item for an insurance enterprise that insures against such risks.
11. Examples of events or transactions that generally give rise to extraordinary items for
most enterprises are:
–

attachment of property of the enterprise; or

–

an earthquake.

Profit or Loss from Ordinary Activities
12. When items of income and expense within profit or loss from ordinary activities
are of such size, nature or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to explain the
performance of the enterprise for the period, the nature and amount of such items
should be disclosed separately.
13. Although the items of income and expense described in paragraph 12 are not
extraordinary items, the nature and amount of such items may be relevant to users of
financial statements in understanding the financial position and performance of an
enterprise and in making projections about financial position and performance.
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Disclosure of such information is sometimes made in the notes to the financial
statements.
14. Circumstances which may give rise to the separate disclosure of items of income and
expense in accordance with paragraph 12 include:
(a)

the write-down of inventories to net realisable value as well as the reversal of
such write-downs;

(b) a restructuring of the activities of an enterprise and the reversal of any
provisions for the costs of restructuring;
(c)

disposals of items of fixed assets;

(d) disposals of long-term investments;
(e)

legislative changes having retrospective application;

(f)

litigation settlements; and

(g) other reversals of provisions.

Prior Period Items
15. The nature and amount of prior period items should be separately disclosed in
the statement of profit and loss in a manner that their impact on the current profit
or loss can be perceived.
16. The term ‘prior period items’, as defined in this Standard, refers only to income or
expenses which arise in the current period as a result of errors or omissions in the
preparation of the financial statements of one or more prior periods. The term does not
include other adjustments necessitated by circumstances, which though related to prior
periods, are determined in the current period, e.g., arrears payable to workers as a result
of revision of wages with retrospective effect during the current period.
17. Errors in the preparation of the financial statements of one or more prior periods
may be discovered in the current period. Errors may occur as a result of mathematical
mistakes, mistakes in applying accounting policies, misinterpretation of facts, or
oversight.
18. Prior period items are generally infrequent in nature and can be distinguished from
changes in accounting estimates. Accounting estimates by their nature are
approximations that may need revision as additional information becomes known. For
example, income or expense recognised on the outcome of a contingency which
previously could not be estimated reliably does not constitute a prior period item.
19. Prior period items are normally included in the determination of net profit or loss for
the current period. An alternative approach is to show such items in the statement of
profit and loss after determination of current net profit or loss. In either case, the
objective is to indicate the effect of such items on the current profit or loss.
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Changes in Accounting Estimates
20. As a result of the uncertainties inherent in business activities, many financial
statement items cannot be measured with precision but can only be estimated. The
estimation process involves judgments based on the latest information available.
Estimates may be required, for example, of bad debts, inventory obsolescence or the
useful lives of depreciable assets. The use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of
the preparation of financial statements and does not undermine their reliability.
21. An estimate may have to be revised if changes occur regarding the circumstances on
which the estimate was based, or as a result of new information, more experience or
subsequent developments. The revision of the estimate, by its nature, does not bring the
adjustment within the definitions of an extraordinary item or a prior period item.
22. Sometimes, it is difficult to distinguish between a change in an accounting policy and
a change in an accounting estimate. In such cases, the change is treated as a change in an
accounting estimate, with appropriate disclosure.
23. The effect of a change in an accounting estimate should be included in the
determination of net profit or loss in:
(a) the period of the change, if the change affects the period only; or
(b) the period of the change and future periods, if the change affects both.
24. A change in an accounting estimate may affect the current period only or both the
current period and future periods. For example, a change in the estimate of the amount
of bad debts is recognised immediately and therefore affects only the current period.
However, a change in the estimated useful life of a depreciable asset affects the
depreciation in the current period and in each period during the remaining useful life of
the asset. In both cases, the effect of the change relating to the current period is
recognised as income or expense in the current period. The effect, if any, on future
periods, is recognised in future periods.
25. The effect of a change in an accounting estimate should be classified using the
same classification in the statement of profit and loss as was used previously for the
estimate.
26. To ensure the comparability of financial statements of different periods, the effect of
a change in an accounting estimate which was previously included in the profit or loss
from ordinary activities is included in that component of net profit or loss. The effect of a
change in an accounting estimate that was previously included as an extraordinary item is
reported as an extraordinary item.
27. The nature and amount of a change in an accounting estimate which has a
material effect in the current period, or which is expected to have a material effect
in subsequent periods, should be disclosed. If it is impracticable to quantify the
amount, this fact should be disclosed.
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Changes in Accounting Policies
28. Users need to be able to compare the financial statements of an enterprise over a
period of time in order to identify trends in its financial position, performance and cash
flows. Therefore, the same accounting policies are normally adopted for similar events or
transactions in each period.
29. A change in an accounting policy should be made only if the adoption of a
different accounting policy is required by statute or for compliance with an
accounting standard or if it is considered that the change would result in a more
appropriate presentation of the financial statements of the enterprise.
30. A more appropriate presentation of events or transactions in the financial statements
occurs when the new accounting policy results in more relevant or reliable information
about the financial position, performance or cash flows of the enterprise.
31. The following are not changes in accounting policies:
(a)

the adoption of an accounting policy for events or transactions that differ in
substance from previously occurring events or transactions, e.g., introduction of
a formal retirement gratuity scheme by an employer in place of ad hoc ex-gratia
payments to employees on retirement; and

(b) the adoption of a new accounting policy for events or transactions which did
not occur previously or that were immaterial.
32. Any change in an accounting policy which has a material effect should be
disclosed. The impact of, and the adjustments resulting from, such change, if
material, should be shown in the financial statements of the period in which such
change is made, to reflect the effect of such change. Where the effect of such change
is not ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact should be indicated. If a change is
made in the accounting policies which has no material effect on the financial
statements for the current period but which is reasonably expected to have a
material effect in later periods, the fact of such change should be appropriately
disclosed in the period in which the change is adopted.
33. A change in accounting policy consequent upon the adoption of an Accounting
Standard should be accounted for in accordance with the specific transitional
provisions, if any, contained in that Accounting Standard. However, disclosures
required by paragraph 32 of this Standard should be made unless the transitional
provisions of any other Accounting Standard require alternative disclosures in this
regard. 2

2As

a limited revision to AS 5, the Council of the Institute decided to add this paragraph in AS 5 in
2001. This revision came into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after
1.4.2001 (see ‘The Chartered Accountant’, September 2001, pp. 342).
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AS 10 : Property, Plant and Equipment
(This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which have
equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This Accounting Standard
should be read in the context of the General Instructions contained in part A of the Annexure to the
Notification.)

Objective
1. The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment for property,
plant and equipment so that users of the financial statements can discern information
about investment made by an enterprise in its property, plant and equipment and the
changes in such investment. The principal issues in accounting for property, plant and
equipment are the recognition of the assets, the determination of their carrying amounts
and the depreciation charges and impairment losses to be recognised in relation to them.

Scope
2. This Standard should be applied in accounting for property, plant and
equipment except when another Accounting Standard requires or permits a different
accounting treatment.
3.

This Standard does not apply to:
(a)

biological assets related to agricultural activity other than bearer plants. This
Standard applies to bearer plants but it does not apply to the produce on bearer
plants; and

(b)

wasting assets including mineral rights, expenditure on the exploration for and
extraction of minerals, oil, natural gas and similar non-regenerative resources.

However, this Standard applies to property, plant and equipment used to develop or
maintain the assets described in(a) and (b) above.
4. Other Accounting Standards may require recognition of an item of property, plant
and equipment based on an approach different from that in this Standard. For example,
AS 19, Leases, requires an enterprise to evaluate its recognition of an item of leased
property, plant and equipment on the basis of the transfer of risks and rewards. However,
in such cases other aspects of the accounting treatment for these assets, including
depreciation, are prescribed by this Standard.
5. Investment property, as defined in AS 13, Accounting for Investments, should be
accounted for only in accordance with the cost model prescribed in this standard.

Definitions
6.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Agricultural Activity is the management by an enterprise of the biological
transformation and harvest of biological assets for sale or for conversion into
agricultural produce or into additional biological assets.
Agricultural Produce is the harvested product of biological assets of the enterprise.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

Part – III: Accounting Standards III-39
Bearer plant is a plant that
(a)

is used in the production or supply of agricultural produce;

(b)

is expected to bear produce for more than a period of twelve months; and

(c) has a remote likelihood of being sold as agricultural produce, except for
incidental scrap sales.
The following are not bearer plants:
(i)

plants cultivated to be harvested as agricultural produce (for example, trees grown
for use as lumber);

(ii) plants cultivated to produce agricultural produce when there is more than a remote
likelihood that the entity will also harvest and sell the plant as agricultural produce,
other than as incidental scrap sales (for example, trees that are cultivated both for
their fruit and their lumber); and
(iii) annual crops (for example, maize and wheat).
When bearer plants are no longer used to bear produce they might be cut down and sold
as scrap, for example, for use as firewood. Such incidental scrap sales would not prevent
the plant from satisfying the definition of a bearer plant.
Biological Asset is a living animal ∗ or plant.
Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other
consideration given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition or construction
or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised
in accordance with the specific requirements of other Accounting Standards.
Depreciable amount is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less
its residual value. Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable
amount of an asset over its useful life.
Enterprise -specific value is the present value of the cash flows an enterprise expects
to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its
useful life or expects to incur when settling a liability.
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

An Accounting Standard on Agriculture is under formulation, which will, inter alia, cover accounting for
livestock. Till the time, the Accounting Standard on Agriculture is issued, accounting for livestock
meeting the definition of Property, Plant and Equipment, will be covered as per AS 10 (Revised),
Property, Plant and Equipment.
∗
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Gross carrying amount of an asset is its cost or other amount substituted for the cost
in the books of account, without making any deduction for accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount. Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that:
(a) are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to
others, or for administrative purposes; and
(b) are expected to be used during more than a period of twelve months.
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use.
The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that an enterprise would
currently obtain from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of
disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the
end of its useful life.
Useful life is:
(a) the period over which an asset is expected to be available for use by an
enterprise; or
(b) the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the
asset by an enterprise.

Recognition
7. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment should be recognised as an
asset if, and only if:
(a)

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the enterprise; and

(b)

the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

8. Items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment are
recognised in accordance with this Standard when they meet the definition of property,
plant and equipment. Otherwise, such items are classified as inventory.
9. This Standard does not prescribe the unit of measure for recognition, i.e., what
constitutes an item of property, plant and equipment. Thus, judgement is required in
applying the recognition criteria to specific circumstances of an enterprise. An example of
a ‘unit of measure’ can be a ‘project’ of construction of a manufacturing plant rather than
individual assets comprising the project in appropriate cases for the purpose of
capitalisation of expenditure incurred during construction period. Similarly, it may be
appropriate to aggregate individually insignificant items, such as moulds, tools and dies
and to apply the criteria to the aggregate value. An enterprise may decide to expense an
item which could otherwise have been included as property, plant and equipment,
because the amount of the expenditure is not material.
10. An enterprise evaluates under this recognition principle all its costs on property,
plant and equipment at the time they are incurred. These costs include costs incurred:
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(a)

initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment; and

(b) subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it.

Initial Costs
11. The definition of ‘property, plant and equipment’ covers tangible items which are
held for use or for administrative purposes. The term ‘administrative purposes’ has been
used in wider sense to include all business purposes other than production or supply of
goods or services or for rental for others. Thus, property, plant and equipment would
include assets used for selling and distribution, finance and accounting, personnel and
other functions of an enterprise. Items of property, plant and equipment may also be
acquired for safety or environmental reasons. The acquisition of such property, plant and
equipment, although not directly increasing the future economic benefits of any
particular existing item of property, plant and equipment, may be necessary for an
enterprise to obtain the future economic benefits from its other assets. Such items of
property, plant and equipment qualify for recognition as assets because they enable an
enterprise to derive future economic benefits from related assets in excess of what could
be derived had those items not been acquired. For example, a chemical manufacturer may
install new chemical handling processes to comply with environmental requirements for
the production and storage of dangerous chemicals; related plant enhancements are
recognised as an asset because without them the enterprise is unable to manufacture and
sell chemicals. The resulting carrying amount of such an asset and related assets is
reviewed for impairment in accordance with AS 28, Impairment of Assets.

Subsequent Costs
12. Under the recognition principle in paragraph 7, an enterprise does not recognise in
the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the costs of the day-today servicing of the item. Rather, these costs are recognised in the statement of profit
and loss as incurred. Costs of day-to-day servicing are primarily the costs of labour and
consumables, and may include the cost of small parts. The purpose of such expenditures
is often described as for the ‘repairs and maintenance’ of the item of property, plant and
equipment.
13. Parts of some items of property, plant and equipment may require replacement at
regular intervals. For example, a furnace may require relining after a specified number of
hours of use, or aircraft interiors such as seats and galleys may require replacement
several times during the life of the airframe. Similarly, major parts of conveyor system,
such as, conveyor belts, wire ropes, etc., may require replacement several times during
the life of the conveyor system. Items of property, plant and equipment may also be
acquired to make a less frequently recurring replacement, such as replacing the interior
walls of a building, or to make a non-recurring replacement. Under the recognition
principle in paragraph 7, an enterprise recognises in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost
is incurred if the recognition criteria are met. The carrying amount of those parts that are
replaced is derecognised in accordance with the derecognition provisions of this
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Standard (see paragraphs 74-80).
14. A condition of continuing to operate an item of property, plant and equipment (for
example, an aircraft) may be performing regular major inspections for faults regardless of
whether parts of the item are replaced. When each major inspection is performed, its cost
is recognised in the carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equipment as a
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. Any remaining carrying amount of the
cost of the previous inspection (as distinct from physical parts) is derecognised.
15. The derecognition of the carrying amount as stated in paragraphs 13-14 occurs
regardless of whether the cost of the previous part / inspection was identified in the
transaction in which the item was acquired or constructed. If it is not practicable for an
enterprise to determine the carrying amount of the replaced part/ inspection, it may use
the cost of the replacement or the estimated cost of a future similar inspection as an
indication of what the cost of the replaced part/ existing inspection component was when
the item was acquired or constructed.

Measurement at Recognition
16. An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for recognition as an
asset should be measured at its cost.

Elements of Cost
17. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises:
(a)

its purchase price, including import duties and non –refundable purchase taxes,
after deducting trade discounts and rebates.

(b) any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.
the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling, removing the item and restoring the site
on which it is located, referred to as ‘decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities’,
the obligation forwhich an enterprise incurs either when the item is acquired or as a
consequence of having used the item during a particular period for purposes other than
to produce inventories during that period.
18. Examples of directly attributable costs are:
(a)

costs of employee benefits (as defined in AS 15, Employee Benefits) arising
directly from the construction or acquisition of the item of property, plant and
equipment;

(b) costs of site preparation;
(c)

initial delivery and handling costs;

(d) installation and assembly costs;
(e)

costs of testing whether the asset is functioning properly, after deducting the
net proceeds from selling any items produced while bringing the asset to that
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location and condition (such as samples produced when testing equipment);
and
(f)

professional fees.

19. An enterprise applies AS 2, Valuation of Inventories, to the costs of obligations for
dismantling, removing and restoring the site on which an item is located that are incurred
during a particular period as a consequence of having used the item to produce
inventories during that period. The obligations for costs accounted for in accordance with
AS 2 or AS 10 are recognised and measured in accordance with AS 29, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
20. Examples of costs that are not costs of an item of property, plant and equipment are:
(a)

costs of opening a new facility or business, such as, inauguration costs;

(b) costs of introducing a new product or service (including costs of advertising and
promotional activities);
(c)

costs of conducting business in a new location or with a new class of customer
(including costs of staff training); and

(d) administration and other general overhead costs.
21. Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment ceases when the item is in the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Therefore, costs incurred
in using or redeploying an item are not included in the carrying amount of that item. For
example, the following costs are not included in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment:
(a)

costs incurred while an item capable of operating in the manner intended by
management has yet to be brought into use or is operated at less than full
capacity;

(b) initial operating losses, such as those incurred while demand for the output of
an item builds up; and
(c)

costs of relocating or reorganising part or all of the operations of an enterprise.

22. Some operations occur in connection with the construction or development of an
item of property, plant and equipment, but are not necessary to bring the item to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. These incidental operations may occur before or during the construction
or development activities. For example, income may be earned through using a building
site as a car park until construction starts. Because incidental operations are not necessary
to bring an item to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management, the income and related expenses of incidental
operations are recognised in the statement of profit and loss and included in their
respective classifications of income and expense.
23. The cost of a self-constructed asset is determined using the same principles as for an
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acquired asset. If an enterprise makes similar assets for sale in the normal course of
business, the cost of the asset is usually the same as the cost of constructing an asset for
sale (see AS 2). Therefore, any internal profits are eliminated in arriving at such costs.
Similarly, the cost of abnormal amounts of wasted material, labour, or other resources
incurred in self- constructing an asset is not included in the cost of the asset. AS 16,
Borrowing Costs, establishes criteria for the recognition of interest as a component of the
carrying amount of a self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment.
24. Bearer plants are accounted for in the same way as self-constructed items of
property, plant and equipment before they are in the location and condition necessary to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Consequently,
references to ‘construction’ in this Standard should be read as covering activities that are
necessary to cultivate the bearer plants before they are in the location and condition
necessary to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Measurement of Cost
25. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the cash price equivalent at
the recognition date. If payment is deferred beyond normal credit terms, the difference
between the cash price equivalent and the total payment is recognised as interest over
the period of credit unless such interest is capitalised in accordance with AS 16.
26. One or more items of property, plant and equipment may be acquired in exchange
for a non-monetary asset or assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary
assets. The following discussion refers simply to an exchange of one non-monetary asset
for another, but it also applies to all exchanges described in the preceding sentence. The
cost of such an item of property, plant and equipment is measured at fair value unless (a)
the exchange transaction lacks commercial substance or (b) the fair value of neither the
asset(s) received nor the asset(s) given up is reliably measurable. The acquired item(s)
is/are measured in this manner even if an enterprise cannot immediately derecognise the
asset given up. If the acquired item(s) is/are not measured at fair value, its/their cost is
measured at the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.
27. An enterprise determines whether an exchange transaction has commercial
substance by considering the extent to which its future cash flows are expected to change
as a result of the transaction. An exchange transaction has commercial substance if:
(a)

the configuration (risk, timing and amount) of the cash flows of the asset
received differs from the configuration of the cash flows of the asset transferred;
or

(b) the enterprise-specific value of the portion of the operations of the enterprise
affected by the transaction changes as a result of the exchange;
(c)

and the difference in (a) or (b) is significant relative to the fair value of the
assets exchanged.

For the purpose of determining whether an exchange transaction has commercial
substance, the enterprise - specific value of the portion of operations of the enterprise
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affected by the transaction should reflect post-tax cash flows. In certain cases, the result
of these analyses may be clear without an enterprise having to perform detailed
calculations.
28. The fair value of an asset is reliably measurable if (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value measurements is not significant for that asset or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and used when
measuring fair value. If an enterprise is able to measure reliably the fair value of either the
asset received or the asset given up, then the fair value of the asset given up is used to
measure the cost of the asset received unless the fair value of the asset received is more
clearly evident.
29. Where several items of property, plant and equipment are purchased for a
consolidated price, the consideration is apportioned to the various items on the basis of
their respective fair values at the date of acquisition. In case the fair values of the items
acquired cannot be measured reliably, these values are estimated on a fair basis as
determined by competent valuers.
30. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment held by a lessee under a
finance lease is determined in accordance with AS 19, Leases.
31. The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment may be reduced by
government grants in accordance with AS 12, Accounting for Government Grants.

Measurement after Recognition
32. An enterprise should choose either the cost model in paragraph 33 or the
revaluation model in paragraph 34 as its accounting policy and should apply that
policy to an entire class of property, plant and equipment.

Cost Model
33. After recognition as an asset, an item of property, plant and equipment should
be carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Revaluation Model
34. After recognition as an asset, an item of property, plant and equipment whose
fair value can be measured reliably should be carried at a revalued amount, being
its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations should
be made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the balance
sheet date.
35. The fair value of items of property, plant and equipment is usually determined from
market-based evidence by appraisal that is normally undertaken by professionally
qualified valuers.
36. If there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialised nature
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of the item of property, plant and equipment and the item is rarely sold, except as part of
a continuing business, an enterprise may need to estimate fair value using an income
approach (for example, based on discounted cash flow projections) or a depreciated
replacement cost approach which aims at making a realistic estimate of the current cost
of acquiring or constructing an item that has the same service potential as the existing
item.
37. The frequency of revaluations depends upon the changes in fair values of the items
of property, plant and equipment being revalued. When the fair value of a revalued asset
differs materially from its carrying amount, a further revaluation is required. Some items
of property, plant and equipment experience significant and volatile changes in fair value,
thus necessitating annual revaluation. Such frequent revaluations are unnecessary for
items of property, plant and equipment with only insignificant changes in fair value.
Instead, it may be necessary to revalue the item only every three or five years.
38. When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the carrying amount of
that asset is adjusted to the revalued amount. At the date of the revaluation, the asset is
treated in one of the following ways:
(a)

the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the
revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset. For example, the gross carrying
amount may be restated by reference to observable market data or it may be
restated proportionately to the change in the carrying amount. The accumulated
depreciation at the date of the revaluation is adjusted to equal the difference
between the gross carrying amount and the carrying amount of the asset after
taking into account accumulated impairment losses; or

(b) the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of
the asset.
The amount of the adjustment of accumulated depreciation forms part of the increase or
decrease in carrying amount that is accounted for in accordance with paragraphs 42 and
43.
39. If an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the entire class of
property, plant and equipment to which that asset belongs should be revalued.
40. A class of property, plant and equipment is a grouping of assets of a similar nature
and use in operations of an enterprise. The following are examples of separate classes:
(a)

land;

(b) land and buildings;
(c)

machinery;

(d) ships;
(e)

aircraft;

(f)

motor vehicles;

(g) furniture and fixtures;
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(h)

office equipment;and

(i)

bearer plants.

41. The items within a class of property, plant and equipment are revalued
simultaneously to avoid selective revaluation of assets and the reporting of amounts in
the financial statements that are a mixture of costs and values as at different dates.
However, a class of assets may be revalued on a rolling basis provided revaluation of the
class of assets is completed within a short period and provided the revaluations are kept
up to date.
42. An increase in the carrying amount of an asset arising on revaluation should be
credited directly to owners’ interests under the heading of revaluation surplus
However, the increase should be recognised in the statement of profit and loss to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised
in the statement of profit and loss.
43. A decrease in the carrying amount of an asset arising on revaluation should be
charged to the statement of profit and loss. However, the decrease should be debited
directly to owners’ interests under the heading of revaluation surplus to the extent
of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.
44. The revaluation surplus included in owners’ interests in respect of an item of
property, plant and equipment may be transferred to the revenue reserves when the asset
is derecognised. This may involve transferring the whole of the surplus when the asset is
retired or disposed of. However, some of the surplus may be transferred as the asset is
used by an enterprise. In such a case, the amount of the surplus transferred would be the
difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and
depreciation based on its original cost. Transfers from revaluation surplus to the revenue
reserves are not made through the statement of profit and loss.

Depreciation
45. Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is
significant in relation to the total cost of the item should be depreciated separately.
46. An enterprise allocates the amount initially recognised in respect of an item of
property, plant and equipment to its significant parts and depreciates each such part
separately. For example, it may be appropriate to depreciate separately the airframe and
engines of an aircraft, whether owned or subject to a finance lease.
47. A significant part of an item of property, plant and equipment may have a useful life
and a depreciation method that are the same as the useful life and the depreciation
method of another significant part of that same item. Such parts may be grouped in
determining the depreciation charge.
48. To the extent that an enterprise depreciates separately some parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment, it also depreciates separately the remainder of the item.
The remainder consists of the parts of the item that are individually not significant. If an
enterprise has varying expectations for these parts, approximation techniques may be
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necessary to depreciate the remainder in a manner that faithfully represents the
consumption pattern and/or useful life of its parts.
49. An enterprise may choose to depreciate separately the parts of an item that do not
have a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item.
50. The depreciation charge for each period should be recognised in the statement
of profit and loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.
51. The depreciation charge for a period is usually recognised in the statement of profit
and loss. However, sometimes, the future economic benefits embodied in an asset are
absorbed in producing other assets. In this case, the depreciation charge constitutes part
of the cost of the other asset and is included in its carrying amount. For example, the
depreciation of manufacturing plant and equipment is included in the costs of conversion
of inventories (see AS 2). Similarly, the depreciation of property, plant and equipment
used for development activities may be included in the cost of an intangible asset
recognised in accordance with AS 26, Intangible Assets.

Depreciable Amount and Depreciation Period
52. The depreciable amount of an asset should be allocated on a systematic basis
over its useful life.
53. The residual value and the useful life of an asset should be reviewed at least at
each financial year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the
change(s) should be accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in
accordance with AS 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and
Changes in Accounting Policies.
54. Depreciation is recognised even if the fair value of the asset exceeds its carrying
amount, as long as the asset’s residual value does not exceed its carrying amount. Repair
and maintenance of an asset do not negate the need to depreciate it.
55. The depreciable amount of an asset is determined after deducting its residual value.
56. The residual value of an asset may increase to an amount equal to or greater than its
carrying amount. If it does, depreciation charge of the asset is zero unless and until its
residual value subsequently decreases to an amount below its carrying amount.
57. Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use, i.e., when it is in the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is
retired from active use and is held for disposal and the date that the asset is
derecognised. Therefore, depreciation does not cease when the asset becomes idle or is
retired from active use (but not held for disposal) unless the asset is fully depreciated.
However, under usage methods of depreciation, the depreciation charge can be zero
while there is no production.
58. The future economic benefits embodied in an asset are consumed by an enterprise
principally through its use. However, other factors, such as technical or commercial
obsolescence and wear and tear while an asset remains idle, often result in the diminution
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of the economic benefits that might have been obtained from the asset. Consequently, all
the following factors are considered in determining the useful life of an asset:
(a)

expected usage of the asset. Usage is assessed by reference to the expected
capacity or physical output of the asset.

(b) expected physical wear and tear, which depends on operational factors such as
the number of shifts for which the asset is to be used and the repair and
maintenance programme, and the care and maintenance of the asset while idle.
(c)

technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in
production, or from a change in the market demand for the product or service
output of the asset. Expected future reductions in the selling price of an item
that was produced using an asset could indicate the expectation of technical or
commercial obsolescence of the asset, which, in turn, might reflect a reduction
of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

(d) legal or similar limits on the use of the asset, such as the expiry dates of related
leases.
59. The useful life of an asset is defined in terms of its expected utility to the enterprise.
The asset management policy of the enterprise may involve the disposal of assets after a
specified time or after consumption of a specified proportion of the future economic
benefits embodied in the asset. Therefore, the useful life of an asset may be shorter than
its economic life. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is a matter of judgement
based on the experience of the enterprise with similar assets.
60. Land and buildings are separable assets and are accounted for separately, even when
they are acquired together. With some exceptions, such as quarries and sites used for
landfill, land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Buildings have
a limited useful life and therefore are depreciable assets. An increase in the value of the
land on which a building stands does not affect the determination of the depreciable
amount of the building.
61. If the cost of land includes the costs of site dismantlement, removal and restoration,
that portion of the land asset is depreciated over the period of benefits obtained by
incurring those costs. In some cases, the land itself may have a limited useful life, in which
case it is depreciated in a manner that reflects the benefits to be derived from it.

Depreciation Method
62. The depreciation method used should reflect the pattern in which the future
economic benefits of the asset are expected to be consumed by the enterprise.
63. The depreciation method applied to an asset should be reviewed at least at each
financial year-end and, if there has been a significant change in the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset, the
method should be changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a change should be
accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in accordance with AS 5.
64. A variety of depreciation methods can be used to allocate the depreciable amount of
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an asset on a systematic basis over its useful life. These methods include the straight-line
method, the diminishing balance method and the units of production method. Straightline depreciation results in a constant charge over the useful life if the residual value of
the asset does not change. The diminishing balance method results in a decreasing
charge over the useful life. The units of production method results in a charge based on
the expected use or output. The enterprise selects the method that most closely reflects
the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the
asset. That method is applied consistently from period to period unless there is a change
in the expected pattern of consumption of those future economic benefits or that the
method is changed in accordance with the statute to best reflect the way the asset is
consumed.
65. A depreciation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity that
includes the use of an asset is not appropriate. The revenue generated by an activity that
includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other than the consumption of the
economic benefits of the asset. For example, revenue is affected by other inputs and
processes, selling activities and changes in sales volumes and prices. The price
component of revenue may be affected by inflation, which has no bearing upon the way
in which an asset is consumed.

Changes in
Liabilities

Existing

Decommissioning,

Restoration

and

Other

66. The cost of property, plant and equipment may undergo changes subsequent to
its acquisition or construction on account of changes in liabilities, price adjustments,
changes in duties, changes in initial estimates of amounts provided for dismantling,
removing, restoration and similar factors and included in the cost of the asset in
accordance with paragraph 16. Such changes in cost should be accounted for in
accordance with paragraphs 67–68 below.
67. If the related asset is measured using the cost model:
(a)

subject to (b), changes in the liability should be added to, or deducted from,
the cost of the related asset in the current period.

(b)

the amount deducted from the cost of the asset should not exceed its
carrying amount. If a decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying amount
of the asset, the excess should be recognised immediately in the statement
of profit and loss.if the adjustment results in an addition to the cost of an
asset, the enterprise should consider whether this is an indication that the
new carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. If it is such
an indication, the enterprise should test the asset for impairment by
estimating its recoverable amount, and should account for any impairment
loss, in accordance with AS 28.

68. If the related asset is measured using the revaluation model:
changes in the liability alter the revaluation surplus or deficit previously
recognised on that asset, so that:
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(i)

a decrease in the liability should (subject to (b)) be credited directly to
revaluation surplus in the owners’ interest, except that it should be
recognised in the statement of profit and loss to the extent that it
reverses a revaluation deficit on the asset that was previously
recognised in the statement of profit and loss;

(ii)

an increase in the liability should be recognised in the statement of
profit and loss, except that it should be debited directly to revaluation
surplus in the owners’ interest to the extent of any credit balance
existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.

(b)

in the event that a decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying amount
that would have been recognised had the asset been carried under the cost
model, the excess should be recognised immediately in the statement of
profit and loss.

(c)

a change in the liability is an indication that the asset may have to be
revalued in order to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the
balance sheet date. Any such revaluation should be taken into account in
determining the amounts to be taken to the statement of profit and loss
and the owners’ interest under (a). If a revaluation is necessary, all assets
of that class should be revalued.

69. The adjusted depreciable amount of the asset is depreciated over its useful life.
Therefore, once the related asset has reached the end of its useful life, all
subsequent changes in the liability should be recognised in the statement of profit
and loss as they occur. This applies under both the cost model and the revaluation
model.

Impairment
70. To determine whether an item of property, plant and equipment is impaired, an
enterprise applies AS 28, Impairment of Assets. AS 28 explains how an enterprise reviews
the carrying amount of its assets, how it determines the recoverable amount of an asset,
and when it recognises, or reverses the recognition of, an impairment loss.

Compensation for Impairment
71. Compensation from third parties for items of property, plant and equipment
that were impaired, lost or given up should be included in the statement of profit
and loss when the compensation becomes receivable.
72. Impairments or losses of items of property, plant and equipment, related claims for
or payments of compensation from third parties and any subsequent purchase or
construction of replacement assets are separate economic events and are accounted for
separately as follows:
(a)

impairments of items of property, plant and equipment are recognised in
accordance with AS 28;

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

III-52

Accounting Pronouncements

(b) derecognition of items of property, plant and equipment retired or disposed of
is determined in accordance with this Standard;
(c)

compensation from third parties for items of property, plant and equipment that
were impaired, lost or given up is included in determining profit or loss when it
becomes receivable; and

(d) the cost of items of property, plant and equipment restored, purchased or
constructed as replacements is determined in accordance with this Standard.

Retirements
73. Items of property, plant and equipment retired from active use and held for
disposal should be stated at the lower of their carrying amount and net realisable
value. Any write-down in this regard should be recognised immediately in the
statement of profit and loss.

Derecognition
74. The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment should be
derecognised
(a)

on disposal; or

(b)

when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

75. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and
equipment should be included in the statement of profit and loss when the item is
derecognised (unless AS 19, Leases, requires otherwise on a sale and leaseback).
Gains should not be classified as revenue, as defined in AS 9, Revenue Recognition.
76. However, an enterprise that in the course of its ordinary activities, routinely
sells items of property, plant and equipment that it had held for rental to others
should transfer such assets to inventories at their carrying amount when they cease
to be rented and become held for sale. The proceeds from the sale of such assets
should be recognised in revenue in accordance with AS 9, Revenue Recognition.
77. The disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment may occur in a variety of
ways (e.g. by sale, by entering into a finance lease or by donation). In determining the
date of disposal of an item, an enterprise applies the criteria in AS 9 for recognising
revenue from the sale of goods. AS 19, Leases, applies to disposal by a sale and
leaseback.
78. If, under the recognition principle in paragraph 7, an enterprise recognises in the
carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of a replacement
for part of the item, then it derecognises the carrying amount of the replaced part
regardless of whether the replaced part had been depreciated separately. If it is not
practicable for an enterprise to determine the carrying amount of the replaced part, it
may use the cost of the replacement as an indication of what the cost of the replaced part
was at the time it was acquired or constructed.
79. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and
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equipment should be determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
80. The consideration receivable on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in accordance with the principles enunciated in AS 9.

Disclosure
81. The financial statements should disclose, for each class of property, plant and
equipment:
(a)

the measurement bases (i.e., cost model or revaluation model) used for
determining the gross carrying amount;

(b)

the depreciation methods used;

(c)

the useful lives or the depreciation rates used. In case the useful lives or the
depreciation rates used are different from those specified in the statute
governing the enterprise, it should make a specific mention of that fact;

(d)

the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated
with accumulated impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the
period; and

(e)

a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the
period showing:
(i)

additions;

(ii)

assets retired from active use and held for disposal;

(iii) acquisitions through business combinations;
(iv) increases or decreases resulting from revaluations under paragraphs
34, 42 and 43 and from impairment losses recognised or reversed
directly in revaluation surplus in accordance with AS 28;
(v)

impairment losses recognised in the statement of profit and loss in
accordance with AS 28;

(vi) impairment losses reversed in the statement of profit and loss in
accordance with AS 28;
(vii) depreciation;
(viii) the net exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial
statements of a non-integral foreign operation in accordance with AS
11, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates; and
(ix) other changes.
82. The financial statements should also disclose:
(a)

the existence and amounts of restrictions on title, and property, plant and
equipment pledged as security for liabilities;

(b)

the amount of expenditure recognised in the carrying amount of an item of
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property, plant and equipment in the course of its construction;

(c)

the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment;

(d)

if it is not disclosed separately on the face of the statement of profit and
loss, the amount of compensation from third parties for items of property,
plant and equipment that were impaired, lost or given up that is included
in the statement of profit and loss; and

(e)

the amount of assets retired from active use and held for disposal.

83. Selection of the depreciation method and estimation of the useful life of assets are
matters of judgement. Therefore, disclosure of the methods adopted and the estimated
useful lives or depreciation rates provides users of financial statements with information
that allows them to review the policies selected by management and enables
comparisons to be made with other enterprises. For similar reasons, it is necessary to
disclose:
(a)

depreciation, whether recognised in the statement of profit and loss or as a part
of the cost of other assets, during a period; and

(b) accumulated depreciation at the end of the period.
84. In accordance with AS 5, an enterprise discloses the nature and effect of a change in
an accounting estimate that has an effect in the current period or is expected to have an
effect in subsequent periods. For property, plant and equipment, such disclosure may
arise from changes in estimates with respect to:
(a)

residual values;

(b) the estimated costs of dismantling, removing or restoring items of property,
plant and equipment;
(c)

useful lives; and

(d) depreciation methods.
85. If items of property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, the
following should be disclosed:
(a)

the effective date of the revaluation;

(b)

whether an independent valuer was involved;

(c)

the methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating fair values
of the items;

(d)

the extent to which fair values of the items were determined directly by
reference to observable prices in an active market or recent market
transactions on arm’s length terms or were estimated using other valuation
techniques; and

(e)

the revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any
restrictions on the distribution of the balance to shareholders.
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86. In accordance with AS 28, an enterprise discloses information on impaired property,
plant and equipment in addition to the information required by paragraph 81 (e), (iv), (v)
and (vi).
87. An enterprise is encouraged to disclose the following:
(a) the carrying amount of temporarily idle property, plant and equipment;
(b) the gross carrying amount of any fully depreciated property, plant and
equipment that is still in use;
(c) for each revalued class of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount
that would have been recognised had the assets been carried under the cost
model;
(d) the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment retired from active use
and not held for disposal.

Transitional Provisions

88. Where an entity has in past recognized an expenditure in the statement of profit
and loss which is eligible to be included as a part of the cost of a project for
construction of property, plant and equipment in accordance with the requirements
of paragraph 9, it may do so retrospectively for such a project. The effect of such
retrospective application of this requirement, should be recognised net-of-tax in
revenue reserves.
89. The requirements of paragraphs 26-28 regarding the initial measurement of an
item of property, plant and equipment acquired in an exchange of assets transaction
should be applied prospectively only to transactions entered into after this Standard
becomes mandatory.
90. On the date of this Standard becoming mandatory, the spare parts, which
hitherto were being treated as inventory under AS 2, Valuation of Inventories, and
are now required to be capitalised in accordance with the requirements of this
Standard, should be capitalised at their respective carrying amounts. The spare parts
so capitalised should be depreciated over their remaining useful lives prospectively
as per the requirements of this Standard.
91. The requirements of paragraph 32 and paragraphs 34 – 44 regarding the
revaluation model should be applied prospectively. In case, on the date of this
Standard becoming mandatory, an enterprise does not adopt the revaluation model
as its accounting policy but the carrying amount of item(s) of property, plant and
equipment reflects any previous revaluation it should adjust the amount
outstanding in the revaluation reserve against the carrying amount of that item.
However, the carrying amount of that item should never be less than residual value.
Any excess of the amount outstanding as revaluation reserve over the carrying
amount of that item should be adjusted in revenue reserves.
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AS 11 ∗: The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to the
1

Statements of Accounting Standards and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Various Entities’.]

Objective
An enterprise may carry on activities involving foreign exchange in two ways. It may have
transactions in foreign currencies or it may have foreign operations. In order to include
foreign currency transactions and foreign operations in the financial statements of an
enterprise, transactions must be expressed in the enterprise’s reporting currency and the
financial statements of foreign operations must be translated into the enterprise’s
reporting currency.
The principal issues in accounting for foreign currency transactions and foreign
operations are to decide which exchange rate to use and how to recognise in the financial
statements the financial effect of changes in exchange rates.

Scope
1.

This Standard should be applied:
(a)

in accounting for transactions in foreign currencies; and

(b) in translating the financial statements of foreign operations.
2. This Standard also deals with accounting for foreign currency transactions in the
nature of forward exchange contracts. 2

∗Originally issued in 1989 and revised in 1994. The standard was revised again in 2003 and came
into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004 and is mandatory in
nature from that date. The revised Standard supersedes Accounting Standard (AS) 11, Accounting
for the Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (1994), except that in respect of accounting
for transactions in foreign currencies entered into by the reporting enterprise itself or through its
branches before the date this Standard comes into effect, AS 11 (1994) will continue to be
applicable.

1

Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
2 This Standard is applicable to exchange differences on all forward exchange contracts including
those entered into to hedge the foreign currency risk of existing assets and liabilities and is not
applicable to exchange difference arising on forward exchange contracts entered into to hedge the
foreign currency risk of future transactions in respect of which a firm commitments are made or
which are highly probable forecast transactions. A ‘firm commitment’ is a binding agreement for
the exchange of a specified quantity of resources at a specified price on a specified future date or
dates and a ‘forecast transaction’ is an uncommitted but anticipated future transaction.
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3. This Standard does not specify the currency in which an enterprise presents its
financial statements. However, an enterprise normally uses the currency of the country in
which it is domiciled. If it uses a different currency, this Standard requires disclosure of
the reason for using that currency. This Standard also requires disclosure of the reason
for any change in the reporting currency.
4. This Standard does not deal with the restatement of an enterprise’s financial
statements from its reporting currency into another currency for the convenience of users
accustomed to that currency or for similar purposes.
5. This Standard does not deal with the presentation in a cash flow statement of cash
flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency and the translation of cash flows of a
foreign operation (see AS 3, Cash Flow Statements).
6. This Standard does not deal with exchange differences arising from foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs (see
paragraph 4(e) of AS 16, Borrowing Costs).

Definitions
7.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

7.1 Average rate is the mean of the exchange rates in force during a period.
7.2 Closing rate is the exchange rate at the balance sheet date.
7.3 Exchange difference is the difference resulting from reporting the same number
of units of a foreign currency in the reporting currency at different exchange rates.
7.4 Exchange rate is the ratio for exchange of two currencies.
7.5 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
7.6 Foreign currency is a currency other than the reporting currency of an
enterprise.
5

7.7 Foreign operation is a subsidiary 3, associate 4, joint venture or branch of the
reporting enterprise, the activities of which are based or conducted in a country
other than the country of the reporting enterprise.
7.8 Forward exchange contract means an agreement to exchange different
currencies at a forward rate.
7.9 Forward rate is the specified exchange rate for exchange of two currencies at a
specified future date.

3As

defined in AS 21, Consolidated Financial Statements.
defined in AS 23, Accounting for Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial
Statements.
5As defined in AS 27, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures.
4As
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7.10 Integral foreign operation is a foreign operation, the activities of which are an
integral part of those of the reporting enterprise.
7.11 Monetary items are money held and assets and liabilities to be received or paid
in fixed or determinable amounts of money.
7.12 Net investment in a non-integral foreign operation is the reporting enterprise’s
share in the net assets of that operation.
7.13 Non-integral foreign operation is a foreign operation that is not an integral
foreign operation.
7.14 Non-monetary items are assets and liabilities other than monetary items.
7.15 Reporting currency is the currency used in presenting the financial statements.

Foreign Currency Transactions
Initial Recognition
8. A foreign currency transaction is a transaction which is denominated in or requires
settlement in a foreign currency, including transactions arising when an enterprise either:
(a)

buys or sells goods or services whose price is denominated in a foreign
currency;

(b) borrows or lends funds when the amounts payable or receivable are
denominated in a foreign currency;
(c)

becomes a party to an unperformed forward exchange contract; or

(d) otherwise acquires or disposes of assets, or incurs or settles liabilities,
denominated in a foreign currency.
9. A foreign currency transaction should be recorded, on initial recognition in the
reporting currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate
between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of the
transaction.
10. For practical reasons, a rate that approximates the actual rate at the date of the
transaction is often used, for example, an average rate for a week or a month might be
used for all transactions in each foreign currency occurring during that period. However,
if exchange rates fluctuate significantly, the use of the average rate for a period is
unreliable.

Reporting at Subsequent Balance Sheet Dates
11. At each balance sheet date:
(a) foreign currency monetary items should be reported using the closing rate.
However, in certain circumstances, the closing rate may not reflect with
reasonable accuracy the amount in reporting currency that is likely to be
realised from, or required to disburse, a foreign currency monetary item at
the balance sheet date, e.g., where there are restrictions on remittances or
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where the closing rate is unrealistic and it is not possible to effect an
exchange of currencies at that rate at the balance sheet date. In such
circumstances, the relevant monetary item should be reported in the
reporting currency at the amount which is likely to be realised from, or
required to disburse, such item at the balance sheet date;
(b) non-monetary items which are carried in terms of historical cost
denominated in a foreign currency should be reported using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction; and
(c) non-monetary items which are carried at fair value or other similar
valuation denominated in a foreign currency should be reported using the
exchange rates that existed when the values were determined.
12. Cash, receivables, and payables are examples of monetary items. Fixed assets,
inventories, and investments in equity shares are examples of non-monetary items. The
carrying amount of an item is determined in accordance with the relevant Accounting
Standards. For example, certain assets may be measured at fair value or other similar
valuation (e.g., net realisable value) or at historical cost. Whether the carrying amount is
determined based on fair value or other similar valuation or at historical cost, the
amounts so determined for foreign currency items are then reported in the reporting
currency in accordance with this Standard. The contingent liability denominated in
foreign currency at the balance sheet date is disclosed by using the closing rate.

Recognition of Exchange Differences
13. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on
reporting an enterprise’s monetary items at rates different from those at which they
were initially recorded during the period, or reported in previous financial
statements, should be recognised as income or as expenses in the period in which
they arise, with the exception of exchange differences dealt with in accordance with
paragraph 15.
14. An exchange difference results when there is a change in the exchange rate between
the transaction date and the date of settlement of any monetary items arising from a
foreign currency transaction. When the transaction is settled within the same accounting
period as that in which it occurred, all the exchange difference is recognised in that
period. However, when the transaction is settled in a subsequent accounting period, the
exchange difference recognised in each intervening period up to the period of settlement
is determined by the change in exchange rates during that period.

Net Investment in a Non-integral Foreign Operation
15. Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that, in substance, forms part
of an enterprise’s net investment in a non-integral foreign operation should be
accumulated in a foreign currency translation reserve in the enterprise’s financial
statements until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they should be
recognised as income or as expenses in accordance with paragraph 31.
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16. An enterprise may have a monetary item that is receivable from, or payable to, a
non-integral foreign operation. An item for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, an extension to, or deduction from, the
enterprise’s net investment in that non-integral foreign operation. Such monetary items
may include long-term receivables or loans but do not include trade receivables or trade
payables.

Financial Statements of Foreign Operations
Classification of Foreign Operations
17. The method used to translate the financial statements of a foreign operation
depends on the way in which it is financed and operates in relation to the reporting
enterprise. For this purpose, foreign operations are classified as either “integral foreign
operations” or “non-integral foreign operations”.
18. A foreign operation that is integral to the operations of the reporting enterprise
carries on its business as if it were an extension of the reporting enterprise’s operations.
For example, a foreign operation might only sell goods imported from the reporting
enterprise and remit the proceeds to the reporting enterprise. In such cases, a change in
the exchange rate between the reporting currency and the currency in the country of
foreign operation has an almost immediate effect on the reporting enterprise’s cash flow
from operations. Therefore, the change in the exchange rate affects the individual
monetary items held by the foreign operation rather than the reporting enterprise’s net
investment in that operation.
19. In contrast, a non-integral foreign operation accumulates cash and other monetary
items, incurs expenses, generates income and perhaps arranges borrowings, all
substantially in its local currency. It may also enter into transactions in foreign currencies,
including transactions in the reporting currency. When there is a change in the exchange
rate between the reporting currency and the local currency, there is little or no direct
effect on the present and future cash flows from operations of either the non-integral
foreign operation or the reporting enterprise. The change in the exchange rate affects the
reporting enterprise’s net investment in the non-integral foreign operation rather than
the individual monetary and non-monetary items held by the non-integral foreign
operation.
20. The following are indications that a foreign operation is a non- integral foreign
operation rather than an integral foreign operation:
(a)

while the reporting enterprise may control the foreign operation, the activities
of the foreign operation are carried out with a significant degree of autonomy
from those of the reporting enterprise;

(b) transactions with the reporting enterprise are not a high proportion of the
foreign operation’s activities;
(c)

the activities of the foreign operation are financed mainly from its own
operations or local borrowings rather than from the reporting enterprise;
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(d) costs of labour, material and other components of the foreign operation’s
products or services are primarily paid or settled in the local currency rather
than in the reporting currency;
(e)

the foreign operation’s sales are mainly in currencies other than the reporting
currency;

(f)

cash flows of the reporting enterprise are insulated from the day-to-day
activities of the foreign operation rather than being directly affected by the
activities of the foreign operation;

(g) sales prices for the foreign operation’s products are not primarily responsive on
a short-term basis to changes in exchange rates but are determined more by
local competition or local government regulation; and
(h) there is an active local sales market for the foreign operation’s products,
although there also might be significant amounts of exports.
The appropriate classification for each operation can, in principle, be established from
factual information related to the indicators listed above. In some cases, the classification
of a foreign operation as either a non- integral foreign operation or an integral foreign
operation of the reporting enterprise may not be clear, and judgement is necessary to
determine the appropriate classification.

Integral Foreign Operations
21. The financial statements of an integral foreign operation should be translated
using the principles and procedures in paragraphs 8 to 16 as if the transactions of
the foreign operation had been those of the reporting enterprise itself.
22. The individual items in the financial statements of the foreign operation are
translated as if all its transactions had been entered into by the reporting enterprise itself.
The cost and depreciation of tangible fixed assets is translated using the exchange rate at
the date of purchase of the asset or, if the asset is carried at fair value or other similar
valuation, using the rate that existed on the date of the valuation. The cost of inventories
is translated at the exchange rates that existed when those costs were incurred. The
recoverable amount or realisable value of an asset is translated using the exchange rate
that existed when the recoverable amount or net realisable value was determined. For
example, when the net realisable value of an item of inventory is determined in a foreign
currency, that value is translated using the exchange rate at the date as at which the net
realisable value is determined. The rate used is therefore usually the closing rate. An
adjustment may be required to reduce the carrying amount of an asset in the financial
statements of the reporting enterprise to its recoverable amount or net realisable value
even when no such adjustment is necessary in the financial statements of the foreign
operation. Alternatively, an adjustment in the financial statements of the foreign
operation may need to be reversed in the financial statements of the reporting enterprise.
23. For practical reasons, a rate that approximates the actual rate at the date of the
transaction is often used, for example, an average rate for a week or a month might be
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used for all transactions in each foreign currency occurring during that period. However,
if exchange rates fluctuate significantly, the use of the average rate for a period is
unreliable.

Non-integral Foreign Operations
24. In translating the financial statements of a non-integral foreign operation for
incorporation in its financial statements, the reporting enterprise should use the
following procedures:
(a) the assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, of the nonintegral foreign operation should be translated at the closing rate;
(b) income and expense items of the non-integral foreign operation should be
translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions; and
(c) all resulting exchange differences should be accumulated in a foreign
currency translation reserve until the disposal of the net investment.
25. For practical reasons, a rate that approximates the actual exchange rates, for
example an average rate for the period, is often used to translate income and expense
items of a foreign operation.
26. The translation of the financial statements of a non-integral foreign operation results
in the recognition of exchange differences arising from:
(a)

translating income and expense items at the exchange rates at the dates of
transactions and assets and liabilities at the closing rate;

(b) translating the opening net investment in the non-integral foreign operation at
an exchange rate different from that at which it was previously reported; and
(c)

other changes to equity in the non-integral foreign operation. These exchange
differences are not recognised as income or expenses for the period because
the changes in the exchange rates have little or no direct effect on the present
and future cash flows from operations of either the non-integral foreign
operation or the reporting enterprise. When a non- integral foreign operation is
consolidated but is not wholly owned, accumulated exchange differences arising
from translation and attributable to minority interests are allocated to, and
reported as part of, the minority interest in the consolidated balance sheet.

27. Any goodwill or capital reserve arising on the acquisition of a non- integral foreign
operation is translated at the closing rate in accordance with paragraph 24.
28. A contingent liability disclosed in the financial statements of a non- integral foreign
operation is translated at the closing rate for its disclosure in the financial statements of
the reporting enterprise.
29. The incorporation of the financial statements of a non-integral foreign operation in
those of the reporting enterprise follows normal consolidation procedures, such as the
elimination of intra-group balances and intra- group transactions of a subsidiary (see AS
21, Consolidated Financial Statements, and AS 27, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint
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Ventures). However, an exchange difference arising on an intra-group monetary item,
whether short-term or long-term, cannot be eliminated against a corresponding amount
arising on other intra-group balances because the monetary item represents a
commitment to convert one currency into another and exposes the reporting enterprise
to a gain or loss through currency fluctuations. Accordingly, in the consolidated financial
statements of the reporting enterprise, such an exchange difference continues to be
recognised as income or an expense or, if it arises from the circumstances described in
paragraph 15, it is accumulated in a foreign currency translation reserve until the disposal
of the net investment.
30. When the financial statements of a non-integral foreign operation are drawn up to a
different reporting date from that of the reporting enterprise, the non-integral foreign
operation often prepares, for purposes of incorporation in the financial statements of the
reporting enterprise, statements as at the same date as the reporting enterprise. When it
is impracticable to do this, AS 21, Consolidated Financial Statements, allows the use of
financial statements drawn up to a different reporting date provided that the difference is
no greater than six months and adjustments are made for the effects of any significant
transactions or other events that occur between the different reporting dates. In such a
case, the assets and liabilities of the non-integral foreign operation are translated at the
exchange rate at the balance sheet date of the non-integral foreign operation and
adjustments are made when appropriate for significant movements in exchange rates up
to the balance sheet date of the reporting enterprises in accordance with AS 21. The same
approach is used in applying the equity method to associates and in applying
proportionate consolidation to joint ventures in accordance with AS 23, Accounting for
Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial Statements and AS 27, Financial
Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures.

Disposal of a Non-integral Foreign Operation
31. On the disposal of a non-integral foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences which have been deferred and which relate to that
operation should be recognised as income or as expenses in the same period in
which the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.
32. An enterprise may dispose of its interest in a non-integral foreign operation through
sale, liquidation, repayment of share capital, or abandonment of all, or part of, that
operation. The payment of a dividend forms part of a disposal only when it constitutes a
return of the investment. In the case of a partial disposal, only the proportionate share of
the related accumulated exchange differences is included in the gain or loss. A writedown of the carrying amount of a non-integral foreign operation does not constitute a
partial disposal. Accordingly, no part of the deferred foreign exchange gain or loss is
recognised at the time of a write-down.
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Change in the Classification of a Foreign Operation
33. When there is a change in the classification of a foreign operation, the
translation procedures applicable to the revised classification should be applied
from the date of the change in the classification.
34. The consistency principle requires that foreign operation once classified as integral
or non-integral is continued to be so classified. However, a change in the way in which a
foreign operation is financed and operates in relation to the reporting enterprise may
lead to a change in the classification of that foreign operation. When a foreign operation
that is integral to the operations of the reporting enterprise is reclassified as a nonintegral foreign operation, exchange differences arising on the translation of nonmonetary assets at the date of the reclassification are accumulated in a foreign currency
translation reserve. When a non-integral foreign operation is reclassified as an integral
foreign operation, the translated amounts for non-monetary items at the date of the
change are treated as the historical cost for those items in the period of change and
subsequent periods. Exchange differences which have been deferred are not recognised
as income or expenses until the disposal of the operation.

All Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
Tax Effects of Exchange Differences
35. Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions and exchange differences arising
on the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations may have associated
tax effects which are accounted for in accordance with AS 22, Accounting for Taxes on
Income.

Forward Exchange Contracts 6
36. An enterprise may enter into a forward exchange contract or another financial
instrument that is in substance a forward exchange contract, which is not intended
for trading or speculation purposes, to establish the amount of the reporting
currency required or available at the settlement date of a transaction. The premium
or discount arising at the inception of such a forward exchange contract should be
amortised as expense or income over the life of the contract. Exchange differences
on such a contract should be recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the
reporting period in which the exchange rates change. Any profit or loss arising on
cancellation or renewal of such a forward exchange contract should be recognised as
income or as expense for the period.
37. The risks associated with changes in exchange rates may be mitigated by entering
into forward exchange contracts. Any premium or discount arising at the inception of a
forward exchange contract is accounted for separately from the exchange differences on
the forward exchange contract. The premium or discount that arises on entering into the

6

See footnote 2.
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contract is measured by the difference between the exchange rate at the date of the
inception of the forward exchange contract and the forward rate specified in the contract.
Exchange difference on a forward exchange contract is the difference between (a) the
foreign currency amount of the contract translated at the exchange rate at the reporting
date, or the settlement date where the transaction is settled during the reporting period,
and (b) the same foreign currency amount translated at the latter of the date of inception
of the forward exchange contract and the last reporting date.
38. A gain or loss on a forward exchange contract to which paragraph 36 does not
apply should be computed by multiplying the foreign currency amount of the
forward exchange contract by the difference between the forward rate available at
the reporting date for the remaining maturity of the contract and the contracted
forward rate (or the forward rate last used to measure a gain or loss on that contract
for an earlier period). The gain or loss so computed should be recognised in the
statement of profit and loss for the period. The premium or discount on the forward
exchange contract is not recognised separately.
39. In recording a forward exchange contract intended for trading or speculation
purposes, the premium or discount on the contract is ignored and at each balance sheet
date, the value of the contract is marked to its current market value and the gain or loss
on the contract is recognised.

Disclosure
40. An enterprise should disclose:
(a) the amount of exchange differences included in the net profit or loss for the
period; and
(b) net exchange differences accumulated in foreign currency translation
reserve as a separate component of shareholders’ funds, and a
reconciliation of the amount of such exchange differences at the beginning
and end of the period.
41. When the reporting currency is different from the currency of the country in
which the enterprise is domiciled, the reason for using a different currency should be
disclosed. The reason for any change in the reporting currency should also be
disclosed.
42. When there is a change in the classification of a significant foreign operation,
an enterprise should disclose:
(a) the nature of the change in classification;
(b) the reason for the change;
(c) the impact of the change in classification on shareholders’ funds; and
(d) the impact on net profit or loss for each prior period presented had the
change in classification occurred at the beginning of the earliest period
presented.
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43. The effect on foreign currency monetary items or on the financial statements of a
foreign operation of a change in exchange rates occurring after the balance sheet date is
disclosed in accordance with AS 4, Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance
Sheet Date.
44. Disclosure is also encouraged of an enterprise’s foreign currency risk management
policy.

Transitional Provisions
45. On the first time application of this Standard, if a foreign branch is classified as
a non-integral foreign operation in accordance with the requirements of this
Standard, the accounting treatment prescribed in paragraphs 33 and 34 of the
Standard in respect of change in the classification of a foreign operation should be
applied.

Paragraphs 46 and 46A for Companies
46 7 In respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 7 thDecember, 2006 and
8

ending on or before 31st March, 2011, at the option of the enterprise (such option to be
irrevocable and to be exercised retrospectively for such accounting period, from the date
this transitional provision comes into force or the first date on which the concerned
foreign currency monetary item is acquired, whichever is later, and applied to all such
foreign currency monetary items), exchange differences arising on reporting of long-term
foreign currency monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially
recorded during the period, or reported in previous financial statements, in so far as they
relate to the acquisition of a depreciable capital asset, can be added to or deducted from
the cost of the asset and shall be depreciated over the balance life of the asset, and in
other cases, can be accumulated in a “Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation
Difference Account” in the enterprise’s financial statements and amortized over the
balance period of such long-term asset/ liability but not beyond 31st March, 2011, by
recognition as income or expense in each of such periods, with the exception of exchange
differences dealt with in accordance with paragraph 15. For the purposes of exercise of
this option, an asset or liability shall be designated as a long-term foreign currency
monetary item, if the asset or liability is expressed in a foreign currency and has a term of
12 months or more at the date of origination of the asset or liability. Any difference
pertaining to accounting periods which commenced on or after 7th December, 2006,
Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, inserted this paragraph by Notification dated
31st March, 2009, which is relevant for companies. Necessary process is being followed to make
this paragraph with subsequent modifications indicated in footnote 8 below applicable to noncorporate entities also.

7

31st March, 2011” was substituted by “31st March, 2012” by Notification dated 11th May, 2011,
published by Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India. Thereafter, “31st March, 2012” was
substituted by “31st March, 2020” by Notification dated 29th December, 2011, published by
Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India.
8
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previously recognized in the profit and loss account before the exercise of the option
shall be reversed in so far as it relates to the acquisition of a depreciable capital asset by
addition or deduction from the cost of the asset and in other cases by transfer to
“Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation Difference Account” in both cases, by debit
or credit, as the case may be, to the general reserve. If the option stated in this paragraph
is exercised, disclosure shall be made of the fact of such exercise of such option and of
the amount remaining to be amortized in the financial statements of the period in which
such option is exercised and in every subsequent period so long as any exchange
difference remains unamortized.”
46A. 9(1) In respect of accounting periods commencing on or after the 1st April, 2011, for
an enterprise which had earlier exercised the option under paragraph 46 and at the
option of any other enterprise (such option to be irrevocable and to be applied to all such
foreign currency monetary items), the exchange differences arising on reporting of longterm foreign currency monetary items at rates different from those at which they were
initially recorded during the period, or reported in previous financial statements, in so far
as they relate to the acquisition of a depreciable capital asset, can be added to or
deducted from the cost of the asset and shall be depreciated over the balance life of the
asset, and in other cases, can be accumulated in a ‘‘Foreign Currency Monetary Item
Translation Difference Account” in the enterprise’s financial statements and amortized
over the balance period of such long term asset or liability, by recognition as income or
expense in each of such periods, with the exception of exchange differences dealt with in
accordance with the provisions of paragraph 15 of the said rules.
(2) To exercise the option referred to in sub-paragraph (1), an asset or liability shall be
designated as a long-term foreign currency monetary item, if the asset or liability is
expressed in a foreign currency and has a term of twelve months or more at the date of
origination of the asset or the liability:
Provided that the option exercised by the enterprise shall disclose the fact of such option
and of the amount remaining to be amortized in the financial statements of the period in
which such option is exercised and in every subsequent period so long as any exchange
difference remains unamortized.”

Paragraphs 46 for entities other than Companies
46 7 (1) In respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 7 thDecember, 2006
(such option to be irrevocable and to be applied to all such foreign currency monetary

Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, inserted this paragraph by Notification dated
29th December, 2011, which is relevant for companies. Necessary process is being followed to
make this paragraph applicable to non-corporate entities also.
9

Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, inserted this paragraph by Notification dated
31st March, 2009, which is relevant for companies. Necessary process is being followed to make
this paragraph with subsequent modifications indicated in footnote 8 below applicable to noncorporate entities also.
7
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items), the exchange differences arising on reporting of long-term foreign currency
monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during
the period, or reported in previous financial statements, in so far as they relate to the
acquisition of a depreciable capital asset, can be added to or deducted from the cost of
the asset and should be depreciated over the balance life of the asset, and in other cases,
can be accumulated in a “Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation Difference
Account” in the enterprise’s financial statements and amortized over the balance period
of such long-term asset or liability, by recognition as income or expense in each of such
periods, with the exception of exchange differences dealt with in accordance with the
provisions of paragraph 15.
(2) To exercise the option referred to in sub-paragraph (1), an asset or liability shall be
designated as a long-term foreign currency monetary item, if the asset or liability is
expressed in a foreign currency and has a term of twelve months or more at the date of
origination of the asset or the liability:
Provided that the option exercised by the enterprise should disclose the fact of such
option and of the amount remaining to be amortized in the financial statements of the
period in which such option is exercised and in every subsequent period so long as any
exchange difference remains unamortized.”
Clarification on Para 46A of notification number G.S.R. 914(E) dated 29.12.2011 on
Accounting Standard 11 relating to "The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates"
The Ministry has received several representations from industry associations that Para 6 of
AS 11 and Para 4(e) of AS 16 are posing problems in proper implementation of Para 46A of
AS 11 inserted vide notification 914(E) dated 29.12.2011. In order to resolve the problems
faced by industry, MCA had further clarified vide Circular No. 25/2012 dated 09.08.2012
that Para 6 of AS 11 and Para 4(e) of the AS 16 shall not apply to a company which is
applying clause Para 46A of AS 11.
Announcement
Presentation of Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation Difference Account
In the Revised Schedule VI ! format, no line item has been specified for the presentation of
“Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation Difference Account (FCMITDA)”. Therefore,
the Council of the Institute at its 324th meeting held on March 24-26, 2013 at New Delhi,
considered the issue regarding the presentation of the FCMITDA in the balance sheet.
The Council noted that the Framework on Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements issued by ICAI defines an asset as follows:
“An asset is a resource controlled by the enterprise as a result of past events from which
future economic benefits are expected to flow to the enterprise.”

!Now

Schedule III to the Companies Act 2013.
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Where the balance in FCMITDA represents foreign currency translation loss, it does not
meet the above definition of ‘asset’ as it is neither a resource nor any future economic
benefit would flow to the entity therefrom. Accordingly, such balance cannot be reflected as
an asset.
Accordingly, the Council decided that debit or credit balance in FCMITDA should be
shown on the “Equity and Liabilities” side of the balance sheet under the head
‘Reserves and Surplus’ as a separate line item.

AS 12 ∗ – Accounting for Government Grants
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of the Preface to the Statements of
1

Accounting Standards and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’.]

Introduction
1. This Standard deals with accounting for government grants. Government grants are
sometimes called by other names such as subsidies, cash incentives, duty drawbacks, etc.
2.

This Standard does not deal with:
(i)

the special problems arising in accounting for government grants in financial
statements reflecting the effects of changing prices or in supplementary
information of a similar nature;

(ii)

government assistance other than in the form of government grants;

(iii) government participation in the ownership of the enterprise.

Definitions
3.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

3.1 Government refers to government, government agencies and similar bodies
whether local, national or international.
3.2 Government grants are assistance by government in cash or kind to an
enterprise for past or future compliance with certain conditions. They exclude those
forms of government assistance which cannot reasonably have a value placed upon
them and transactions with government which cannot be distinguished from the
normal trading transactions of the enterprise.

issued in 1991
is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
∗

1Attention
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Explanation
4. The receipt of government grants by an enterprise is significant for preparation of
the financial statements for two reasons. Firstly, if a government grant has been received,
an appropriate method of accounting therefor is necessary. Secondly, it is desirable to
give an indication of the extent to which the enterprise has benefited from such grant
during the reporting period. This facilitates comparison of an enterprise’s financial
statements with those of prior periods and with those of other enterprises.

Accounting Treatment of Government Grants
5.

Capital Approach versus Income Approach

5.1 Two broad approaches may be followed for the accounting treatment of government
grants: the ‘capital approach’, under which a grant is treated as part of shareholders’
funds, and the ‘income approach’, under which a grant is taken to income over one or
more periods.
5.2 Those in support of the ‘capital approach’ argue as follows:
(i)

Many government grants are in the nature of promoters’ contribution, i.e., they
are given with reference to the total investment in an undertaking or by way of
contribution towards its total capital outlay and no repayment is ordinarily
expected in the case of such grants. These should, therefore, be credited directly
to shareholders’ funds.

(ii)

It is inappropriate to recognise government grants in the profit and loss
statement, since they are not earned but represent an incentive provided by
government without related costs.

5.3 Arguments in support of the ‘income approach’ are as follows:
(i)

Government grants are rarely gratuitous. The enterprise earns them through
compliance with their conditions and meeting the envisaged obligations. They
should therefore be taken to income and matched with the associated costs
which the grant is intended to compensate.

(ii)

As income tax and other taxes are charges against income, it is logical to deal
also with government grants, which are an extension of fiscal policies, in the
profit and loss statement.

(iii) In case grants are credited to shareholders’ funds, no correlation is done
between the accounting treatment of the grant and the accounting treatment of
the expenditure to which the grant relates.
5.4 It is generally considered appropriate that accounting for government grant should
be based on the nature of the relevant grant. Grants which have the characteristics similar
to those of promoters’ contribution should be treated as part of shareholders’ funds.
Income approach may be more appropriate in the case of other grants.
5.5 It is fundamental to the ‘income approach’ that government grants be recognised in the
profit and loss statement on a systematic and rational basis over the periods necessary to
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match them with the related costs. Income recognition of government grants on a receipts
basis is not in accordance with the accrual accounting assumption (see Accounting Standard
(AS) 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies).
5.6 In most cases, the periods over which an enterprise recognises the costs or expenses
related to a government grant are readily ascertainable and thus grants in recognition of
specific expenses are taken to income in the same period as the relevant expenses.
6.

Recognition of Government Grants

6.1 Government grants available to the enterprise are considered for inclusion in
accounts:
(i)

where there is reasonable assurance that the enterprise will comply with the
conditions attached to them; and

(ii)

where such benefits have been earned by the enterprise and it is reasonably
certain that the ultimate collection will be made.

Mere receipt of a grant is not necessarily a conclusive evidence that conditions attaching
to the grant have been or will be fulfilled.
6.2 An appropriate amount in respect of such earned benefits, estimated on a prudent
basis, is credited to income for the year even though the actual amount of such benefits
may be finally settled and received after the end of the relevant accounting period.
6.3 A contingency related to a government grant, arising after the grant has been
recognised, is treated in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 4, Contingencies and
Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date. 2
6.4 In certain circumstances, a government grant is awarded for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to an enterprise rather than as an incentive to undertake
specific expenditure. Such grants may be confined to an individual enterprise and may
not be available to a whole class of enterprises. These circumstances may warrant taking
the grant to income in the period in which the enterprise qualifies to receive it, as an
extraordinary item if appropriate (see Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for
the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies).
6.5 Government grants may become receivable by an enterprise as compensation for
expenses or losses incurred in a previous accounting period. Such a grant is recognised in
the income statement of the period in which it becomes receivable, as an extraordinary
item if appropriate (see Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period,
Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies).

2Pursuant

to AS 29, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, becoming mandatory,
all paragraphs of AS 4 that deal with contingencies stand withdrawn except to the extent they deal
with impairment of assets not covered by other Accounting Standards.
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Non-monetary Government Grants

7.1 Government grants may take the form of non-monetary assets, such as land or other
resources, given at concessional rates. In these circumstances, it is usual to account for
such assets at their acquisition cost. Non-monetary assets given free of cost are recorded
at a nominal value.
8.

Presentation of Grants Related to Specific Fixed Assets

8.1 Grants related to specific fixed assets are government grants whose primary
condition is that an enterprise qualifying for them should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire such assets. Other conditions may also be attached restricting the type
or location of the assets or the periods during which they are to be acquired or held.
8.2 Two methods of presentation in financial statements of grants (or the appropriate
portions of grants) related to specific fixed assets are regarded as acceptable alternatives.
8.3 Under one method, the grant is shown as a deduction from the gross value of the
asset concerned in arriving at its book value. The grant is thus recognised in the profit
and loss statement over the useful life of a depreciable asset by way of a reduced
depreciation charge. Where the grant equals the whole, or virtually the whole, of the cost
of the asset, the asset is shown in the balance sheet at a nominal value.
8.4 Under the other method, grants related to depreciable assets are treated as deferred
income which is recognised in the profit and loss statement on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful life of the asset. Such allocation to income is usually made over the
periods and in the proportions in which depreciation on related assets is charged. Grants
related to non-depreciable assets are credited to capital reserve under this method, as
there is usually no charge to income in respect of such assets. However, if a grant related
to a non-depreciable asset requires the fulfillment of certain obligations, the grant is
credited to income over the same period over which the cost of meeting such obligations
is charged to income. The deferred income is suitably disclosed in the balance sheet
pending its apportionment to profit and loss account. For example, in the case of a
company, it is shown after ‘Reserves and Surplus’ but before ‘Secured Loans’ with a
suitable description, e.g., ‘Deferred government grants’.
8.5 The purchase of assets and the receipt of related grants can cause major movements
in the cash flow of an enterprise. For this reason and in order to show the gross
investment in assets, such movements are often disclosed as separate items in the
statement of changes in financial position regardless of whether or not the grant is
deducted from the related asset for the purpose of balance sheet presentation.
9.

Presentation of Grants Related to Revenue

9.1 Grants related to revenue are sometimes presented as a credit in the profit and loss
statement, either separately or under a general heading such as ‘Other Income’.
Alternatively, they are deducted in reporting the related expense.
9.2 Supporters of the first method claim that it is inappropriate to net income and
expense items and that separation of the grant from the expense facilitates comparison
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with other expenses not affected by a grant. For the second method, it is argued that the
expense might well not have been incurred by the enterprise if the grant had not been
available and presentation of the expense without offsetting the grant may therefore be
misleading.
10. Presentation of Grants of the nature of Promoters’ contribution
10.1 Where the government grants are of the nature of promoters’ contribution, i.e., they
are given with reference to the total investment in an undertaking or by way of
contribution towards its total capital outlay (for example, central investment subsidy
scheme) and no repayment is ordinarily expected in respect thereof, the grants are
treated as capital reserve which can be neither distributed as dividend nor considered as
deferred income.
11. Refund of Government Grants
11.1 Government grants sometimes become refundable because certain conditions are
not fulfilled. A government grant that becomes refundable is treated as an extraordinary
item (see Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items
and Changes in Accounting Policies).
11.2 The amount refundable in respect of a government grant related to revenue is
applied first against any unamortised deferred credit remaining in respect of the grant. To
the extent that the amount refundable exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no
deferred credit exists, the amount is charged immediately to profit and loss statement.
11.3 The amount refundable in respect of a government grant related to a specific fixed
asset is recorded by increasing the book value of the asset or by reducing the capital
reserve or the deferred income balance, as appropriate, by the amount refundable. In the
first alternative, i.e., where the book value of the asset is increased, depreciation on the
revised book value is provided prospectively over the residual useful life of the asset.
11.4 Where a grant which is in the nature of promoters’ contribution becomes refundable,
in part or in full, to the government on non-fulfillment of some specified conditions, the
relevant amount recoverable by the government is reduced from the capital reserve.

12. Disclosure
12.1 The following disclosures are appropriate:
(i)

the accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the methods of
presentation in the financial statements;

(ii)

the nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial
statements, including grants of non-monetary assets given at a concessional
rate or free of cost.

Main Principles
13. Government grants should not be recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that (i) the enterprise will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the
grants will be received.
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14. Government grants related to specific fixed assets should be presented in the
balance sheet by showing the grant as a deduction from the gross value of the assets
concerned in arriving at their book value. Where the grant related to a specific fixed
asset equals the whole, or virtually the whole, of the cost of the asset, the asset
should be shown in the balance sheet at a nominal value. Alternatively, government
grants related to depreciable fixed assets may be treated as deferred income which
should be recognised in the profit and loss statement on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful life of the asset, i.e., such grants should be allocated to income
over the periods and in the proportions in which depreciation on those assets is
charged. Grants related to non-depreciable assets should be credited to capital
reserve under this method. However, if a grant related to a non-depreciable asset
requires the fulfillment of certain obligations, the grant should be credited to
income over the same period over which the cost of meeting such obligations is
charged to income. The deferred income balance should be separately disclosed in
the financial statements.
15. Government grants related to revenue should be recognised on a systematic
basis in the profit and loss statement over the periods necessary to match them with
the related costs which they are intended to compensate. Such grants should either
be shown separately under ‘other income’ or deducted in reporting the related
expense.
16. Government grants of the nature of promoters’ contribution should be credited
to capital reserve and treated as a part of shareholders’ funds.
17. Government grants in the form of non-monetary assets, given at a concessional
rate, should be accounted for on the basis of their acquisition cost. In case a nonmonetary asset is given free of cost, it should be recorded at a nominal value.
18. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
incurred in a previous accounting period or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the enterprise with no further related costs, should be
recognised and disclosed in the profit and loss statement of the period in which they
are receivable, as an extraordinary item if appropriate (see Accounting Standard
(AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in
Accounting Policies).
19. A contingency related to a government grant, arising after the grant has been
recognised, should be treated in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 4,
Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date.3
20. Government grants that become refundable should be accounted for as an
extraordinary item (see Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the
Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies).

3See

footnote 2.
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21. The amount refundable in respect of a grant related to revenue should be
applied first against any unamortised deferred credit remaining in respect of the
grant. To the extent that the amount refundable exceeds any such deferred credit, or
where no deferred credit exists, the amount should be charged to profit and loss
statement. The amount refundable in respect of a grant related to a specific fixed
asset should be recorded by increasing the book value of the asset or by reducing the
capital reserve or the deferred income balance, as appropriate, by the amount
refundable. In the first alternative, i.e., where the book value of the asset is
increased, depreciation on the revised book value should be provided prospectively
over the residual useful life of the asset.
22. Government grants in the nature of promoters’ contribution that become
refundable should be reduced from the capital reserve.

Disclosure
23. The following should be disclosed:
(i)

the accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the
methods of presentation in the financial statements;

(ii) the nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial
statements, including grants of non-monetary assets given at a
concessional rate or free of cost.

AS 13 ∗: Accounting for Investments
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of the Preface to the Statements of
1

Accounting Standards and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’.]

Introduction
1. This Standard deals with accounting for investments in the financial statements of
enterprises and related disclosure requirements. 2
2.

This Standard does not deal with:

This standard was issued in 1993. A limited revision to this Standard was made in 2003, pursuant to
which paragraph 2 (d) of this Standard has been revised to include ‘and venture capital funds’.
1Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
2Shares, debentures and other securities held as stock-in-trade (i.e., for sale in the ordinary course
of business) are not ‘investments’ as defined in this Standard. However, the manner in which they
are accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements is quite similar to that applicable in
respect of current investments. Accordingly, the provisions of this Standard, to the extent that they
relate to current investments, are also applicable to shares, debentures and other securities held as
stock-in-trade, with suitable modifications as specified in this Standard.
∗

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

III-76
(a)

Accounting Pronouncements
the bases for recognition of interest, dividends and rentals earned on
investments which are covered by Accounting Standard 9 on Revenue
Recognition;

(b) operating or finance leases;
(c)

investments of retirement benefit plans and life insurance enterprises; and

(d) mutual funds and venture capital funds and/or the related asset management
companies, banks and public financial institutions formed under a Central or
State Government Act or so declared under the Companies Act, 1956.

Definitions
3.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings assigned:

3.1 Investments are assets held by an enterprise for earning income by way of
dividends, interest, and rentals, for capital appreciation, or for other benefits to the
investing enterprise. Assets held as stock-in-trade are not ‘investments’.
3.2 A current investment is an investment that is by its nature readily realisable
and is intended to be held for not more than one year from the date on which such
investment is made.
3.3 A long term investment is an investment other than a current investment.
3.4 An investment property is an investment in land or buildings that are not
intended to be occupied substantially for use by, or in the operations of, the
investing enterprise.
3.5 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between a
knowledgeable, willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length
transaction. Under appropriate circumstances, market value or net realisable value
provides an evidence of fair value.
3.6 Market value is the amount obtainable from the sale of an investment in an
open market, net of expenses necessarily to be incurred on or before disposal.

Explanation
Forms of Investments
4. Enterprises hold investments for diverse reasons. For some enterprises, investment
activity is a significant element of operations, and assessment of the performance of the
enterprise may largely, or solely, depend on the reported results of this activity.
5. Some investments have no physical existence and are represented merely by
certificates or similar documents (e.g., shares) while others exist in a physical form (e.g.,
buildings). The nature of an investment may be that of a debt, other than a short or long
term loan or a trade debt, representing a monetary amount owing to the holder and
usually bearing interest; alternatively, it may be a stake in the results and net assets of an
enterprise such as an equity share. Most investments represent financial rights, but some
are tangible, such as certain investments in land or buildings.
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6. For some investments, an active market exists from which a market value can be
established. For such investments, market value generally provides the best evidence of
fair value. For other investments, an active market does not exist and other means are
used to determine fair value.

Classification of Investments
7. Enterprises present financial statements that classify fixed assets, investments and
current assets into separate categories. Investments are classified as long term
investments and current investments. Current investments are in the nature of current
assets, although the common practice may be to include them in investments. 3
8. Investments other than current investments are classified as long term investments,
even though they may be readily marketable.

Cost of Investments
9. The cost of an investment includes acquisition charges such as brokerage, fees and
duties.
10. If an investment is acquired, or partly acquired, by the issue of shares or other
securities, the acquisition cost is the fair value of the securities issued (which, in
appropriate cases, may be indicated by the issue price as determined by statutory
authorities). The fair value may not necessarily be equal to the nominal or par value of the
securities issued.
11. If an investment is acquired in exchange, or part exchange, for another asset, the
acquisition cost of the investment is determined by reference to the fair value of the asset
given up. It may be appropriate to consider the fair value of the investment acquired if it
is more clearly evident.
12. Interest, dividends and rentals receivables in connection with an investment are
generally regarded as income, being the return on the investment. However, in some
circumstances, such inflows represent a recovery of cost and do not form part of income.
For example, when unpaid interest has accrued before the acquisition of an interest-bearing
investment and is therefore included in the price paid for the investment, the subsequent
receipt of interest is allocated between pre-acquisition and post-acquisition periods; the
pre-acquisition portion is deducted from cost. When dividends on equity are declared from
pre-acquisition profits, a similar treatment may apply. If it is difficult to make such an
allocation except on an arbitrary basis, the cost of investment is normally reduced by
dividends receivable only if they clearly represent a recovery of a part of the cost.
13. When right shares offered are subscribed for, the cost of the right shares is added to
the carrying amount of the original holding. If rights are not subscribed for but are sold in
the market, the sale proceeds are taken to the profit and loss statement. However, where

3

Shares, debentures and other securities held for sale in the ordinary course of business are
disclosed as ‘stock-in-trade’ under the head ‘current assets’.
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the investments are acquired on cum-right basis and the market value of investments
immediately after their becoming ex-right is lower than the cost for which they were
acquired, it may be appropriate to apply the sale proceeds of rights to reduce the
carrying amount of such investments to the market value.

Carrying Amount of Investments
Current Investments
14. The carrying amount for current investments is the lower of cost and fair value. In
respect of investments for which an active market exists, market value generally provides
the best evidence of fair value. The valuation of current investments at lower of cost and
fair value provides a prudent method of determining the carrying amount to be stated in
the balance sheet.
15. Valuation of current investments on overall (or global) basis is not considered
appropriate. Sometimes, the concern of an enterprise may be with the value of a category
of related current investments and not with each individual investment, and accordingly
the investments may be carried at the lower of cost and fair value computed categorywise
(i.e. equity shares, preference shares, convertible debentures, etc.). However, the more
prudent and appropriate method is to carry investments individually at the lower of cost
and fair value.
16. For current investments, any reduction to fair value and any reversals of such
reductions are included in the profit and loss statement.

Long-term Investments
17. Long-term investments are usually carried at cost. However, when there is a decline,
other than temporary, in the value of a long term investment, the carrying amount is
reduced to recognise the decline. Indicators of the value of an investment are obtained
by reference to its market value, the investee’s assets and results and the expected cash
flows from the investment. The type and extent of the investor’s stake in the investee are
also taken into account. Restrictions on distributions by the investee or on disposal by the
investor may affect the value attributed to the investment.
18. Long-term investments are usually of individual importance to the investing
enterprise. The carrying amount of long-term investments is therefore determined on an
individual investment basis.
19. Where there is a decline, other than temporary, in the carrying amounts of long term
investments, the resultant reduction in the carrying amount is charged to the profit and
loss statement. The reduction in carrying amount is reversed when there is a rise in the
value of the investment, or if the reasons for the reduction no longer exist.

Investment Properties
20. An investment property is accounted for in accordance with cost model as prescribed
in Accounting Standard (AS) 10, Property, Plant and Equipment. The cost of any shares in
a co-operative society or a company, the holding of which is directly related to the right
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to hold the investment property, is added to the carrying amount of the investment
property.

Disposal of Investments
21. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the carrying amount and the
disposal proceeds, net of expenses, is recognised in the profit and loss statement.
22. When disposing of a part of the holding of an individual investment, the carrying
amount to be allocated to that part is to be determined on the basis of the average
carrying amount of the total holding of the investment. 4

Reclassification of Investments
23. Where long-term investments are reclassified as current investments, transfers are
made at the lower of cost and carrying amount at the date of transfer.
24. Where investments are reclassified from current to long-term, transfers are made at
the lower of cost and fair value at the date of transfer.

Disclosure
25. The following disclosures in financial statements in relation to investments are
appropriate:
(a)

the accounting policies for the determination of carrying amount of
investments;

(b) the amounts included in profit and loss statement for:

(c)

(i)

interest, dividends (showing separately dividends from subsidiary
companies), and rentals on investments showing separately such income
from long term and current investments. Gross income should be stated,
the amount of income tax deducted at source being included under
Advance Taxes Paid;

(ii)

profits and losses on disposal of current investments and changes in
carrying amount of such investments;

(iii) profits and losses on disposal of long term investments and changes in the
carrying amount of such investments;

significant restrictions on the right of ownership, realisability of investments or
the remittance of income and proceeds of disposal;

(d) the aggregate amount of quoted and unquoted investments, giving the
aggregate market value of quoted investments;

4

In respect of shares, debentures and other securities held as stock-in-trade, the cost of stocks
disposed of is determined by applying an appropriate cost formula (e.g. first-in, first-out; average
cost, etc.). These cost formulae are the same as those specified in Accounting Standard (AS) 2, in
respect of Valuation of Inventories.
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other disclosures as specifically required by the relevant statute governing the
enterprise.

Main Principles

Classification of Investments
26. An enterprise should disclose current investments and long term investments
distinctly in its financial statements.
27. Further classification of current and long-term investments should be as
specified in the statute governing the enterprise. In the absence of a statutory
requirement, such further classification should disclose, where applicable,
investments in:
(a) Government or Trust securities
(b) Shares, debentures or bonds
(c) Investment properties
(d) Others—specifying nature.

Cost of Investments
28. The cost of an investment should include acquisition charges such as brokerage, fees
and duties.
29. If an investment is acquired, or partly acquired, by the issue of shares or other
securities, the acquisition cost should be the fair value of the securities issued (which in
appropriate cases may be indicated by the issue price as determined by statutory
authorities). The fair value may not necessarily be equal to the nominal or par value of
the securities issued. If an investment is acquired in exchange for another asset, the
acquisition cost of the investment should be determined by reference to the fair value of
the asset given up. Alternatively, the acquisition cost of the investment may be
determined with reference to the fair value of the investment acquired if it is more clearly
evident.
Investment Properties
30. An enterprise holding investment properties should account for them in
accordance with cost model as prescribed in AS 10, Property, Plant and Equipment.

Carrying Amount of Investments
31. Investments classified as current investments should be carried in the financial
statements at the lower of cost and fair value determined either on an individual
investment basis or by category of investment, but not on an overall (or global)
basis.
32. Investments classified as long term investments should be carried in the
financial statements at cost. However, provision for diminution shall be made to
recognise a decline, other than temporary, in the value of the investments, such
reduction being determined and made for each investment individually.
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Changes in Carrying Amounts of Investments
33. Any reduction in the carrying amount and any reversals of such reductions
should be charged or credited to the profit and loss statement.

Disposal of Investments
34. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the carrying amount and
net disposal proceeds should be charged or credited to the profit and loss statement.

Disclosure
35. The following information should be disclosed in the financial statements:
(a) the accounting
investments;

policies

for

determination

of

carrying

amount

of

(b) classification of investments as specified in paragraphs 26 and 27 above;
(c) the amounts included in profit and loss statement for:
(i)

interest, dividends (showing separately dividends from subsidiary
companies), and rentals on investments showing separately such
income from long term and current investments. Gross income should
be stated, the amount of income tax deducted at source being included
under Advance Taxes Paid;

(ii) profits and losses on disposal of current investments and changes in
the carrying amount of such investments; and
(iii) profits and losses on disposal of long term investments and changes in
the carrying amount of such investments;
(d) significant restrictions on the right of ownership, realisability
investments or the remittance of income and proceeds of disposal;

of

(e) the aggregate amount of quoted and unquoted investments, giving the
aggregate market value of quoted investments;
(f)

other disclosures as specifically required by the relevant statute governing
the enterprise.

Effective Date
36. This Accounting Standard comes into effect for financial statements covering
periods commencing on or after April 1, 1995.

AS 16 ∗ : Borrowing Costs
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to the

∗

Issued in 2000.
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Statements of Accounting Standards and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Various Entities’.]

Objective
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment for borrowing
costs.

Scope
1.

This Standard should be applied in accounting for borrowing costs.

2. This Standard does not deal with the actual or imputed cost of owners’ equity,
including preference share capital not classified as a liability.

Definitions
3.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

3.1 Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred by an enterprise in
connection with the borrowing of funds.
3.2 A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale.

Explanation:
What constitutes a substantial period of time primarily depends on the facts and
circumstances of each case. However, ordinarily, a period of twelve months is
considered as substantial period of time unless a shorter or longer period can be
justified on the basis of facts and circumstances of the case. In estimating the
period, time which an asset takes, technologically and commercially, to get it ready
for its intended use or sale is considered.
4.

Borrowing costs may include:
(a)

interest and commitment charges on bank borrowings and other short-term and
long-term borrowings;

(b) amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings;
(c)

amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of
borrowings;

(d) finance charges in respect of assets acquired under finance leases or under
other similar arrangements; and
(e)

exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent
that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

1Attention

is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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Explanation:
Exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowing and considered as
borrowing costs are those exchange differences which arise on the amount of principal of
the foreign currency borrowings to the extent of the difference between interest on local
currency borrowings and interest on foreign currency borrowings. Thus, the amount of
exchange difference not exceeding the difference between interest on local currency
borrowings and interest on foreign currency borrowings is considered as borrowings cost
to be accounted for under this Standard and the remaining exchange difference, if any, is
accounted for under AS 11, The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. For this
purpose, the interest rate for the local currency borrowings is considered as that rate at
which the enterprise would have raised the borrowings locally had the enterprise not
decided to raise the foreign currency borrowings.
The application of this explanation is illustrated in the Illustration attached to the
Standard.
5. Examples of qualifying assets are manufacturing plants, power generation facilities,
inventories that require a substantial period of time to bring them to a saleable condition,
and investment properties. Other investments, and those inventories that are routinely
manufactured or otherwise produced in large quantities on a repetitive basis over a short
period of time, are not qualifying assets. Assets that are ready for their intended use or
sale when acquired also are not qualifying assets.

Recognition
6. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset should be capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation should be
determined in accordance with this Standard. Other borrowing costs should be
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
7. Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset when it is
probable that they will result in future economic benefits to the enterprise and the costs
can be measured reliably. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalisation
8. The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are those borrowing costs that would have been avoided
if the expenditure on the qualifying asset had not been made. When an enterprise
borrows funds specifically for the purpose of obtaining a particular qualifying asset, the
borrowing costs that directly relate to that qualifying asset can be readily identified.
9. It may be difficult to identify a direct relationship between particular borrowings and
a qualifying asset and to determine the borrowings that could otherwise have been
avoided. Such a difficulty occurs, for example, when the financing activity of an enterprise
is co-ordinated centrally or when a range of debt instruments are used to borrow funds at
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varying rates of interest and such borrowings are not readily identifiable with a specific
qualifying asset. As a result, the determination of the amount of borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset is
often difficult and the exercise of judgement is required.
10. To the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation on that
asset should be determined as the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing
during the period less any income on the temporary investment of those borrowings.
11. The financing arrangements for a qualifying asset may result in an enterprise
obtaining borrowed funds and incurring associated borrowing costs before some or all of
the funds are used for expenditure on the qualifying asset. In such circumstances, the
funds are often temporarily invested pending their expenditure on the qualifying asset. In
determining the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation during a period, any
income earned on the temporary investment of those borrowings is deducted from the
borrowing costs incurred.
12. To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation should be determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditure on that asset. The capitalisation rate should be the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the enterprise that are
outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The amount of borrowing costs capitalised
during a period should not exceed the amount of borrowing costs incurred during
that period.

Excess of the Carrying Amount of the Qualifying Asset over
Recoverable Amount
13. When the carrying amount or the expected ultimate cost of the qualifying asset
exceeds its recoverable amount or net realisable value, the carrying amount is written
down or written off in accordance with the requirements of other Accounting Standards.
In certain circumstances, the amount of the write-down or write-off is written back in
accordance with those other Accounting Standards.

Commencement of Capitalisation
14. The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset
should commence when all the following conditions are satisfied:
(a) expenditure for the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset is being incurred;
(b) borrowing costs are being incurred; and
(c) activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress.
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15. Expenditure on a qualifying asset includes only such expenditure that has resulted in
payments of cash, transfers of other assets or the assumption of interest-bearing
liabilities.
Expenditure is reduced by any progress payments received and grants
received in connection with the asset (see Accounting Standard 12, Accounting for
Government Grants). The average carrying amount of the asset during a period, including
borrowing costs previously capitalised, is normally a reasonable approximation of the
expenditure to which the capitalisation rate is applied in that period.
16. The activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale encompass
more than the physical construction of the asset. They include technical and
administrative work prior to the commencement of physical construction, such as the
activities associated with obtaining permits prior to the commencement of the physical
construction. However, such activities exclude the holding of an asset when no
production or development that changes the asset’s condition is taking place. For
example, borrowing costs incurred while land is under development are capitalised during
the period in which activities related to the development are being undertaken. However,
borrowing costs incurred while land acquired for building purposes is held without any
associated development activity do not qualify for capitalisation.

Suspension of Capitalisation
17. Capitalisation of borrowing costs should be suspended during extended periods
in which active development is interrupted.
18. Borrowing costs may be incurred during an extended period in which the activities
necessary to prepare an asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted. Such costs are
costs of holding partially completed assets and do not qualify for capitalisation.
However, capitalisation of borrowing costs is not normally suspended during a period
when substantial technical and administrative work is being carried out. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is also not suspended when a temporary delay is a necessary part of the
process of getting an asset ready for its intended use or sale. For example, capitalisation
continues during the extended period needed for inventories to mature or the extended
period during which high water levels delay construction of a bridge, if such high water
levels are common during the construction period in the geographic region involved.

Cessation of Capitalisation
19. Capitalisation of borrowing costs should cease when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.
20. An asset is normally ready for its intended use or sale when its physical construction or
production is complete even though routine administrative work might still continue. If
minor modifications, such as the decoration of a property to the user’s specification, are all
that are outstanding, this indicates that substantially all the activities are complete.
21. When the construction of a qualifying asset is completed in parts and a
completed part is capable of being used while construction continues for the other
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parts, capitalisation of borrowing costs in relation to a part should cease when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare that part for its intended use or
sale are complete.
22. A business park comprising several buildings, each of which can be used individually,
is an example of a qualifying asset for which each part is capable of being used while
construction continues for the other parts. An example of a qualifying asset that needs to
be complete before any part can be used is an industrial plant involving several processes
which are carried out in sequence at different parts of the plant within the same site, such
as a steel mill.

Disclosure
23. The financial statements should disclose:
(a) the accounting policy adopted for borrowing costs; and
(b) the amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the period.

Illustration
Note: This illustration does not form part of the Accounting Standard. Its purpose is to
assist in clarifying the meaning of paragraph 4(e) of the Standard.

Facts:
XYZ Ltd. has taken a loan of USD 10,000 on April 1, 20X3, for a specific project at an interest
rate of 5% p.a., payable annually. On April 1, 20X3, the exchange rate between the currencies
was ` 45 per USD. The exchange rate, as at March 31, 20X4, is ` 48 per USD. The
corresponding amount could have been borrowed by XYZ Ltd. in local currency at an interest
rate of 11 per cent annum as on April 1, 20X3.
The following computation would be made to determine the amount of borrowing costs
for the purposes of paragraph 4(e) of AS 16:
(i)

Interest for the period = USD 10,000 × 5% × ` 48/USD = ` 24,000.

(ii)

Increase in the liability towards the principal amount = USD 10,000 × (48–45) = `
30,000.

(iii) Interest that would have resulted if the loan was taken in Indian currency = USD
10,000 × 45 × 11% = ` 49,500.
(iv) Difference between interest on local currency borrowing and foreign currency
borrowing = ` 49,500 – ` 24,000 = ` 25,500.
Therefore, out of ` 30,000 increase in the liability towards principal amount, only ` 25,500
will be considered as the borrowing cost. Thus, total borrowing cost would be ` 49,500
being the aggregate of interest of ` 24,000 on foreign currency borrowings [covered by
paragraph 4(a) of AS 16] plus the exchange difference to the extent of difference between
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interest on local currency borrowing and interest on foreign currency borrowing of
` 25,500. Thus, ` 49,500 would be considered as the borrowing cost to be accounted for
as per AS 16 and the remaining ` 4,500 would be considered as the exchange difference
to be accounted for as per Accounting Standard (AS) 11, The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates.
In the above example, if the interest rate on local currency borrowings is assumed to be
13% instead of 11%, the entire exchange difference of ` 30,000 would be considered as
borrowing costs, since in that case the difference between the interest on local currency
borrowings and foreign currency borrowings [i.e. ` 34,500 (` 58,500 – ` 24,000)] is more
than the exchange difference of ` 30,000. Therefore, in such a case, the total borrowing
cost would be ` 54,000 (` 24,000 + ` 30,000) which would be accounted for under AS 16
and there would be no exchange difference to be accounted for under AS 11, The Effects
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

AS 17: Segment Reporting
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to the
1

Statements of Accounting Standards and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Various Entities’.]
This Accounting Standard is not mandatory for Small and Medium Sized Companies and
Small and Medium Sized non-corporate entities falling in Level II and Level III
‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’. Such Entities are however
encouraged to comply with this Standard.
Objective
The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for reporting financial information,
about the different types of products and services an enterprise produces and the
different geographical areas in which it operates. Such information helps users of
financial statements:
(a)

better understand the performance of the enterprise;

(b) better assess the risks and returns of the enterprise; and
(c)

make more informed judgements about the enterprise as a whole. Many enterprises
provide groups of products and services or operate in geographical areas that are
subject to differing rates of profitability, opportunities for growth, future prospects,
and risks. Information about different types of products and services of an
enterprise and its operations in different geographical areas - often called segment

1Attention

is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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information - is relevant to assessing the risks and returns of a diversified or multilocational enterprise but may not be determinable from the aggregated data.
Therefore, reporting of segment information is widely regarded as necessary for
meeting the needs of users of financial statements.

Scope
1. This Standard should be applied in presenting general purpose financial
statements.
2. The requirements of this Standard are also applicable in case of consolidated
financial statements.
3. An enterprise should comply with the requirements of this Standard fully and
not selectively.
4. If a single financial report contains both consolidated financial statements and
the separate financial statements of the parent, segment information need be
presented only on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. In the context
of reporting of segment information in consolidated financial statements, the
references in this Standard to any financial statement items should construed to be
the relevant item as appearing in the consolidated financial statements.

Definitions
5.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

5.1 A business segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is
engaged in providing an individual product or service or a group of related products
or services and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
other business segments. Factors that should be considered in determining whether
products or services are related include:
(a) the nature of the products or services; (b)
processes;

the nature of the production

(c) the type or class of customers for the products or services;
(d) the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services; and
(e) if applicable, the nature of the regulatory environment, for example,
banking, insurance, or public utilities.
5.2 A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is
engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment
and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components
operating in other economic environments. Factors that should be considered in
identifying geographical segments include:
(a) similarity of economic and political conditions;
(b) relationships between operations in different geographical areas;
(c) proximity of operations;
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(d) special risks associated with operations in a particular area;
(e) exchange control regulations; and
(f)

the underlying currency risks.

5.3 A reportable segment is a business segment or a geographical segment
identified on the basis of foregoing definitions for which segment information is
required to be disclosed by this Standard.
5.4 Enterprise revenue is revenue from sales to external customers as reported in
the statement of profit and loss.
5.5 Segment revenue is the aggregate of
(i)

the portion of enterprise revenue that is directly attributable to a segment,

(ii) the relevant portion of enterprise revenue that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis to a segment, and
(iii) revenue from transactions with other segments of the enterprise.
Segment revenue does not include:
(a) extraordinary items as defined in AS 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period,
Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies;
(b) interest or dividend income, including interest earned on advances or loans
to other segments unless the operations of the segment are primarily of a
financial nature; and
(c) gains on sales of investments or on extinguishment of debt unless the
operations of the segment are primarily of a financial nature.
5.6 Segment expense is the aggregate of
(i)

the expense resulting from the operating activities of a segment that is
directly attributable to the segment, and

(ii) the relevant portion of enterprise expense that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis to the segment, including expense relating to transactions
with other segments of the enterprise.
Segment expense does not include:
(a) extraordinary items as defined in AS 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period,
Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies;
(b) interest expense, including interest incurred on advances or loans from
other segments, unless the operations of the segment are primarily of a
financial nature;
Explanation:
The interest expense relating to overdrafts and other operating liabilities
identified to a particular segment are not included as a part of the segment
expense unless the operations of the segment are primarily of a financial
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nature or unless the interest is included as a part of the cost of inventories.
In case interest is included as a part of the cost of inventories where it is so
required as per AS 16, Borrowing Costs, read with AS 2, Valuation of
Inventories, and those inventories are part of segment assets of a particular
segment, such interest is considered as a segment expense. In this case, the
amount of such interest and the fact that the segment result has been
arrived at after considering such interest is disclosed by way of a note to
the segment result.

(c) losses on sales of investments or losses on extinguishment of debt unless
the operations of the segment are primarily of a financial nature;
(d) income tax expense; and
(e) general administrative expenses, head-office expenses, and other expenses
that arise at the enterprise level and relate to the enterprise as a whole.
However, costs are sometimes incurred at the enterprise level on behalf of a
segment. Such costs are part of segment expense if they relate to the
operating activities of the segment and if they can be directly attributed or
allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.
5.7 Segment result is segment revenue less segment expense.
5.8 Segment assets are those operating assets that are employed by a segment in its
operating activities and that either are directly attributable to the segment or can
be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.
If the segment result of a segment includes interest or dividend income, its segment
assets include the related receivables, loans, investments, or other interest or
dividend generating assets.
Segment assets do not include income tax assets.
Segment assets are determined after deducting related allowances/ provisions that
are reported as direct offsets in the balance sheet of the enterprise.
5.9 Segment liabilities are those operating liabilities that result from the operating
activities of a segment and that either are directly attributable to the segment or
can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.
If the segment result of a segment includes interest expense, its segment liabilities
include the related interest-bearing liabilities.
Segment liabilities do not include income tax liabilities.
5.10 Segment accounting policies are the accounting policies adopted for preparing
and presenting the financial statements of the enterprise as well as those accounting
policies that relate specifically to segment reporting.
6. The factors in paragraph 5 for identifying business segments and geographical
segments are not listed in any particular order.
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7. A single business segment does not include products and services with significantly
differing risks and returns. While there may be dissimilarities with respect to one or
several of the factors listed in the definition of business segment, the products and
services included in a single business segment are expected to be similar with respect to
a majority of the factors.
8. Similarly, a single geographical segment does not include operations in economic
environments with significantly differing risks and returns. A geographical segment may
be a single country, a group of two or more countries, or a region within a country.
9. The risks and returns of an enterprise are influenced both by the geographical
location of its operations (where its products are produced or where its service rendering
activities are based) and also by the location of its customers (where its products are sold
or services are rendered). The definition allows geographical segments to be based on
either:
(a)

the location of production or service facilities and other assets of an enterprise;
or

(b) the location of its customers.
10. The organisational and internal reporting structure of an enterprise will normally
provide evidence of whether its dominant source of geographical risks results from the
location of its assets (the origin of its sales) or the location of its customers (the
destination of its sales). Accordingly, an enterprise looks to this structure to determine
whether its geographical segments should be based on the location of its assets or on the
location of its customers.
11. Determining the composition of a business or geographical segment involves a
certain amount of judgement. In making that judgement, enterprise management takes
into account the objective of reporting financial information by segment as set forth in
this Standard and the qualitative characteristics of financial statements as identified in the
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The qualitative characteristics include the
relevance, reliability, and comparability over time of financial information that is reported
about the different groups of products and services of an enterprise and about its
operations in particular geographical areas, and the usefulness of that information for
assessing the risks and returns of the enterprise as a whole.
12. The predominant sources of risks affect how most enterprises are organised and
managed. Therefore, the organisational structure of an enterprise and its internal
financial reporting system are normally the basis for identifying its segments.
13. The definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets and segment
liabilities include amounts of such items that are directly attributable to a segment and
amounts of such items that can be allocated to a segment on a reasonable basis. An
enterprise looks to its internal financial reporting system as the starting point for
identifying those items that can be directly attributed, or reasonably allocated, to
segments. There is thus a presumption that amounts that have been identified with
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segments for internal financial reporting purposes are directly attributable or reasonably
allocable to segments for the purpose of measuring the segment revenue, segment
expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities of reportable segments.
14. In some cases, however, a revenue, expense, asset or liability may have been
allocated to segments for internal financial reporting purposes on a basis that is
understood by enterprise management but that could be deemed arbitrary in the
perception of external users of financial statements. Such an allocation would not
constitute a reasonable basis under the definitions of segment revenue, segment
expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities in this Statement. Conversely, an
enterprise may choose not to allocate some item of revenue, expense, asset or liability for
internal financial reporting purposes, even though a reasonable basis for doing so exists.
Such an item is allocated pursuant to the definitions of segment revenue, segment
expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities in this Standard.
15. Examples of segment assets include current assets that are used in the operating
activities of the segment and tangible and intangible fixed assets. If a particular item of
depreciation or amortisation is included in segment expense, the related asset is also
included in segment assets. Segment assets do not include assets used for general
enterprise or head-office purposes. Segment assets include operating assets shared by
two or more segments if a reasonable basis for allocation exists. Segment assets include
goodwill that is directly attributable to a segment or that can be allocated to a segment
on a reasonable basis, and segment expense includes related amortisation of goodwill. If
segment assets have been revalued subsequent to acquisition, then the measurement of
segment assets reflects those revaluations.
16. Examples of segment liabilities include trade and other payables, accrued liabilities,
customer advances, product warranty provisions, and other claims relating to the
provision of goods and services. Segment liabilities do not include borrowings and other
liabilities that are incurred for financing rather than operating purposes. The liabilities of
segments whose operations are not primarily of a financial nature do not include
borrowings and similar liabilities because segment result represents an operating, rather
than a net-of-financing, profit or loss. Further, because debt is often issued at the headoffice level on an enterprise-wide basis, it is often not possible to directly attribute, or
reasonably allocate, the interest- bearing liabilities to segments.
17. Segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets and segment liabilities are
determined before intra-enterprise balances and intra-enterprise transactions are
eliminated as part of the process of preparation of enterprise financial statements, except
to the extent that such intra-enterprise balances and transactions are within a single
segment.
18. While the accounting policies used in preparing and presenting the financial
statements of the enterprise as a whole are also the fundamental segment accounting
policies, segment accounting policies include, in addition, policies that relate specifically
to segment reporting, such as identification of segments, method of pricing intersegment transfers, and basis for allocating revenues and expenses to segments.
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Identifying Reportable Segments
Primary and Secondary Segment Reporting Formats
19. The dominant source and nature of risks and returns of an enterprise should
govern whether its primary segment reporting format will be business segments or
geographical segments. If the risks and returns of an enterprise are affected
predominantly by differences in the products and services it produces, its primary
format for reporting segment information should be business segments, with
secondary information reported geographically. Similarly, if the risks and returns of
the enterprise are affected predominantly by the fact that it operates in different
countries or other geographical areas, its primary format for reporting segment
information should be geographical segments, with secondary information reported
for groups of related products and services.
20. Internal organisation and management structure of an enterprise and its system
of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and the chief executive
officer should normally be the basis for identifying the predominant source and
nature of risks and differing rates of return facing the enterprise and, therefore, for
determining which reporting format is primary and which is secondary, except as
provided in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) below:
(a) if risks and returns of an enterprise are strongly affected both by
differences in the products and services it produces and by differences in
the geographical areas in which it operates, as evidenced by a ‘matrix
approach’ to managing the company and to reporting internally to the
board of directors and the chief executive officer, then the enterprise should
use business segments as its primary segment reporting format and
geographical segments as its secondary reporting format; and
(b) if internal organisational and management structure of an enterprise and
its system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and the
chief executive officer are based neither on individual products or services
or groups of related products/services nor on geographical areas, the
directors and management of the enterprise should determine whether the
risks and returns of the enterprise are related more to the products and
services it produces or to the geographical areas in which it operates and
should, accordingly, choose business segments or geographical segments as
the primary segment reporting format of the enterprise, with the other as
its secondary reporting format.
21. For most enterprises, the predominant source of risks and returns determines how
the enterprise is organised and managed. Organisational and management structure of
an enterprise and its internal financial reporting system normally provide the best
evidence of the predominant source of risks and returns of the enterprise for the purpose
of its segment reporting. Therefore, except in rare circumstances, an enterprise will report
segment information in its financial statements on the same basis as it reports internally
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to top management. Its predominant source of risks and returns becomes its primary
segment reporting format. Its secondary source of risks and returns becomes its
secondary segment reporting format.
22. A ‘matrix presentation’ — both business segments and geographical segments as
primary segment reporting formats with full segment disclosures on each basis -- will
often provide useful information if risks and returns of an enterprise are strongly affected
both by differences in the products and services it produces and by differences in the
geographical areas in which it operates. This Standard does not require, but does not
prohibit, a ‘matrix presentation’.
23. In some cases, organisation and internal reporting of an enterprise may have
developed along lines unrelated to both the types of products and services it produces,
and the geographical areas in which it operates. In such cases, the internally reported
segment data will not meet the objective of this Standard. Accordingly, paragraph 20(b)
requires the directors and management of the enterprise to determine whether the risks
and returns of the enterprise are more product/service driven or geographically driven
and to accordingly choose business segments or geographical segments as the primary
basis of segment reporting. The objective is to achieve a reasonable degree of
comparability with other enterprises, enhance understandability of the resulting
information, and meet the needs of investors, creditors, and others for information about
product/service-related and geographically-related risks and returns.

Business and Geographical Segments
24. Business and geographical segments of an enterprise for external reporting
purposes should be those organisational units for which information is reported to
the board of directors and to the chief executive officer for the purpose of evaluating
the unit’s performance and for making decisions about future allocations of
resources, except as provided in paragraph 25.
25. If internal organisational and management structure of an enterprise and its
system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and the chief
executive officer are based neither on individual products or services or groups of
related products/services nor on geographical areas, paragraph 20(b) requires that
the directors and management of the enterprise should choose either business
segments or geographical segments as the primary segment reporting format of the
enterprise based on their assessment of which reflects the primary source of the risks
and returns of the enterprise, with the other as its secondary reporting format. In
that case, the directors and management of the enterprise should determine its
business segments and geographical segments for external reporting purposes based
on the factors in the definitions in paragraph 5 of this Standard, rather than on the
basis of its system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and chief
executive officer, consistent with the following:
(a) if one or more of the segments reported internally to the directors and
management is a business segment or a geographical segment based on the
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factors in the definitions in paragraph 5 but others are not, sub-paragraph
(b) below should be applied only to those internal segments that do not
meet the definitions in paragraph 5 (that is, an internally reported segment
that meets the definition should not be further segmented);
(b) for those segments reported internally to the directors and management
that do not satisfy the definitions in paragraph 5, management of the
enterprise should look to the next lower level of internal segmentation that
reports information along product and service lines or geographical lines,
as appropriate under the definitions in paragraph 5; and
(c) if such an internally reported lower-level segment meets the definition of
business segment or geographical segment based on the factors in
paragraph 5, the criteria in paragraph 27 for identifying reportable
segments should be applied to that segment.
26. Under this Standard, most enterprises will identify their business and geographical
segments as the organisational units for which information is reported to the board of
the directors (particularly the non-executive directors, if any) and to the chief executive
officer (the senior operating decision maker, which in some cases may be a group of
several people) for the purpose of evaluating each unit’s performance and for making
decisions about future allocations of resources. Even if an enterprise must apply
paragraph 25 because its internal segments are not along product/service or
geographical lines, it will consider the next lower level of internal segmentation that
reports information along product and service lines or geographical lines rather than
construct segments solely for external reporting purposes. This approach of looking to
organisational and management structure of an enterprise and its internal financial
reporting system to identify the business and geographical segments of the enterprise for
external reporting purposes is sometimes called the ‘management approach’, and the
organisational components for which information is reported internally are sometimes
called ‘operating segments’.

Reportable Segments
27. A business segment or geographical segment should be identified as a
reportable segment if:
(a) its revenue from sales to external customers and from transactions with
other segments is 10 per cent or more of the total revenue, external and
internal, of all segments; or
(b) its segment result, whether profit or loss, is 10 per cent or more of (i)

the combined result of all segments in profit, or

(ii) the combined result of all segments in loss, whichever is greater in
absolute amount; or
(c) its segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all
segments.
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28. A business segment or a geographical segment which is not a reportable
segment as per paragraph 27, may be designated as a reportable segment despite its
size at the discretion of the management of the enterprise. If that segment is not
designated as a reportable segment, it should be included as an unallocated
reconciling item.
29. If total external revenue attributable to reportable segments constitutes less
than 75 per cent of the total enterprise revenue, additional segments should be
identified as reportable segments, even if they do not meet the 10 per cent
thresholds in paragraph 27, until at least 75 per cent of total enterprise revenue is
included in reportable segments.
30. The 10 per cent thresholds in this Standard are not intended to be a guide for
determining materiality for any aspect of financial reporting other than identifying
reportable business and geographical segments.
Illustration II attached to this Standard presents an illustration of the determination of
reportable segments as per paragraphs 27-29.
31. A segment identified as a reportable segment in the immediately preceding
period because it satisfied the relevant 10 per cent thresholds should continue to be
a reportable segment for the current period notwithstanding that its revenue, result,
and assets all no longer meet the 10 per cent thresholds.
32. If a segment is identified as a reportable segment in the current period because
it satisfies the relevant 10 per cent thresholds, preceding-period segment data that
is presented for comparative purposes should, unless it is impracticable to do so, be
restated to reflect the newly reportable segment as a separate segment, even if that
segment did not satisfy the 10 per cent thresholds in the preceding period.
Segment Accounting Policies
33. Segment information should be prepared in conformity with the accounting
policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the
enterprise as a whole.
34. There is a presumption that the accounting policies that the directors and
management of an enterprise have chosen to use in preparing the financial statements of
the enterprise as a whole are those that the directors and management believe are the
most appropriate for external reporting purposes. Since the purpose of segment
information is to help users of financial statements better understand and make more
informed judgements about the enterprise as a whole, this Standard requires the use, in
preparing segment information, of the accounting policies adopted for preparing and
presenting the financial statements of the enterprise as a whole. That does not mean,
however, that the enterprise accounting policies are to be applied to reportable segments
as if the segments were separate stand-alone reporting entities. A detailed calculation
done in applying a particular accounting policy at the enterprise-wide level may be
allocated to segments if there is a reasonable basis for doing so. Pension calculations, for
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example, often are done for an enterprise as a whole, but the enterprise-wide figures may
be allocated to segments based on salary and demographic data for the segments.

35. This Standard does not prohibit the disclosure of additional segment information
that is prepared on a basis other than the accounting policies adopted for the enterprise
financial statements provided that (a) the information is reported internally to the board
of directors and the chief executive officer for purposes of making decisions about
allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance and (b) the basis of
measurement for this additional information is clearly described.
36. Assets and liabilities that relate jointly to two or more segments should be
allocated to segments if, and only if, their related revenues and expenses also are
allocated to those segments.
37. The way in which asset, liability, revenue, and expense items are allocated to
segments depends on such factors as the nature of those items, the activities conducted
by the segment, and the relative autonomy of that segment. It is not possible or
appropriate to specify a single basis of allocation that should be adopted by all
enterprises; nor is it appropriate to force allocation of enterprise asset, liability, revenue,
and expense items that relate jointly to two or more segments, if the only basis for
making those allocations is arbitrary. At the same time, the definitions of segment
revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities are interrelated, and
the resulting allocations should be consistent. Therefore, jointly used assets and liabilities
are allocated to segments if, and only if, their related revenues and expenses also are
allocated to those segments. For example, an asset is included in segment assets if, and
only if, the related depreciation or amortisation is included in segment expense.

Disclosure

38. Paragraphs 39-46 specify the disclosures required for reportable segments for
primary segment reporting format of an enterprise. Paragraphs 47-51 identify the
disclosures required for secondary reporting format of an enterprise. Enterprises are
encouraged to make all of the primary-segment disclosures identified in paragraphs 3946 for each reportable secondary segment although paragraphs 47-51 require
considerably less disclosure on the secondary basis. Paragraphs 53-59 address several
other segment disclosure matters. Illustration III attached to this Standard illustrates the
application of these disclosure standards.
Explanation:

In case, by applying the definitions of ‘business segment’ and ‘geographical segment’, it
is concluded that there is neither more than one business segment nor more than one
geographical segment, segment information as per this Standard is not required to be
disclosed. However, the fact that there is only one ‘business segment’ and ‘geographical
segment’ is disclosed by way of a note.

Primary Reporting Format

39. The disclosure requirements in paragraphs 40-46 should be applied to each
reportable segment based on primary reporting format of an enterprise.
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40. An enterprise should disclose the following for each reportable segment:
(a) segment revenue, classified into segment revenue from sales to external
customers and segment revenue from transactions with other segments;
(b) segment result;
(c) total carrying amount of segment assets;
(d) total amount of segment liabilities;
(e) total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are
expected to be used during more than one period (tangible and intangible
fixed assets);
(f)

total amount of expense included in the segment result for depreciation
and amortisation in respect of segment assets for the period; and

(g) total amount of significant non-cash expenses, other than depreciation and
amortisation in respect of segment assets, that were included in segment
expense and, therefore, deducted in measuring segment result.
41. Paragraph 40 (b) requires an enterprise to report segment result. If an enterprise can
compute segment net profit or loss or some other measure of segment profitability other
than segment result, without arbitrary allocations, reporting of such amount(s) in addition
to segment result is encouraged. If that measure is prepared on a basis other than the
accounting policies adopted for the financial statements of the enterprise, the enterprise
will include in its financial statements a clear description of the basis of measurement.
42. An example of a measure of segment performance above segment result in the
statement of profit and loss is gross margin on sales. Examples of measures of segment
performance below segment result in the statement of profit and loss are profit or loss
from ordinary activities (either before or after income taxes) and net profit or loss.
43. Accounting Standard 5, ‘Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and
Changes in Accounting Policies’ requires that “when items of income and expense within
profit or loss from ordinary activities are of such size, nature or incidence that their
disclosure is relevant to explain the performance of the enterprise for the period, the
nature and amount of such items should be disclosed separately”. Examples of such items
include write- downs of inventories, provisions for restructuring, disposals of fixed assets
and long-term investments, legislative changes having retrospective application, litigation
settlements, and reversal of provisions. An enterprise is encouraged, but not required, to
disclose the nature and amount of any items of segment revenue and segment expense
that are of such size, nature, or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to explain the
performance of the segment for the period. Such disclosure is not intended to change the
classification of any such items of revenue or expense from ordinary to extraordinary or
to change the measurement of such items. The disclosure, however, does change the
level at which the significance of such items is evaluated for disclosure purposes from the
enterprise level to the segment level.
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44. An enterprise that reports the amount of cash flows arising from operating,
investing and financing activities of a segment need not disclose depreciation and
amortisation expense and non-cash expenses of such segment pursuant to subparagraphs (f) and (g) of paragraph 40.
45. AS 3, Cash Flow Statements, recommends that an enterprise present a cash flow
statement that separately reports cash flows from operating, investing and financing
activities. Disclosure of information regarding operating, investing and financing cash
flows of each reportable segment is relevant to understanding the enterprise’s overall
financial position, liquidity, and cash flows. Disclosure of segment cash flow is, therefore,
encouraged, though not required. An enterprise that provides segment cash flow
disclosures need not disclose depreciation and amortisation expense and non-cash
expenses pursuant to sub-paragraphs (f) and (g) of paragraph 40.
46. An enterprise should present a reconciliation between the information disclosed
for reportable segments and the aggregated information in the enterprise financial
statements. In presenting the reconciliation, segment revenue should be reconciled
to enterprise revenue; segment result should be reconciled to enterprise net profit or
loss; segment assets should be reconciled to enterprise assets; and segment
liabilities should be reconciled to enterprise liabilities.

Secondary Segment Information
47. Paragraphs 39-46 identify the disclosure requirements to be applied to each
reportable segment based on primary reporting format of an enterprise. Paragraphs 4851 identify the disclosure requirements to be applied to each reportable segment based
on secondary reporting format of an enterprise, as follows:
(a)

if primary format of an enterprise is business segments, the required secondaryformat disclosures are identified in paragraph 48;

(b) if primary format of an enterprise is geographical segments based on location of
assets (where the products of the enterprise are produced or where its service
rendering operations are based), the required secondary-format disclosures are
identified in paragraphs 49 and 50;
(c)

if primary format of an enterprise is geographical segments based on the
location of its customers (where its products are sold or services are rendered),
the required secondary-format disclosures are identified in paragraphs 49 and
51.

48. If primary format of an enterprise for reporting segment information is business
segments, it should also report the following information:
(a) segment revenue from external customers by geographical area based on
the geographical location of its customers, for each geographical segment
whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or more of
enterprise revenue;

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

III-100 Accounting Pronouncements
(b) the total carrying amount of segment assets by geographical location of
assets, for each geographical segment whose segment assets are 10 per cent
or more of the total assets of all geographical segments; and
(c) the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are
expected to be used during more than one period (tangible and intangible
fixed assets) by geographical location of assets, for each geographical
segment whose segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of
all geographical segments.
49. If primary format of an enterprise for reporting segment information is
geographical segments (whether based on location of assets or location of
customers), it should also report the following segment information for each
business segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or
more of enterprise revenue or whose segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the
total assets of all business segments:
(a) segment revenue from external customers;
(b) the total carrying amount of segment assets; and
(c) the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are
expected to be used during more than one period (tangible and intangible
fixed assets).
50. If primary format of an enterprise for reporting segment information is
geographical segments that are based on location of assets, and if the location of its
customers is different from the location of its assets, then the enterprise should also
report revenue from sales to external customers for each customer-based
geographical segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent
or more of enterprise revenue.
51. If primary format of an enterprise for reporting segment information is
geographical segments that are based on location of customers, and if the assets of
the enterprise are located in different geographical areas from its customers, then
the enterprise should also report the following segment information for each assetbased geographical segment whose revenue from sales to external customers or
segment assets are 10 per cent or more of total enterprise amounts:
(a) the total carrying amount of segment assets by geographical location of the
assets; and
(b) the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are
expected to be used during more than one period (tangible and intangible
fixed assets) by location of the assets.

Illustrative Segment Disclosures
52. Illustration III attached to this Standard Illustrates the disclosures for primary and
secondary formats that are required by this Standard.
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Other Disclosures
53. In measuring and reporting segment revenue from transactions with other
segments, inter-segment transfers should be measured on the basis that the
enterprise actually used to price those transfers. The basis of pricing inter-segment
transfers and any change therein should be disclosed in the financial statements.
54. Changes in accounting policies adopted for segment reporting that have a
material effect on segment information should be disclosed. Such disclosure should
include a description of the nature of the change, and the financial effect of the
change if it is reasonably determinable.
55. AS 5 requires that changes in accounting policies adopted by the enterprise should
be made only if required by statute, or for compliance with an accounting standard, or if
it is considered that the change would result in a more appropriate presentation of events
or transactions in the financial statements of the enterprise.
56. Changes in accounting policies adopted at the enterprise level that affect segment
information are dealt with in accordance with AS 5. AS 5 requires that any change in an
accounting policy which has a material effect should be disclosed. The impact of, and the
adjustments resulting from, such change, if material, should be shown in the financial
statements of the period in which such change is made, to reflect the effect of such
change. Where the effect of such change is not ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact
should be indicated. If a change is made in the accounting policies which has no material
effect on the financial statements for the current period but which is reasonably expected
to have a material effect in later periods, the fact of such change should be appropriately
disclosed in the period in which the change is adopted.
57. Some changes in accounting policies relate specifically to segment reporting.
Examples include changes in identification of segments and changes in the basis for
allocating revenues and expenses to segments. Such changes can have a significant
impact on the segment information reported but will not change aggregate financial
information reported for the enterprise. To enable users to understand the impact of such
changes, this Standard requires the disclosure of the nature of the change and the
financial effect of the change, if reasonably determinable.
58. An enterprise should indicate the types of products and services included in
each reported business segment and indicate the composition of each reported
geographical segment, both primary and secondary, if not otherwise disclosed in the
financial statements.
59. To assess the impact of such matters as shifts in demand, changes in the prices of
inputs or other factors of production, and the development of alternative products and
processes on a business segment, it is necessary to know the activities encompassed by
that segment. Similarly, to assess the impact of changes in the economic and political
environment on the risks and returns of a geographical segment, it is important to know
the composition of that geographical segment.
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Illustration I
Segment Definition Decision Tree
The purpose of this illustration is to illustrate the application of paragraphs 24-32 of the
Accounting Standard.
Do the segments reflected in the management reporting system meet the requisite
definitions of business or geographical segments in para 5 (para 24)
Yes

No

Use the segments reported to the board of
directors and CEO as business segments
of geographical segment (para 20)

Do some management reporting segments
meet the definitions in para 5 (para 20)
No

Yes
Those segments
may be reportable
segments

For those segments that do not meet the definitions, go to the next
lower level of internal segmentation that reports information along
product/service lines or geographical lines (para 25)

Does the segment exceed the quantitative thresholds (para 27)
Yes

No

This segment is a reportable segment

a. This segment may be separately reported despite its size.
b. If not separately reported, it is unallocated reconciling item (para 28)

No

Does total segment external revenue exceed
75% of total enterprise revenue (para 29)

Identify additional segments until 75%
threshold is reached (para 29)

Illustration II
Illustration on Determination of Reportable Segments [Paragraphs 27-29]
This illustration does not form part of the Accounting Standard. Its purpose is to illustrate
the application of paragraphs27-29 of the Accounting Standard.
An enterprise operates through eight segments, namely, A, B, C, D, E, F, G and H. The
relevant information about these segments is given in the following table (amounts in
`’000):
A
1.

B

C

D

E

F

G

Total
Total
(Segments) (Enterprise)

H

SEGMENT REVENUE
(a) External Sales

-

255

15

10

15

50

20

35

400

(b) Inter-segment
Sales

100

60

30

5

-

-

5

-

200
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(c) Total Revenue
2. Total Revenue of each

100

315

45

15

15

50

25

35

16.7

52.5

7.5

2.5

2.5

8.3

4.2

5.8

5

(90)

15

(5)

8

(5)

5

7

5

7

600

400

segment as a percentage
of total revenue of all
segments
3.SEGMENT RESULT
[Profit/(Loss)]
4. Combined Result of

5

15

8

40

all Segments in profits
5. Combined Result of

(90)

(5)

(5)

(100)

all Segments in loss
6. Segment Result as a

5

90

15

5

8

5

5

7

7.SEGMENT ASSETS

15

47

5

11

3

5

5

9

8. Segment assets as a

15

47

5

11

3

5

5

9

percentage of the greater
of the totals arrived at
4 and 5 above in absolute
amount (i.e., 100)
100

percentage of total assets
of all segments

The reportable segments of the enterprise will be identified as below:
(a) In accordance with paragraph 27(a), segments whose total revenue from external
sales and inter-segment sales is10% or more of the total revenue of all segments, external
and internal, should be identified as reportable segments. Therefore, Segments A and B
are reportable segments.
(b) As per the requirements of paragraph 27(b), it is to be first identified whether the
combined result of all segments in profit or the combined result of all segments in loss is
greater in absolute amount. From the table, it is evident that combined result in loss (i.e.,
`100,000) is greater. Therefore, the individual segment result as a percentage of
` 100,000 needs to be examined. In accordance with paragraph 27(b), Segments B and C
are reportable segments as their segment result is more than the threshold limit of 10%.
(c) Segments A, B and D are reportable segments as per paragraph 27(c), as their
segment assets are more than 10% of the total segment assets.Thus, Segments A, B, C
and D are reportable segments in terms of the criteria laid down in paragraph 27.
Paragraph 28 of the Standard gives an option to the management of the enterprise to
designate any segment as a reportable segment. In the given case, it is presumed that the
management decides to designate Segment E as a reportable segment.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

III-104 Accounting Pronouncements
Paragraph 29 requires that if total external revenue attributable to
identified as aforesaid constitutes less than 75% of the total
additional segments should be identified as reportable segments
meet the 10% thresholds in paragraph 27, until at least 75% of total
included in reportable segments.

reportable segments
enterprise revenue,
even if they do not
enterprise revenue is

The total external revenue of Segments A, B, C, D and E, identified above as reportable
segments, is ` 295,000. This is less than 75% of total enterprise revenue of ` 400,000. The
management of the enterprise is required to designate any one or more of the remaining
segments as reportable segment(s) so that the external revenue of reportable segments is
at least 75% of the total enterprise revenue. Suppose, the management designates
Segment H for this purpose. Now the external revenue of reportable segments is more
than 75% of the total enterprise revenue.
Segments A, B, C, D, E and H are reportable segments. Segments F and G will be shown as
reconciling items.
Illustration III
Illustrative Segment Disclosures
This illustration does not form part of the Accounting Standard. Its purpose is to illustrate
the application of paragraphs 38-59 of the Accounting Standard.
This illustration illustrates the segment disclosures that this Standard would require for a
diversified multi-locational business enterprise. This example is intentionally complex to
illustrate most of the provisions of this Standard.
INFORMATION ABOUT BUSINESS SEGMENTS (NOTE XX)
(ALL AMOUNTS IN ` LAKHS)
Paper Products Office Products

Publishing

Other
Operations

Eliminations

Consolidated
Total

Current Previous Current Previous Current Previous Current Previous Current Previous Current Previous
Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

External sales

55

50

20

17

19

16

7

7

Inter-segment
sales

15

10

10

14

2

4

2

2

(29)

(30)

Total Revenue

70

60

30

31

21

20

9

9

(29)

(30)

101

90

20

17

9

7

2

1

0

0

(1)

(1)

30

24

Unallocated
corporate expenses

(7)

(9)

Operating profit

23

15

Interest expense

(4)

(4)

REVENUE

RESULT
Segment result

Interest income

2

3

Income taxes

(7)

(4)

Profit from ordinary

14

10
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activities
(3)

Extraordinary
loss:

(3)

uninsured
earthquake
damage to
factory
Net profit

14

7

108

99

35

30

143

129

42

35

40

55

82

90

OTHER
INFORMATION
Segment assets

54

50

34

30

10

10

10

9

Unallocated
Corporate
assets
Total assets
Segment

25

15

8

11

8

8

1

1

liabilities
Unallocated
liabilities
Total liabilities
Capital

12

10

3

5

5

Depreciation

9

7

9

7

5

Non-cash

8

2

7

3

2

4

3

3

3

4

2

2

1

expenditure

expenses other
than

Note xx-Business and Geographical Segments (amounts in ` lakhs)
Business segments: For management purposes, the Company is organised on a worldwide
basis into three major operating divisions-paper products, office products and publishing
— each headed by a senior vice president. The divisions are the basis on which the
company reports its primary segment information. The paper products segment produces
a broad range of writing and publishing papers and newsprint. The office products
segment manufactures labels, binders, pens, and markers and also distributes office
products made by others. The publishing segment develops and sells books in the fields
of taxation, law and accounting. Other operations include development of computer
software for standard and specialised business applications. Financial information about
business segments is presented in the above table (from page 314 to page 317).
Geographical segments: Although the Company’s major operating divisions are managed
on a worldwide basis, they operate in four principal geographical areas of the world. In
India, its home country, the Company produces and sells a broad range of papers and
office products. Additionally, all of the Company’s publishing and computer software
development operations are conducted in India. In the European Union, the Company
operates paper and office products manufacturing facilities and sales offices in the
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following countries: France, Belgium, Germany and the U.K. Operations in Canada and the
United States are essentially similar and consist of manufacturing papers and newsprint
that are sold entirely within those two countries. Operations in Indonesia include the
production of paper pulp and the manufacture of writing and publishing papers and
office products, almost all of which is sold outside Indonesia, both to other segments of
the company and to external customers.
Sales by market: The following table shows the distribution of the Company’s
consolidated sales by geographical market, regardless of where the goods were
produced:

India
European Union
Canada and the United States
Mexico and South America
Southeast Asia (principally Japan and
Taiwan)

Sales Revenue by
Geographical Market
Current Year
Previous Year
19
22
30
31
28
21
6
2
18
14

101
90
Assets and additions to tangible and intangible fixed assets by geographical area: The
following table shows the carrying amount of segment assets and additions to tangible
and intangible fixed assets by geographical area in which the assets are located:
Carrying Amount
of Segment Assets

Additions to Fixed
Assets and
Intangible Assets

Current

Previous

Current

Previous

India

72

78

8

5

Canada and the United States

34

20

4

3

Year

European Union
Indonesia

47
22
175

Year
37
20
155

Year
5
7
24

Year
4
6
18

Segment revenue and expense: In India, paper and office products are manufactured in
combined facilities and are sold by a combined sales force. Joint revenues and expenses
are allocated to the two business segments on a reasonable basis. All other segment
revenue and expense are directly attributable to the segments.
Segment assets and liabilities: Segment assets include all operating assets used by a
segment and consist principally of operating cash, debtors, inventories and fixed assets,
net of allowances and provisions which are reported as direct offsets in the balance
sheet. While most such assets can be directly attributed to individual segments, the
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carrying amount of certain assets used jointly by two or more segments is allocated to
the segments on a reasonable basis. Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities
and consist principally of creditors and accrued liabilities. Segment assets and liabilities
do not include deferred income taxes.
Inter-segment transfers: Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment result include
transfers between business segments and between geographical segments. Such
transfers are accounted for at competitive market prices charged to unaffiliated
customers for similar goods. Those transfers are eliminated in consolidation.
Unusual item: Sales of office products to external customers in the current year were
adversely affected by a lengthy strike of transportation workers in India, which
interrupted product shipments for approximately four months. The Company estimates
that sales of office products during the four-month period were approximately half of
what they would otherwise have been.
Extraordinary loss: As more fully discussed in Note x, the Company incurred an uninsured
loss of ` 3,00,000 caused by earthquake damage to a paper mill in India during the
previous year.
Illustration IV
Summary of Required Disclosure
This illustration does not form part of the Accounting Standard. Its purpose is to summarise the
disclosures required by paragraphs 38-59 for each of the three possible primary segment
reporting formats.
Figures in parentheses refer to paragraph numbers of the relevant paragraphs in the text.
PRIMARY FORMAT IS
BUSINESS SEGMENTS

PRIMARY FORMAT IS
GEOGRAPHICAL
SEGMENTS
BY
LOCATION OF ASSETS

PRIMARY FORMAT IS
GEOGRAPHICAL
SEGMENTS
BY
LOCATION
OF
CUSTOMERS

Required Primary
Disclosures

Required Primary
Disclosures

Required Primary
Disclosures

Revenue from external
customers by business
segment [40(a)]

Revenue from external Revenue from external
customers by location of customers by location of
assets [40(a)]
customers [40(a)]

Revenue
from
transactions with other
segments by business
segment [40(a)]

Revenue
from
transactions with other
segments by location of
assets [40(a)]

Revenue
from
transactions with other
segments by location of
customers [40(a)]

Segment
business
[40(b)]

result by
segment

Segment result by
location of assets
[40(b)]

Segment
result
by
location of customers
[40(b)]

Carrying

amount

Carrying amount of

Carrying

of
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segment
business
[40(c)]

assets
by
segment

segment assets by
location of assets
[40(c)]

segment
assets
by
location of customers
[40(c)]

Segment liabilities by
business segment [40(d)]

Segment liabilities by
location of assets
[40(d)]

Segment liabilities by
location of customers
[40(d)]

Cost to acquire tangible
and intangible fixed assets
by
business
segment
[40(e)]

Cost to acquire tangible
and intangible fixed
assets by location of
assets [40(e)]

Cost to acquire tangible
and
intangible
fixed
assets by location of
customers [40(e)]

Required Primary
Disclosures

Required Primary
Disclosures

Required Primary
Disclosures

Depreciation
and
amortisation expense by
business segment [40(f)]

Depreciation
and
amortisation expense by
location of assets[40(f)]

Depreciation
and
amortisation expense by
location
of
customers[40(f)]

Non-cash expenses other
than depreciation and
amortisation by business
segment [40(g)]

Non-cash
expenses
other than depreciation
and amortisation by
location
of
assets
[40(g)]

Non-cash
expenses
other than depreciation
and
amortisation
by
location of customers
[40(g)]

Reconciliation of revenue,
result,
assets,
and
liabilities by business
segment [46]

Reconciliation
of
revenue, result, assets,
and liabilities [46]

Reconciliation
of
revenue, result, assets,
and liabilities [46]

Required Secondary
Disclosures

Required Secondary
Disclosures

Required Secondary
Disclosures

Revenue from external
customers by location of
customers [48]

Revenue from external
customers by business
segment [49]

Revenue from external
customers by business
segment [49]

Carrying
amount
of
segment
assets
by
location of assets [48]

Carrying amount of
segment
assets
by
business segment [49]

Carrying amount of
segment
assets
by
business segment [49]

Cost to acquire tangible
and
intangible
fixed
assets by location of
assets [48]

Cost to acquire tangible
and
intangible
fixed
assets
by
business
segment [49]

Cost to acquire tangible
and
intangible
fixed
assets
by
business
segment [49]
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Revenue from external
customers
by
geographical customers
if different from location
of assets [50]

PRIMARY FORMAT IS
BUSINESS SEGMENTS

PRIMARY FORMAT IS
GEOGRAPHICAL
SEGMENTS
BY
LOCATION OF ASSETS

PRIMARY FORMAT IS
GEOGRAPHICAL
SEGMENTS
BY
LOCATION
OF
CUSTOMERS

Required Secondary

Required Secondary

Required Secondary

Disclosures

Disclosures

Disclosures
Carrying
amount
of
segment
assets
by
location of assets if
different from location
of customers [51]
Cost to acquire tangible
and
intangible
fixed
assets by location of
assets if different from
location of customers
[51]

Other Required

Other Required

Other Required

Disclosures

Disclosures

Disclosures

Basis of pricing inter- Basis of pricing intersegment transfers and segment transfers and
any change therein [53]
any change therein [53]

Basis of pricing intersegment transfers and
any change therein [53]

Changes
in
segment Changes
in
segment
accounting policies [54]
accounting policies [54]

Changes
in
segment
accounting policies [54]

Types of products and
services in each business
segment [58]

Types of products and
services
in
each
business segment [58]

Types of products and
services
in
each
business segment [58]

Composition
geographical
[58]

Composition of each
geographical segment
[58]

Composition of each
geographical segment
[58]

of each
segment
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AS 22 (issued 2001) – Accounting for Taxes on Income
[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain type, which
have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main principles. This
Accounting Standard should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to the
1

Statements of Accounting Standards and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Various Entities’]
Objective
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe accounting treatment for taxes on income.
Taxes on income is one of the significant items in the statement of profit and loss of an
enterprise. In accordance with the matching concept, taxes on income are accrued in the
same period as the revenue and expenses to which they relate. Matching of such taxes
against revenue for a period poses special problems arising from the fact that in a
number of cases, taxable income may be significantly different from the accounting
income. This divergence between taxable income and accounting income arises due to
two main reasons. Firstly, there are differences between items of revenue and expenses as
appearing in the statement of profit and loss and the items which are considered as
revenue, expenses or deductions for tax purposes. Secondly, there are differences
between the amount in respect of a particular item of revenue or expense as recognised
in the statement of profit and loss and the corresponding amount which is recognised for
the computation of taxable income.
Scope
1. This Standard should be applied in accounting for taxes on income. This
includes the determination of the amount of the expense or saving related to taxes
on income in respect of an accounting period and the disclosure of such an amount
in the financial statements.
2. For the purposes of this Standard, taxes on income include all domestic and foreign
taxes which are based on taxable income.
3. This Standard does not specify when, or how, an enterprise should account for taxes
that are payable on distribution of dividends and other distributions made by the
enterprise.
Definitions
4. For the purpose of this Standard, the following terms are used with the
meanings specified:

1Attention

is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which Accounting
Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material
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4.1 Accounting income (loss) is the net profit or loss for a period, as reported in the
statement of profit and loss, before deducting income tax expense or adding income
tax saving.
4.2 Taxable income (tax loss) is the amount of the income (loss) for a period,
determined in accordance with the tax laws, based upon which income tax payable
(recoverable) is determined.
4.3 Tax expense (tax saving) is the aggregate of current tax and deferred tax
charged or credited to the statement of profit and loss for the period.
4.4 Current tax is the amount of income tax determined to be payable (recoverable)
in respect of the taxable income (tax loss) for a period.
4.5 Deferred tax is the tax effect of timing differences.
4.6 Timing differences are the differences between taxable income and accounting
income for a period that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one
or more subsequent periods.
4.7 Permanent differences are the differences between taxable income and
accounting income for a period that originate in one period and do not reverse
subsequently.
5. Taxable income is calculated in accordance with tax laws. In some circumstances, the
requirements of these laws to compute taxable income differ from the accounting policies
applied to determine accounting income. The effect of this difference is that the taxable
income and accounting income may not be the same.
6. The differences between taxable income and accounting income can be classified
into permanent differences and timing differences. Permanent differences are those
differences between taxable income and accounting income which originate in one
period and do not reverse subsequently. For instance, if for the purpose of computing
taxable income, the tax laws allow only a part of an item of expenditure, the disallowed
amount would result in a permanent difference.
7. Timing differences are those differences between taxable income and accounting
income for a period that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one or
more subsequent periods. Timing differences arise because the period in which some
items of revenue and expenses are included in taxable income do not coincide with the
period in which such items of revenue and expenses are included or considered in
arriving at accounting income. For example, machinery purchased for scientific research
related to business is fully allowed as deduction in the first year for tax purposes whereas
the same would be charged to the statement of profit and loss as depreciation over its
useful life. The total depreciation charged on the machinery for accounting purposes and
the amount allowed as deduction for tax purposes will ultimately be the same, but
periods over which the depreciation is charged and the deduction is allowed will differ.
Another example of timing difference is a situation where, for the purpose of computing
taxable income, tax laws allow depreciation on the basis of the written down value
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method, whereas for accounting purposes, straight line method is used. Some other
examples of timing differences arising under the Indian tax laws are given in Illustration 1.
8. Unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward of losses which can be set- off against
future taxable income are also considered as timing differences and result in deferred tax
assets, subject to consideration of prudence (see paragraphs 15-18).
Recognition
9. Tax expense for the period, comprising current tax and deferred tax, should be
included in the determination of the net profit or loss for the period.
10. Taxes on income are considered to be an expense incurred by the enterprise in
earning income and are accrued in the same period as the revenue and expenses to
which they relate. Such matching may result into timing differences. The tax effects of
timing differences are included in the tax expense in the statement of profit and loss and
as deferred tax assets (subject to the consideration of prudence as set out in paragraphs
15-18) or as deferred tax liabilities, in the balance sheet.
11. An example of tax effect of a timing difference that results in a deferred tax asset is
an expense provided in the statement of profit and loss but not allowed as a deduction
under Section 43B of the Income-tax Act, 1961. This timing difference will reverse when
the deduction of that expense is allowed under Section 43B in subsequent year(s). An
example of tax effect of a timing difference resulting in a deferred tax liability is the
higher charge of depreciation allowable under the Income-tax Act, 1961, compared to the
depreciation provided in the statement of profit and loss. In subsequent years, the
differential will reverse when comparatively lower depreciation will be allowed for tax
purposes.
12. Permanent differences do not result in deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities.
13. Deferred tax should be recognised for all the timing differences, subject to the
consideration of prudence in respect of deferred tax assets as set out in paragraphs
15-18.
Explanation:
(a) The deferred tax in respect of timing differences which reverse during the
tax holiday period is not recognised to the extent the enterprise’s gross
total income is subject to the deduction during the tax holiday period as per
the requirements of sections 80- IA/80IB of the Income-tax Act, 1961
(hereinafter referred to as the ‘Act’). In case of sections 10A/10B of the Act
(covered under Chapter III of the Act dealing with incomes which do not
form part of total income), the deferred tax in respect of timing differences
which reverse during the tax holiday period is not recognised to the extent
deduction from the total income of an enterprise is allowed during the tax
holiday period as per the provisions of the said sections.
(b) Deferred tax in respect of timing differences which reverse after the tax
holiday period is recognised in the year in which the timing differences
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originate. However, recognition of deferred tax assets is subject to the
consideration of prudence as laid down in paragraphs 15 to 18.
(c) For the above purposes, the timing differences which originate first are
considered to reverse first.
The application of the above explaination is illustrated in the Illustration attached
to the Standard.
14. This Standard requires recognition of deferred tax for all the timing differences. This
is based on the principle that the financial statements for a period should recognise the
tax effect, whether current or deferred, of all the transactions occurring in that period.
15. Except in the situations stated in paragraph 17, deferred tax assets should be
recognised and carried forward only to the extent that there is a reasonable
certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such
deferred tax assets can be realised.
16. While recognising the tax effect of timing differences, consideration of prudence
cannot be ignored. Therefore, deferred tax assets are recognised and carried forward only
to the extent that there is a reasonable certainty of their realisation. This reasonable level
of certainty would normally be achieved by examining the past record of the enterprise
and by making realistic estimates of profits for the future.
17. Where an enterprise has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of losses
under tax laws, deferred tax assets should be recognised only to the extent that
there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidencethat sufficient future
taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be
realised.
Explanation:
1.

Determination of virtual certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be
available is a matter of judgement based on convincing evidence and will have
to be evaluated on a case to case basis. Virtual certainty refers to the extent of
certainty, which, for all practical purposes, can be considered certain. Virtual
certainty cannot be based merely on forecasts of performance such as business
plans. Virtual certainty is not a matter of perception and is to be supported by
convincing evidence. Evidence is a matter of fact. To be convincing, the
evidence should be available at the reporting date in a concrete form, for
example, a profitable binding export order, cancellation of which will result in
payment of heavy damages by the defaulting party. On the other hand, a
projection of the future profits made by an enterprise based on the future
capital expenditures or future restructuring etc. submitted even to an outside
agency, e.g., to a credit agency for obtaining loans and accepted by that agency
cannot, in isolation, be considered as convincing evidence.

2

(a) As per the relevant provisions of the Income-tax Act, 1961 (here in after
referred to as the ‘Act’), the ‘loss’ arising under the head ‘Capital gains’ can be
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carried forward and set-off in future years, only against the income arising
under that head as per the requirements of the Act.
(b) Where an enterprise’s statement of profit and loss includes an item of ‘loss’
which can be set-off in future for taxation purposes, only against the
income arising under the head ‘Capital gains’ as per the requirements of
the Act, that item is a timing difference to the extent it is not set-off in the
current year and is allowed to be set-off against the income arising under
the head ‘Capital gains’ in subsequent years subject to the provisions of the
Act. In respect of such ‘loss’, deferred tax asset is recognised and carried
forward subject to the consideration of prudence. Accordingly, in respect of
such ‘loss’, deferred tax asset is recognised and carried forward only to the
extent that there is a virtual certainty, supported by convincing evidence,
that sufficient future taxable income will be available under the head
‘Capital gains’ against which the loss can be set-off as per the provisions of
the Act. Whether the test of virtual certainty is fulfilled or not would
depend on the facts and circumstances of each case. The examples of
situations in which the test of virtual certainty, supported by convincing
evidence, for the purposes of the recognition of deferred tax asset in respect
of loss arising under the head ‘Capital gains’ is normally fulfilled, are sale
of an asset giving rise to capital gain (eligible to set-off the capital loss as
per the provisions of the Act) after the balance sheet date but before the
financial statements are approved, and binding sale agreement which will
give rise to capital gain (eligible to set-off the capital loss as per the
provisions of the Act).
(c) In cases where there is a difference between the amounts of ‘loss’
recognised for accounting purposes and tax purposes because of cost
indexation under the Act in respect of long- term capital assets, the
deferred tax asset is recognised and carried forward (subject to the
consideration of prudence) on the amount which can be carried forward
and set-off in future years as per the provisions of the Act.
18. The existence of unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of losses under tax laws is
strong evidence that future taxable income may not be available. Therefore, when an
enterprise has a history of recent losses, the enterprise recognises deferred tax assets
only to the extent that it has timing differences the reversal of which will result in
sufficient income or there is other convincing evidence that sufficient taxable income will
be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. In such circumstances,
the nature of the evidence supporting its recognition is disclosed.
Re-assessment of Unrecognised Deferred Tax Assets
19. At each balance sheet date, an enterprise re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax
assets. The enterprise recognises previously unrecognised deferred tax assets to the
extent that it has become reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be (see
paragraphs 15 to 18), that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which
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such deferred tax assets can be realised. For example, an improvement in trading
conditions may make it reasonably certain that the enterprise will be able to generate
sufficient taxable income in the future.
Measurement
20. Current tax should be measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered
from) the taxation authorities, using the applicable tax rates and tax laws.
21. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should be measured using the tax rates and
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Explanation:
(a) The payment of tax under section 115JB of the Income-tax Act, 1961
(hereinafter referred to as the ‘Act’) is a current tax for the period.
(b) In a period in which a company pays tax under section 115JB of the Act, the
deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of timing differences arising
during the period, tax effect of which is required to be recognised under this
Standard, is measured using the regular tax rates and not the tax rate
under section 115JB of the Act.
(c) In case an enterprise expects that the timing differences arising in the
current period would reverse in a period in which it may pay tax under
section 115JB of the Act, the deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of
timing differences arising during the current period, tax effect of which is
required to be recognised under AS 22, is measured using the regular tax
rates and not the tax rate under section 115JB of the Act.
22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are usually measured using the tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted. However, certain announcements of tax rates and tax laws
by the government may have the substantive effect of actual enactment. In these
circumstances, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using such announced tax
rate and tax laws.
23. When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using average rates.
24. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should not be discounted to their present
value.
25. The reliable determination of deferred tax assets and liabilities on a discounted basis
requires detailed scheduling of the timing of the reversal of each timing difference. In a
number of cases such scheduling is impracticable or highly complex. Therefore, it is
inappropriate to require discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities. To permit, but
not to require, discounting would result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which would
not be comparable between enterprises. Therefore, this Standard does not require or
permit the discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities.
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Review of Deferred Tax Assets
26. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets should be reviewed at each balance
sheet date. An enterprise should write-down the carrying amount of a deferred tax
asset to the extent that it is no longer reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the
case may be (see paragraphs 15 to 18), that sufficient future taxable income will be
available against which deferred tax asset can be realised. Any such write-down
may be reversed to the extent that it becomes reasonably certain or virtually certain,
as the case may be (see paragraphs 15 to 18), that sufficient future taxable income
will be available.
Presentation and Disclosure
27. An enterprise should offset assets and liabilities representing current tax if the
enterprise:
(a) has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and
(b) intends to settle the asset and the liability on a net basis.
28. An enterprise will normally have a legally enforceable right to set off an asset and
liability representing current tax when they relate to income taxes levied under the same
governing taxation laws and the taxation laws permit the enterprise to make or receive a
single net payment.
29. An enterprise should offset deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if:
(a) the enterprise has a legally enforceable right to set off assets against
liabilities representing current tax; and
(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to taxes on
income levied by the same governing taxation laws.
30. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should be distinguished from assets and
liabilities representing current tax for the period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
should be disclosed under a separate heading in the balance sheet of the enterprise,
separately from current assets and current liabilities.
Explanation:
Deferred tax assets (net of the deferred tax liabilities, if any, in accordance with
paragraph 29) is disclosed on the face of the balance sheet separately after the head
‘Investments’ and deferred tax liabilities (net of the deferred tax assets, if any, in
accordance with paragraph 29) is disclosed on the face of the balance sheet
separately after the head ‘Unsecured Loans.’
31. The break-up of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities into major
components of the respective balances should be disclosed in the notes to accounts.
32. The nature of the evidence supporting the recognition of deferred tax assets
should be disclosed, if an enterprise has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of
losses under tax laws.
Transitional Provisions
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33. On the first occasion that the taxes on income are accounted for in accordance
with this Standard the enterprise should recognise, in the financial statements, the
deferred tax balance that has accumulated prior to the adoption of this Standard as
deferred tax asset/liability with a corresponding credit/charge to the revenue
reserves, subject to the consideration of prudence in case of deferred tax assets (see
paragraphs 15-18). The amount so credited/charged to the revenue reserves should
be the same as that which would have resulted if this Standard had been in effect
from the beginning.
34. For the purpose of determining accumulated deferred tax in the period in which this
Standard is applied for the first time, the opening balances of assets and liabilities for
accounting purposes and for tax purposes are compared and the differences, if any, are
determined. The tax effects of these differences, if any, should be recognised as deferred
tax assets or liabilities, if these differences are timing differences. For example, in the
year in which an enterprise adopts this Standard, the opening balance of a fixed asset is `
100 for accounting purposes and ` 60 for tax purposes. The difference is because the
enterprise applies written down value method of depreciation for calculating taxable
income whereas for accounting purposes straight line method is used. This difference will
reverse in future when depreciation for tax purposes will be lower as compared to the
depreciation for accounting purposes. In the above case, assuming that enacted tax rate
for the year is 40% and that there are no other timing differences, deferred tax liability of
` 16 [(` 100 - ` 60) x 40%] would be recognised. Another example is an expenditure that
has already been written off for accounting purposes in the year of its incurrence but is
allowable for tax purposes over a period of time. In this case, the asset representing that
expenditure would have a balance only for tax purposes but not for accounting purposes.
The difference between balance of the asset for tax purposes and the balance (which is
nil) for accounting purposes would be a timing difference which will reverse in future
when this expenditure would be allowed for tax purposes. Therefore, a deferred tax asset
would be recognised in respect of this difference subject to the consideration of
prudence (see paragraphs 15 - 18).
Illustration I
Examples of Timing Differences
Note: This illustration does not form part of the Accounting Standard. The purpose of this
illustration is to assist in clarifying the meaning of the Accounting Standard. The sections
mentioned hereunder are references to sections in the Income-tax Act, 1961, as amended by
the Finance Act, 2001.
1. Expenses debited in the statement of profit and loss for accounting purposes but
allowed for tax purposes in subsequent years, e.g.
(a)

Expenditure of the nature mentioned in section 43B (e.g. taxes, duty, cess, fees,
etc.) accrued in the statement of profit and loss on mercantile basis but allowed
for tax purposes in subsequent years on payment basis.
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(b) Payments to non-residents accrued in the statement of profit and loss on
mercantile basis, but disallowed for tax purposes under section 40(a)(i) and
allowed for tax purposes in subsequent years when relevant tax is deducted or
paid.
(c)

Provisions made in the statement of profit and loss in anticipation of liabilities
where the relevant liabilities are allowed in subsequent years when they
crystallize.

2. Expenses amortized in the books over a period of years but are allowed for tax
purposes wholly in the first year (e.g. substantial advertisement expenses to introduce a
product, etc. treated as deferred revenue expenditure in the books) or if amortization for
tax purposes is over a longer or shorter period (e.g. preliminary expenses under section
35D, expenses incurred for amalgamation under section 35DD, prospecting expenses
under section 35E).
3.

Where book and tax depreciation differ. This could arise due to:
(a)

Differences in depreciation rates.

(b) Differences in method of depreciation e.g. SLM or WDV.
(c)

Differences in method of calculation e.g. calculation of depreciation with
reference to individual assets in the books but on block basis for tax purposes
and calculation with reference to time in the books but on the basis of full or
half depreciation under the block basis for tax purposes.

(d) Differences in composition of actual cost of assets.
4. Where a deduction is allowed in one year for tax purposes on the basis of a deposit
made under a permitted deposit scheme (e.g. tea development account scheme under
section 33AB or site restoration fund scheme under section 33ABA) and expenditure out
of withdrawal from such deposit is debited in the statement of profit and loss in
subsequent years.
5. Income credited to the statement of profit and loss but taxed only in subsequent
years e.g. conversion of capital assets into stock in trade.
6. If for any reason the recognition of income is spread over a number of years in the
accounts but the income is fully taxed in the year of receipt.
Illustration II
Note: This illustration does not form part of the Accounting Standard. Its purpose is to
illustrate the application of the Accounting Standard. Extracts from statement of profit and
loss are provided to show the effects of the transactions described below.
Illustration 1
A company, ABC Ltd., prepares its accounts annually on 31st March. On 1st April, 20x1, it
purchases a machine at a cost of ` 1,50,000. The machine has a useful life of three years
and an expected scrap value of zero. Although it is eligible for a 100% first year
depreciation allowance for tax purposes, the straight-line method is considered
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appropriate for accounting purposes. ABC Ltd. has profits before depreciation and taxes
of ` 2,00,000 each year and the corporate tax rate is 40 per cent each year.
The purchase of machine at a cost of ` 1,50,000 in 20x1 gives rise to a tax saving of `
60,000. If the cost of the machine is spread over three years of its life for accounting
purposes, the amount of the tax saving should also be spread over the same period as
shown below:
Statement of Profit and Loss
(for the three years ending 31st March, 20x1, 20x2, 20x3)
(Rupees in thousands)
Profit before depreciation and taxes
Less: Depreciation for accounting purposes
Profit before taxes

20x1

20x2

20x3

200

200

200

50

50

50

150

150

150

80

80

Less: Tax expense
Current tax
0.40 (200 – 150)

20

0.40 (200)
Deferred tax
Tax effect of timing differences originating during the year
0.40 (150 – 50)

40

Tax effect of timing differences reversing during the year
0.40 (0 – 50)

(20)

(20)

Tax expense

60

60

60

Profit after tax

90

90

90

100

50

0

40

20

0

Net timing differences
Deferred tax liability

In 20x1, the amount of depreciation allowed for tax purposes exceeds the amount of
depreciation charged for accounting purposes by ` 1,00,000 and, therefore, taxable
income is lower than the accounting income. This gives rise to a deferred tax liability of
` 40,000. In 20x2 and 20x3, accounting income is lower than taxable income because the
amount of depreciation charged for accounting purposes exceeds the amount of
depreciation allowed for tax purposes by ` 50,000 each year. Accordingly, deferred tax
liability is reduced by ` 20,000 each in both the years. As may be seen, tax expense is
based on the accounting income of each period.
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In 20x1, the profit and loss account is debited and deferred tax liability account is
credited with the amount of tax on the originating timing difference of ` 1,00,000 while in
each of the following two years, deferred tax liability account is debited and profit and
loss account is credited with the amount of tax on the reversing timing difference of
` 50,000.
The following Journal entries will be passed:
Year 20x1
Profit and Loss A/c

Dr.

20,000

To Current tax A/c

20,000

(Being the amount of taxes payable for the year 20x1 provided for)
Profit and Loss A/c

Dr.

40,000

To Deferred tax A/c

40,000

(Being the deferred tax liability created for originating timing difference of ` 1,00,000)
Year 20x2
Profit and Loss A/c

Dr.

80,000

To Current tax A/c

80,000

(Being the amount of taxes payable for the year 20x2 provided for)
Deferred tax A/c

To Profit and Loss A/c

Dr.

20,000

20,000

(Being the deferred tax liability adjusted for reversing timing difference of ` 50,000)

Year 20x3

Profit and Loss A/c

Dr.

80,000

To Current tax A/c

80,000

(Being the amount of taxes payable for the year 20x3 provided for)
Deferred tax A/c
To Profit and Loss A/c

Dr.

20,000
20,000

(Being the deferred tax liability adjusted for reversing timing difference of ` 50,000)
In year 20x1, the balance of deferred tax account i.e., ` 40,000 would be shown separately
from the current tax payable for the year in terms of paragraph 30 of the Statement. In
Year 20x2, the balance of deferred tax account would be ` 20,000 and be shown
separately from the current tax payable for the year as in year 20x1. In Year 20x3, the
balance of deferred tax liability account would be nil.
Illustration 2
In the above illustration, the corporate tax rate has been assumed to be same in each of
the three years. If the rate of tax changes, it would be necessary for the enterprise to
adjust the amount of deferred tax liability carried forward by applying the tax rate that
has been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date on accumulated
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timing differences at the end of the accounting year (see paragraphs 21 and 22). For
example, if in Illustration 1, the substantively enacted tax rates for 20x1, 20x2 and 20x3
are 40%, 35% and 38% respectively, the amount of deferred tax liability would be
computed as follows:
The deferred tax liability carried forward each year would appear in the balance sheet as
under:
31st March, 20x1 =

0.40 (1,00,000)= ` 40,000

31st March, 20x2 =

0.35 (50,000) = ` 17,500

31st March, 20x3 =

0.38 (Zero)

= ` Zero

Accordingly, the amount debited/(credited) to the profit and loss account (with
corresponding credit or debit to deferred tax liability) for each year would be as under:
31st March, 20x1

Debit

= ` 40,000

31st March, 20x2

(Credit) = ` (22,500)

31st March, 20x3

(Credit) = ` (17,500)

Illustration 3
st

A company, ABC Ltd., prepares its accounts annually on 31 March. The company has
incurred a loss of ` 1,00,000 in the year 20x1 and made profits of ` 50,000 and 60,000 in
year 20x2 and year 20x3 respectively. It is assumed that under the tax laws, loss can be
carried forward for 8 years and tax rate is 40% and at the end of year 20x1, it was virtually
certain, supported by convincing evidence, that the company would have sufficient
taxable income in the future years against which unabsorbed depreciation and carry
forward of losses can be set-off. It is also assumed that there is no difference between
taxable income and accounting income except that set- off of loss is allowed in years
20x2 and 20x3 for tax purposes.
Statement of Profit and Loss
(for the three years ending 31st March, 20x1, 20x2, 20x3)
(Rupees in thousands)

Profit (loss)
Less: Current tax

20x1

20x2

20x3

(100)

50

60

—

—

(4)

(20)

(20)

30

36

Deferred tax:
Tax effect of timing differences originating during the year

40

Tax effect of timing differences reversing during the year
Profit (loss) after tax effect
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Illustration 4
Note: The purpose of this illustration is to assist in clarifying the meaning of the
explanation to paragraph 13 of the Standard.
Facts:
1.

The income before depreciation and tax of an enterprise for 15 years is ` 1000 lakhs per
year, both as per the books of account and for in- come-tax purposes.

2.

The enterprise is subject to 100 percent tax-holiday for the first 10 years under section
80-IA. Tax rate is assumed to be 30 percent.

3.

At the beginning of year 1, the enterprise has purchased one machine for ` 1500 lakhs.
Residual value is assumed to be nil.

4.

For accounting purposes, the enterprise follows an accounting policy to provide
depreciation on the machine over 15 years on straight-line basis.

5.

For tax purposes, the depreciation rate relevant to the machine is 25% on written down
value basis.

The following computations will be made, ignoring the provisions of section 115JB (MAT), in
this regard:
Table 1
Computation of depreciation on the machine for accounting purposes and tax
purposes
(Amounts in ` lakhs)
Year

Depreciation
purposes

for

accounting

Depreciation for tax purposes

1

100

375

2

100

281

3

100

211

4

100

158

5

100

119

6

100

89

7

100

67

8

100

50

9

100

38

10

100

28

11

100

21

12

100

16

13

100

12
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14

100

9

15

100

7

At the end of the 15th year, the carrying amount of the machinery for ac- counting
purposes would be nil whereas for tax purposes, the carrying amount is ` 19 lakhs which
is eligible to be allowed in subsequent years.
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Table 2
Computation of Timing differences

(Amounts in ` lakhs)

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Year

Income
before
depreciation and
tax
(both
for
accounting
purposes and tax
purposes

Accounting
Income after
depreciation

Gross
Total
Income
after
deducting
depreciation
under tax laws)

Deduction
under
section 80IA

Taxable
Income
(4-5)

Total
Difference
between
accounting
income
and
taxable income
(3-6)

Permanent
Difference
(deduction
pursuant
to
section 80-IA)

Timing Difference (due
to different amounts of
depreciation for
accounting purposes
and tax purposes) (O=
originating and R=
Reversing)

1
2
3
4

1000
1000
1000
1000

900
900
900
900

625
719
789
842

625
719
789
842

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

900
900
900
900

625
719
789
842

275 (O)
181 (O)
111 (O)
58 (O)

6

1000

900

911

911

Nil

900

911

11 (R)

5
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15

1000
1000
1000
1000
1000
1000
1000
1000
1000
1000

900
900
900
900
900
900
900
900
900
900

881
933
950
962
972
979
984
988
991
993

881
933
950
962
972
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

979
984
988
991
993

900
900
900
900
900
-79
-84
-88
-91
-93

881
933
950
962
972
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

19(0)

33 (R)
50 (R)
62 (R)
72 (R)
79 (R)
84 (R)
88 (R)
91 (R)
74 (R)
19 (O)
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Notes:
1. Timing differences originating during the tax holiday period are ` 644 lakhs, out of
which ` 228 lakhs are reversing during the tax holiday period and ` 416 lakhs are
reversing after the tax holiday period. Timing difference of ` 19 lakhs is originating in the
15th year which would re- verse in subsequent years when for accounting purposes
depreciation would be nil but for tax purposes the written down value of the machinery
of ` 19 lakhs would be eligible to be allowed as depreciation.
2. As per the Standard, deferred tax on timing differences which reverse during the tax
holiday period should not be recognised. For this purpose, timing differences which
originate first are considered to reverse first. There- fore, the reversal of timing difference
of ` 228 lakhs during the tax holiday period, would be considered to be out of the timing
difference which originated in year 1. The rest of the timing difference originating in year
1 and timing differences originating in years 2 to 5 would be considered to be reversing
after the tax holiday period. Therefore, in year 1, deferred tax would be recognised on the
timing difference of ` 47 lakhs (` 275 lakhs - ` 228 lakhs) which would reverse after the
tax holiday period. Similar computations would be made for the subsequent years. The
deferred tax assets/liabilities to be recognised during different years would be computed
as per the following Table.
Table 3
Computation of current tax and deferred tax
(Amounts in ` lakhs)
Year

1

Current tax (Taxable Deferred tax (Timing Accumulated
Tax
Income x 30%)
difference x 30%)
Deferred
tax
(L= expense
Liability and A = Asset)
Nil

47 × 30%= 14

14 (L)

14

(see note 2 above)
2

Nil

118 × 130%=54

68 (L)

54

3

Nil

111× 30%=33

101 (L)

33

4

Nil

58 × 30%= 17

118 (L)

17

5

Nil

19 × 30%=6

124 (L)

6

6

Nil

Nil 1

124 (L)

Nil

7

Nil

Nil1

124 (L)

Nil

8

Nil

Nil1

124 (L)

Nil

9

Nil

Nil1

124 (L)

Nil

1No

deferred tax is recognised since in respect of timing differences reversing during the tax
holiday period, no deferred tax was recognised at their origination.
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10

Nil

Nil1

124 (L)

Nil

11

294

–79 × 30%=-24

100 (L)

270

12

295

–84 × 30%=-25

75 (L)

270

13

296

–88 × 30%=-26

49 (L)

270

14

297

–91 × 30%=-27

22 (L)

270

15

298

–74 × 30%=-22

Nil

270

–19 × 30%=-6

6(A) 2

2Deferred

tax asset of ` 6 lakhs would be recognised at the end of year 15 subject to consideration
of prudence as per As 22. If it is so recognised, the said deferred tax asset would be realized in
subsequent periods when for tax purposes depreciation would be allowed but for accounting
purposes no depreciation would be recognised.
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